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Through Christian Eyes 5

by David McKay

As a serious Christian | was deeply moved when [ first heard the
story of Gandhi. My feelingwas (and is) that he is one of the truest
Christians to have lived in the past century. But | should add that,
as | seeit, the past century has notbeen a good one for Christians.

Gandhi was right in what he said about the churches of the
West. They have, forthe most part, been hiding behind ateaching
that saysitiswrongtotry to be good. Thisis one of the worst lies
in history. If you look closely, you will see that the churches still
teach people tofollow rules. Butthe rules are theirrules and not
the rules of Jesus. If anyone seriously tries to follow the teachings
of Christ, as Gandhi did with Christ's teaching about not hitting
back, the churches will say that such a personis trying to "work
theirway to heaven". For some strange reason the same churches
that say God will forgive all theirwrong actions, say God will not
forgive someone who tries to "work their way to heaven" by being
good! Forthem, trying to obey Christis the worst thing that anyone
could do, and itis the one thing that will keep you out of heaven!

Itis not surprising that Gandhi was turned off such religion; but
he found some other church teachings more to his liking.

Butas|seeit, the teachings that most interested Gandhi were
more Hindu than Christian. They were teachings about health...
about not eating meat, about not drinking alcohol, and about not
smoking. He also showed a deep interest in things like expensive
church buildings and people praying to statues.

Teachings about health do not come from the teachings of
Christ. Jesus said: "You have many rules about health, but I say
that what goes into your mouth will not make you good or bad.
What makes you good or bad will be what comes out of your
mouth; for your words will tell where your heartis." Gandhi did not
choose to follow this part of the teachings of Jesus.

True Christian teachingis that God does notlive intemples
orinidols, buthe livesinthe hearts of people who love and obey
him. Jesus was killed because the religious leaders of his day
believed that he was going to destroy their temple.
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Gandhi believed strongly in following his parents. This was
good. ButJesus said that to find real truth, we must be willing to
"hate" the ways of our parents when God shows us something
better. Itis easy to see that the ways of his parents stopped
Gandhifrom following many of the teachings of Jesus.

Jesus was very clear about fasting and praying too. He said
that we should do these things in secret. He knew thatif people
heard about our prayers and our fastings, they would praise us
instead of praising God. Letting people know that we are praying
orthat we are fasting is a way to look humble at the same time
thatwe are, in God's eyes, robbing the praise that people should
be giving to him, and taking it for ourselves. This was another
teaching of Jesus that Gandhi did not choose to follow.

Jesus did teach that adultery was wrong; but he did not go so
far as Gandhiinteaching that sex between married people was
wrong. Gandhi never seemed to question his life long war
against his need for sex, and he seemed attimes to think that sex
sins were worse than other sins.

There were a few times when Jesus talked to important
people, butit was mostly when they were arguing against him or
sending him to be killed. His friends were the poor, the sick, the
sinners. He did not move inimportant circles and he did not come
from animportant family. He did not need big names to force
people tolistento him. The truth in what he said was enough.
Gandhiwas not completely opposite to Christin these things; but
he did spend a lot of time trying to meet important people.

Jesus said that his kingdom was not of this world. He did not
try to start a new government or change the old, apart from the
changesthat happened when the hearts of people were changed.
Jesus died with only afew friends who were almost as hated as
he was.

Gandhi halffollowed Jesus in thistoo. He could have been the
leader of the new Indian government, but he did not choose to be
that. His strength was spiritual and he knew it. Yet he is still
remembered most today for forcing the English government out
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of India and for helping India to stand on its own. Indians today
call Gandhithe Father of their country because of it. Good or
bad, right or wrong, we must say that forcing the English
government out of India (or forcing the Roman government out of
Israel atthe time that he lived) would not have been importantin
the thinking of Jesus. And if we were to look down on earth from
the eyes of God fifty or a hundred years after Gandhi, would it
really make that much difference? India has been freed from
Britain, but hasitbeen freed from greedy leaders? It could be
argued that the leaders now are even worse!

But you may ask, "If Gandhi was so very far away from the
teachings of Christ, how can you say that he is one of the best
Christians who has lived on earth in the last century?"

| say it because Gandhi did try to follow some of the teachings
of Christ. And he tried to teach others to do the same. As | said
at the start, this has not been a good century for Christians. I do
not know of anyone in the churches who is seriously trying to
follow any of the teachings of Christ. They will follow other Bible
writers or church leaders. Butthey will not follow Christ.

Gandhi saw some of Christ's teachings that he liked, and he
tried to follow them. It was not easy. Like Tolstoy before him, he
saw that those few teachings started to change everything
around him. Gandhi's "experiments" with a few teachings of
Christchanged India. Through people like Martin Luther King
and Lech Walesa they have changed countries like America and
Poland too.

If that much could happen because one man followed some of
the teachings of Christ, what could happen if one of us (any of us)
tried to follow all of the teachings of the One that so many people
sayis God's Son?

Yes, Gandhiwas one of the best Christians of the last century.
But as he said himself, even a child could do what he did... and
more. | do notbelieve Gandhiis happy with all the people who
praise him, but who do not try to build on his experiments with
truth, to move closer to Perfect Truth.



Opening Words

Four or five years ago, after being encouraged to do so by
some of my closest friends who were working with me at the
time, | agreed to write my life story. | started; butimportant
problems stopped me from finishing. The problems ended
with mein prison. Afriend who was a prisoner with me at the
time asked me to finish my life story there in the prison. | had
other studies that | wanted to do first, but my plan was to finish
this book in my last year there. Asithappened, | was freed
from prison with one year left to go of my time, and the book
never was finished.

Now | have been asked again to finish this. | do not have
the time to write it all at one time; but | have agreed to write
a little each week for a newspaper, and all of these writings
together can become my life story.

After | agreedto do this, a God-fearing friend questioned
my plan. He said, "What has made you agree to write your life
story? Itisonly people from the West who do that. The only
people from the East who write their life stories are people
who have been pushed into doing it by their friends from the
West.

"What if you change your thinking in the future? Can'tyou
see that people who shape their lives on what you have said
ina book like this would then be following the wrong things?
Don't you think it would be better to wait until you are more
confident that you have the right answers?"

This argument had some effecton me. Butldo notplanto
tell my life story in the way that most people do. | want only
to tell of my experiments with truth. It is true that the
experiments, puttogether in one book, will become my life
story. But | believe that my experiments can be of help to
people even if the experiments themselves do not give all the
answers.
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Even now much of the world knows about my political
experiments. These experiments and the name 'Mahatma'
thatthey gave to me because of them, do notinterest me as
much as my spiritual experiments. But without this book, the
world will never know of these spiritual experiments... the
ones that gave me the strength to experiment with political
changesinthe firstplace.

And because | will be writing about spiritual experiments,
they do not leave room for me to say good things about
myself. For each step shows only where | was wrong, and
how I needed to learn more.

What | have been wanting to do for thirty years now is to
see God face to face, to become all that he wants me to be.
Thisis my whole life. All of my words and actions pointin this
onedirection.

But, because | believe that others can do what | have been
doing, | do not want to carry out my experiments secretly.
There are some things that are between me and God, and |
could never putthem into words. Butthere are other things
that can be put into words, and that is what | want to write
aboutin my life story.

When it comes to my faith, | will try to tell only of those
things that children should be able to understand. If I cantell
them with an honest and humble spirit, then others can learn
fromthem and use themin their own experiments with truth.

| can never say that | have Perfect Truth. | can say no more
than what the best scientist can say, and thatis to tell what |
have learned and to pass that on for others to think about, and
toaddto. I have tried to be honest and to understand myself.
Fromthis | have arrived at beliefs that | now think are perfectly
true for me. If1did not believe they were true, | would not be
doing the things thatI now do. Butalong the way, | have been
forced to make changes; and so | cannot stop others from
doing the same with what | now believe.
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If | were only going to write about rules for right living, | would
not need to write my life story. But | want to write about how |
have used and experimented with these rules. From that grows
my life story. | will be writing about experiments with parts of the
truth, like experiments with not hitting back when others hurt
you, or experiments with controlling the desire for sex. Butreal
truth is much bigger than these experiments. Truthis notjustin
what we say, butin what we think; and more than that, itis God
Himself... Eternal Truth.

There are many ways of saying who God is, because there
are many ways that God shows himself to us. But the part of
God that | want to give my life to more than anything is Truth. |
do not know him perfectly, but | want to know him more than
anything. I wantto be willing to even give him my life if thatis
the price | must pay to find Perfect Truth.

But until | find Perfect Truth, I must hold to the little parts of
truth that I have received up to this point. These truths are the
lightthatleads me to God, and they are all that protect me from
falling away.

Finding truth in this way (thatis, by following what little truth
I have until | find something better) is the fastest and easiest
way | know of to find Perfect Truth. Even when I have been very
wrong in my understanding of truth, it has not been important
soon after | have learned the truth of how wrong | was. The
reason for this is because each experiment brings me closer to
Perfect Truth.

Aslwalkinthelightthat | have, the light grows. Often | have
been able to get a little look at Perfect Truth, alittle look at God;
and each day my belief grows that God alone is real, and
everything apart from himis notreal at all.

I want others to travel with me through these experiments. |
want others to feel the same faith that has come from them.

Another belief grows in me each day, and thatis that what |
have been doing to find truth, any child can do. | have good
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reason for saying this, for what it takes to find truth is as easy
asitis difficult. What a proud person sees as being difficult, a
humble child will see as being very easy. The one who wants
to know the truth must be more humble than dirt. Hindu,
Christian, and Muslim teachings all agree with me on this.

If readers see pride in what | write, then they must understand
that the same pride will steer me away from the truth; and even
my belief that | can see God will be a trick by my own mind. The
truthis far more importantthan me, and itis better for hundreds
like myselfto be destroyed thanitis for us to lose truth by trying
to make Mohandas K. Gandhilook good. Intrying to see good
in people like myself, who are not perfect, we must not make the
smallest change to truth.

| pray that no one will think that what | am saying in this book
is finished or perfect. Alllamtelling you aboutis my experiments.
You too must experiment. | believe that reading about my
experiments can be of some help to you in your own experiments.

| will try not to hide the ugliest truths about myself. | want
readers to know how wrong | have been. | want to write about
my experiments, and not just try to say how good | am. | want
tobe as honest as truth itselfisin judging me; and | want others
todothe same. When I measure myselfinthatway, lamforced
to say with Surdas:

Where is there a person so bad, and so easy to hate, as
myself? | have left my Maker and have been so much
without faith.

Itis a pain without end to me that | am still so far from God,
when | know that he made me and controls every part of my life.
I know itis the wrong feelings in myself that keep me so far from
God, and yet, up to this point, | have not been able to get
completely away from them.

M. K. Gandhi,

26 November, 1925
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Part 1.
Gandhi as a Child
and
Gandhi as a Student
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1. Birth and Parents

My uncle, my father, and my father's father were all First
Ministers of Indian states.

| like to tell this story about my father's father, Ota
Gandhi, because it shows his strong love for his state and
for his people. Because of fighting that was going onin his
state of Porbandar, Ota Gandhi had been forced to hide in
adifferent state. He lifted his left hand when saying hello
to aleader from this new state, and someone asked him
why he used his left hand and not his right hand to do this.
Ota Gandhi said, "Because my right hand is promised to
Porbandar."

Ota Gandhi had six sons. The lasttwo were Kaba and
Tulsidas. Both of these brothers were First Ministers in
Porbandar, one after the other. Kaba Gandhi was my
father. He was for some time First Minister in Rajkot, and
then in Vankaner. | was the youngest of his three sons.

My father loved his people, and he was honest, brave,
and generous. But he could quickly become angry. In his
family, asin government, people knew he would act equally
toward all. No one could buy him. He was not interested
in becoming rich, and because of this, he did not leave us
with very much wealth.

My father did not go to school, but he learned much, and
he was able to learn it quickly, from the world around him.
He was able to find answers to the most difficult problems,
and he was able to lead hundreds of workers by using only
what he had learned from life. He did not study religion,
but he remembered much that he had learned from going
to the Hindu temples and from listening to others talk
about the Hindu religion. In his last days he started
reading the Gita, and each day at the time of prayer, he
would say out loud some of the teachings from the Gita.
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I rememberthat my mother was a very spiritual person.
She would not eat without praying first. Each day she would
go to the temple. As far as | can remember she always
followed the rules about fasting for the four months of rain
each year. On top of that, she would make very difficult
promises and never break them.

| remember one year when she was doing a special fast
measured by the size of the moon. She became sick, but she
would not stop the fast. Attimes she would go from one fast
to another without a break. Most of the time she would eat
only one meal a day for the four month fast. Butone year she
said she would eat only one meal every two days, and she
did.

Another time when she was eating only one meal a day,
she said that she would not eat her meal without first seeing
the sun. When the rains are very bad, there are whole days
when you cannot see the sun atall. We children would stand
looking up at the sky, waiting to tell our mother if the sun came
out from behind the clouds. Iremembertimes when we would
runto tell herthat the sun was out; but by the time she was
outthere to see it with her own eyes, it would be behind the
clouds again.

"Itis notimportant," she would say happily. "God did not
wantme to eattoday." Andthen she would returnto her work.

My mother was very smartin many ways. Women in the
government looked up to her because of her smartness. |
would often go with her when she went to talk with women
who were married to the government leaders, and I remember
many of the interesting talks that she had with them.

| was born at Porbandar on 2 October, 1869, and lived
there as a child. | remember starting school; but | must not
have been a very good student, for all | can remember of my
earliest studies was that | was forced to call my teachers by
special names.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 1

1. Who was Gandhi talking about when he said "No one
could buy him. He was notinterested in becoming rich,
and because of this, he did not leave us with very much
wealth."

2. True or false: Gandhi's father was well educated.

3. What did Kaba Gandhi startreading in his last days?
4. What did Gandhi's mother do to show her love for, and
faith in, God, that seemed to have the strongest effect on

him?

5. Inwhat year was Gandhi born?
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2. School Days

I think | was seven years old when my father left
Porbandar for Rajkot. | can remember my school and my
teachersin Rajkot very well. But again, | do notremember
much about the studies themselves. I don'tthink | was a
special student. But | cannotremember evertelling alie
to my teachers or to my friends in those early school
days.

From this school  wentto another school, and then to
the high school when | was twelve years old. | remember
that | was very shy. | would arrive at school at the very
minute that classes were to start each day, and then |
would run out of the school when classes ended. This
was because | was afraid to talk to anyone, and because
| was afraid that others would laugh at me.

Iremember something that happened in my first year
at high school. The School Official had come to the
school, and he wanted to test the class on five spelling
words. One of the words was "kettle" and | did not know
how to spell it. My teacher, who wanted to look goodin
the eyes of the School Official, pushed me with the toe of
his shoe, encouraging me cheat, by looking at the student
beside me to see how the word should be spelled. | could
not believe that ateacher would encourage a student to
do whatthe teacher should be there to stop students from
doing, and so | did not follow his lead. Because | was too
"stupid" to cheat, | was the only studentin the class to
spell the word wrongly.

Strangely, this action on the part of the teacher did not
stop me from thinking very highly of him. It was easy for
me to think the best about those who were older than me.
I had learned that it was my job to obey leaders and not
to question them.
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Two other things happened at this time that | have
alwaysremembered.

As arule, | hated reading. | would, without enthusiasm,
read what was needed for my studies, but nothing more.
But something made me take an interest in a story that
my father had in his books. It was the story of Shravana's
love for his parents. | could not putitdown. About the
same time, some travelling actors came to our place, and
they acted out the part where Shravana carries his blind
parents on atrip. The story from my father's book, and
asongthatllearned fromthe actors stayed in my mind.

"You must be like this," | said to myself. The sad cry of
the parents over Shravana when he died is still strongin
my mind. The song moved me deeply, and | learned to
play iton a musical instrument that | had.

About this same time | went to see another group of
actors. The story they were acting out this time was
Harishchandra, and it too moved me very deeply. | could
never be tired of seeingit. | must have acted itoutin my
own mind many many times. "Why isn't everyone honest
like Harishchandra?" | would ask myself day and night.
The story made me want to follow truth at all costs as
Harishchandra did. Just thinking about it would often
make me cry.

My mind tells me today that Harishchandra was not a
real person. But Harishchandra and Shravana are very
real and very much alive for me, and | believe that even
today | would be moved as | was then on reading or
seeing those stories again.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 2.

1. What did Gandhi say that he could never remember
doingin his early school days?

2. Why did Gandhi run home from school as soon as his
classes finished?

3. What did one teacher encourage Gandhi to do, that
Gandhiwould not do, because he believed it was wrong?

4. What did Shravanadoin a story that Gandhi remembered
deeply?

5. What did the story of Harishchandra make Gandhi want
todo?
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3. Married Children

| would like to jump over this part of my story, butitis one
of many that | will have to coverif | amto give an honest
picture of my life. | must say here that | was married when
| was thirteen years old. | believe it was wrong, and | can
see no good argument for anyone being married so young.

Understand that | am not saying that my parents made an
agreement when | was thirteen for me to marry at alater time.
| am saying that | was fully married at this age. Parentsin
India often make agreements between themselves that a boy
and girl will marry years later. Butthese agreements can be
dropped. |think my parents did this three times for me by the
time lwas seven. The firsttwo girls died, and the lastis the
one that I married when | was thirteen.

Remember that | had two other brothers. My oldest
brother was married by this time, but my parents agreed
with an uncle that his son, who was about one year older
than me, my second brother, who was two or three years
olderthan me, and | would all be married at the same time.
They were not thinking about what we wanted or what
would be best forus. It was all a question of money.

Itis not easy to be married as a Hindu. The parents often
spend all they have forit. They waste their wealth and their
time on all the plans. Months of work go into making special
clothes, special food, and all that goes with getting married
in India. The girl's parents and the boy's parents race with
each other to see who can spend more money and time on
it. Women (Some who cannot sing at all!) sing themselves
sick, and make life difficult for all who live near them.

But the people living near the families of those who are
getting married, quietly put up with all the noise, all the
comings and goings, and all the cleaning up that is needed
when the wedding is finished, because they know thatin a
year or two it will be their turn to act just as stupidly.
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So my parents and my uncle were thinking that it would be
betterto getitall over with in one hit. They could make a bigger
show for less money if they put it all into one wedding and not
into three separate weddings. My father and uncle were both
old, and we were the last of their children.

It was only in the business of planning for the wedding that
we learned of our partinitall. 1think for myself it was little more
than food, music, new clothes, a walk down the road, and a
strange girlto play with. The physical side of being married did
not hit me until later. 1 will pull a curtain over much of this, apart
from afew things that I will get to later. For the most part, this
has little to do with my real reason in writing this story.

My brother and | moved to Porbandar from Rajkot for the
wedding, but my father was not free to come until a few days
before we were married. On his way there, the coach turned
over and he was badly hurt. He arrived covered in bandages.
Both his interest and our interest in the wedding was half
destroyed by his accident; but after all this work, how could
anyone change the plans at the last minute?

I had strong feelings about doing what my parents wanted
me to do, and | had strong desires in my body too. So I was
happy to be getting married. | can still remember each
movement that my father made as he went through the
different parts of the wedding plan. |1did notdream at the time
thatone day | would be angry with my father for having planned
this wedding when I was so young. Onthatday, it all seemed
soright.

Onour first night together as husband and wife we were two
children forced togetherinthe ocean of life. My brother's wife
had talked with me about what | must do on the first night. I do
notknow who talked to my wife. | never asked her aboutit, and
lam notinterestedinlearning now. Butinthe end, we were too
shy to evenlook at each other. All the teaching did not carry
me far!
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But what we remember from past births is all that is
needed. We slowly learned to know each other and to talk
freely. We were the same age, but in no time | made it
clearthat | was the leader and she was the follower.

QUESTIONS ON PART 3
1. How old was Gandhi when he was married to Kasturbai?

2. What did Gandhi say was the reason for his parents
and uncle agreeing to marry three sons off at the same
time?

3. Onwhat did Gandhi say that Hindu parents waste their
time and money?

4. True or false: Gandhi was angry with his father on his
wedding day, because he did not believe it was right to
marry so young.

5. What did Gandhi say that he quickly made clear to his
new wife?
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4. Playing the Husband

When I was a child, | remember seeing little leaflets with
teachings on many different things, from how to use money
well, to how married people should acttoward each other. |
would often read these leaflets, remembering parts that | liked
and forgetting parts I did not like. One part | remembered well
was that when people marry itis for all of life. | wanted very
much to follow truth, and so | had the understanding that |
must follow this, and not leave my wife for any other woman.

But then, at thirteen, thereis not much one can doto find
another woman even if one wants to!

There was a bad effect from this teaching too. I reasoned, "If
I must not leave her, then she must not leave me." That was
true, butin my mind it became a job for me to work at, for her
good. She did nothing at allto make me believe she would leave
me, but | still believed that | must do things to force her to be true
to me. I made it a rule that she must never be away from me
without asking first. | wanted to know her every movement. And
this planted the seeds for many arguments between us.

I had made a prison for Kasturbai with my rules, and she
was not one to be easily putin prison. She made a point of
going any place and at any time that she wanted. The more
rules | made, the more she would break them and the more
angry lwould become. | can understand now how she must
have felt. How could she agree to rules against going to the
temple or visiting friends without first asking me, when it was
clearin her mind that she was not planning to do anything
wrong? Allthisis clear now, but atthattime all | was thinking
of was that | must play my part as the husband and leader.

Do notthink that our life was all anger and arguments. My
rules, hard as they were, came from a heart of love. My dream
was to make her, by all my rules, into a perfect wife, living a
perfect life, with the same interests and understanding that |
hadin all things.
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Thisis notto say that Kasturbai wanted such things. She did
notknow how to read. She was a quiet, hard-working person
with little to say... atleastto me. She was happy to stay as she
was. All of my studying did not make her want to study. So
think my plans for her were all one-sided. Allmy interestwas
toward one woman, and | wanted her to be equally interested
in me. Buteven with differentinterests, it was not all sadness;
forthere was in my heart a growing love for her.

I liked being with her too much. Allday at school | would think
of her. llooked forward to night time, when | could be with her.
Being away from her was almost more than | could take. | would
keep her awake until late into the night with all my foolish talk.
Ifithad notbeen that | believed strongly in doing my other jobs,
[ think | would have become sick or even died from wanting to
be with her all of the time. Each morning | had jobs to do, and
that saved me from spending all of my time with her.

| wanted badly to teach Kasturbai to read; but my need for
physical love did not leave me enough time to do this well. For
one thing, she did notwantto learntoread. And for another
thing, my only free time was at night. When I was old enough
to not need physical love from her so much, my life was filled
with other business. Itried bringing teachers in to help her,
butthattoo did notwork. So now Kasturbai can only write
some easy letters and understand some easy Gujarati. |
know thatif | had not been so filled with thoughts of mating,
she would be a very smart woman today. | know that, with
more time, | would have been able to get hertolike learning.
Fortrue love can do anything.

One other thing that saved me from spending all my time
with Kasturbai was that Hindu parents of young wives often
find reasons for their daughters to come and stay with them
forweeks or months atatime. Inthe first six years after we
were married, only for about three of those years were
Kasturbaiand I together.
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Then, when | was eighteen, | wentto Britain. This was the
start of along time away from Kasturbai. When I returned, we
were often apart, as I had to go up and down between Rajkot
and Mumbai. Then came the callto South Africa. By thattime
I was more free of my need for physical love.

QUESTIONS ON PART 4

1. Whatrule did Gandhi make for Kasturbai, that became
the seed for many arguments between them?

2. Finish this: "My rules, hard as they were, came from a
heartof ____."

3. What saved Gandhi from spending all of his time with
Kasturbai when he was first married?

4. What did Gandhi want badly to teach Kasturbai that she
did notwantto learn?

5. What did Gandhi do when he was eighteen, that took
him away from his wife foralong time?
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5. At High School

| was a student at high school when | married. We three
brothers were studying atthe same school. My oldest brother
was in a much higher class, but the brother who was married
atthe sametime that | was, was only one year above me. The
effect of being married was that we both dropped behind for
one year. The effect for my brother was worse than that; for
he dropped out of school completely. God only knows how
many other lives have been changed like this by children
being married so young. Only we Hindus try to push our
children into studying and into getting married at the same
time.

| stayed on at school. My teachers liked me, and my marks
were always good. When | was sixteen, and again when | was
seventeen, | received awards. But|should say thatthey were
not because | was so smart. The awards were only for boys
from around the town where I lived, and in a class of forty or
fifty boys, there would not have been many others trying to
win the awards.

As | remember it, | was not very interested in becoming a
top student. Getting good marks or winning awards was
always a surprise to me. But what | was interested in was
being good. | would cry over the smallest thing that | did that
was bad, or that my teachers believed was bad. | remember
being punished for some small thing before | was married.
Being hit by the teacher did not hurt as much as knowing that
the teacher believed | was bad. | cried deeply.

Again, when | was seventeen, | was punished. The head
master was a good teacher, and a man with strong rules. The
boys all liked him. He made it arule that older boys must all
take part in cricket and in doing exercises. | hated both.
Because | was shy, | had never played at sports with the
others. I now see that it was wrong of me to have been so shy.
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At the time | believed that sports were not importantin
learning; but now | know that exercise for the body is as
important as exercise for the brain.

(But I should add that, when | was very young, | read
that long walks in open air are good for people. So |
started taking long walks; and | stilldo. They have helped
me to stay healthy without sports.)

Anotherreason I did not like the exercises was because
| wanted to nurse my sick father. When school would
close, lwould run home to be with him. Forced exercises
after school stopped me from being able to do this. | asked
if | could be freed from the exercises to help my father, but
my teacher would not agree to it. On Saturdays there was
abreak between school inthe morning and exercises at 4
p.m. | had nowatch, and clouds had covered the sun one
Saturday. By the time | returned to school, the boys had
all left. When the teacher heard that | had notbeen there,
he asked me why. I told him what had happened, and he
said | would have to pay a coin or two for not coming.

He did not believe me! That filled me with pain. How
could I prove itwas an accident, that | had not planned to
stay away from the exercises? There was no way. | cried
deeply. Butfrom this | learned that if we want people to
believe us, we must always do our best not to forget
things. This was the first and last time that | did not show
up for a class at school. |think | remember the teacher
saying | did not need to pay the money in the end. And
after a letter from my father, | was able to stay home and
nurse him when other students were doing exercises.

| will tell two more things that | remember from my
school days. After | fell behind a year because of being
married, the teacher wanted me to catch up by doing two
years' work in one. After six months in my third year, |
moved up to year four. Classes were in English from the
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start of year four, and geometry was a new and difficult
study for me. These two together made it a very difficult
year. | often had thoughts of returning to year three, but
| believed that doing so would make me look bad and make
the teacher look bad for having put so much faithin me. |
pushed on, and one day | had a break-through in geometry
where it allbecame very easy for me to understand. From
thattime on, geometry has been both easy and interesting
for me.

Another problem | had in school was learning Sanskrit.
Sanskrit was a bigger job than geometry. Geometry is all
in understanding rules, but Sanskrit is in remembering
hundreds of words. | started Sanskritin year four, and by
the time | started year six | was feeling very discouraged
about it.

There was something of a competition between the
Sanskritteacher and the Arabic teacher. The boys would
talk secretly about how easy-going the Arabic teacher
was. This made me wantto change over to Arabic. One
day | went to the Arabic class. My Sanskrit teacher
learned of it and was hurt by it. He called me to him and
said, "How can you forget how important this is to your
family? Don't you wantto learn the language of your own
religion? If you need help, you can come to me. | wantto
do my besttoteach you. Asyoulearn more, you will find
itto be more interesting. Do not give up. Come and sit
againinthe Sanskrit class."

These kind words made me feel guilty. | could not go
against my teacher's love. | am happy today for that
teacher, because without the little Sanskrit that | learned
then, | would not have been able to learn what | have
learned from our holy writings. I now feel bad that | did not
learn more of the language. And I now believe that every
Hindu child should learn Sanskrit.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 5

1. What bad effect did being married have on Gandhi's
brother?

2. Gandhi said he was not very interested in becoming a
top student. Whatwas he interested in?

3. What exercise did Gandhi start doing when he was
young, that helped him to stay healthy without taking part
insports?

4. What did ateacher punish Gandhi for when he was 17?

5. What language did Gandhi believe every Hindu child
should learn?
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6. A Sad Story, part 1

I had few friends in high school and only two that | would
say were very close. My first friend left me when | became
friends with the second. My time with this second friend
was, | believe, a very sad part of my life. It started with me
wanting to make him better, but it did not end that way at
all.

This friend was, at first, a friend to my older brother. My
mother, my oldest brother, and my wife all said that he was
not a good person to have as a friend. | was not afraid to
go against what my wife said, but | did not want to go
against my mother and my oldest brother. So | talked to
them.

"I know that he is weak in the ways that you say," | said.
"But he has good points too. He will not be able to change
me, because my reason for wanting to be his friend is to
change him. |think he could be a very good person if |
could help him to change where he is weak now. Please,
do not worry about me being changed by him."

| do not think they were very confident that what | was
saying would really happen, but they agreed to give me my
way.

I now know that | was wrong in my beliefs. To make the
world better, a good person cannot become too close to
the ones he or she wants to change. Your best friends
must be equals in spiritual things; for true friends cannot
help but change each other. Because itis easierto be bad
than to be good, close friends will be able to change us in
bad ways more than they will be able to change us in good
ways. If a person wants to be friends with God, that
person must be ready to stand alone, with no friends at
all... orto think of the whole world as his or her friends.
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At the time when | first came across this friend, there
was a wave of interestin changing India for the better that
was moving through Rajkot. My friend told me that many
of our teachers were secretly eating meat and drinking
wine. He had the names of many important people in
Rajkot who were doing the same. And he said that some
of the high school boys were doing it too.

| was surprised and hurt to hear this. | asked why
people were changing their ways, and he said that it was
because people were starting to see that the English
people were stronger, and able to control us, because
they ate meat. My friend was very healthy and strong, and
he said that it was because he was a meat eater. He said
that meat eaters do not have as many sores as vegetarians,
andifthey geta sore, chemicals in the meat help the sores
to heal more quickly forthem than they do for us vegetar-
ians.

"Ourteachers and these otherimportant people are not
stupid," he said. "They know that meat is good for you.
You should be eating meattoo. Giveitatry and see what
happens."

He did not give me all of these arguments at one sitting.
But over time, he worked away at me with them, one by
one. My older brother agreed with my friend, for he too
had started to secretly eat meat. Itis true that my body
was very small and weak beside that of my friend and my
older brother. My friend knew no fear. If he was punished
for something, he would not worry about the pain. He
could run long distances, and he could run very quickly at
short distances too. He was very good at both long
jumping and high jumping. | was easily confused by all of
this, because | wanted to be like him. I was not very strong
at all, and | wanted to be.
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Worse still, | was afraid of many things... robbers, the
spirits of the dead, snakes. | was afraid to go outside at
night. It was very difficult for me to sleep in the dark,
because of my fears. | was not able to tell my wife —who
was sleeping by my side — of my fears, because | knew that
she was braver than me. My friend said that he had none
of these fears because he was a meat eater.

We school boys had a little rhyme that we learned at this
time:

See the big strong English man.
He controls us Indians all.
Because he is a meat eater,
He is full six feet tall.

| was not able to stand against these arguments. |
started to believe that eating meat would give me strength
and confidence, and that, if the whole country were to eat
meat, we could be free of control by the English.

So aday was fixed to start our experiment. It had to be
secret, because my family was part of a caste with very
strong rules against eating meat. Inthat part of India, the
feeling against eating meatis stronger than in any other
place on earth.

My feelings about following my parents were strong too.
I knew that if my parents learned | had been eating meat it
would almost kill them. | had strong feelings about telling
the truth, and | did not want to put myselfin a place where
I would be forced to lie to my parents. | knew that | would
have to hide the truth from them, but | believed that doing
this was part of helping India. My interestin meat was not
because | wanted to taste it, but because | wanted to help
India to be free from the English. And my feelings about
making India free had made me blind to the truth about what
I was doing. | made myself believe that hiding the truth from
my parents was not the same as lying to them.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 6

1. What did Gandhi say was his reason for wanting to be
friends with a boy that his mother and older brother did not
want him to be friends with?

2. True or false: Gandhi said that if we want to be friends
with God, we must be ready to stand alone, with no friends
at all.

3. What did Gandhi's school friend encourage him to do?

4. Why did Gandhi want the whole country to eat meat?

5. What strong feelings did Gandhi have that made it
difficult for him to eat meat?
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7. A Sad Story, part 2

The day came for me to eat meat, and my emotions were
mixed. Onthe one hand, | feltit was a very special day for me,
because | was changing myselfin a way that would lead to
important changes in India. Buton the other hand, | had the
feeling that | was hiding like a robber to do what | was about
todo. I do not know which emotion was strongest.

We wentlooking for a secret hiding place by the river, and
there I saw for the first time in my life —meat. The goat meat
my friend brought for me to eat was as hard as leather, and
I could not eatit. I became sick and was forced to stop.

That night | had very bad dreams. Each time | started to fall
asleep, I had the feeling that a goat was crying inside of me,
and | would wake up feeling very guilty. | made the guilty
feeling go away by telling myself that what | had done was
done to help India.

My friend did not give up easily. He made many different
dishes from meat, and mixed other things with the meat, to
make ittaste better. We moved from the river to a State house
with tables and chairs to make me feel more comfortable. My
friend was able to get the cook at the State house to help him
with his plan to change me.

Itworked. I neverdidlearnto like meat by itself, but | did
learn to like some of the dishes my friend made with meat
mixed in. Over ayear, we were able to do this only about six
times. I had no money to pay for these meals, but my friend
did.

Each night after Iwould eat a meat dish, | would not be able
to eatathome. My mother would ask me why | was not eating,
and | would say that there was something wrong with my
stomach. I did notfind it easy to do this. | knew | was lying,
and that | was lying to my mother of all people. This ate away
atme.
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Inthe end, | said to myself, "It isimportant for India for
me to learn to eat meat, but hiding the truth from my
parentsis worse than not helping India. After my parents
have died, | will eat meat; but for now | cannot do it any
more."

I told my friend this, and to this day | have not returned
to eating meat. My parents never learned that two of their
sons ate meat.

I turned away from the meat, because | did not want to
lie to my parents; but | did not turn away from my friend. |
could not see that he had been changing me more than |
had been changing him.

His control over me was so strong that he was almost
able to lead me away from my wife. | was only saved by
the skin of my teeth.

He took me to a house of prostitutes and paid for a
prostitute for me. | walked into the mouth of sin, but God's
grace protected me from myself. It was like | was both
blind and not able to talk after | went into the prostitute's
room. | was sitting by the woman on the bed, but | was not
able to talk. She became angry and showed me to the
door. My pride was so hurt that | wanted to become
invisible. But from that time on, I have only been able to
thank God that he saved me.

There were four other times in my life when | was close
to cheating on my wife. Each time | was not saved by my
own spiritual strength. In God's way of measuring things,
| was guilty each time, for | wanted to do the wrong thing
evenif I did notreally doit. Fromthe way that most people
look atit, | was saved from sin because | was saved from
doing the physical act. For someone like myself, even
being saved by an act of God is enough to make us very
happy after we have come to ourselves and no longer feel
like doing whatis wrong. But atthese times itis hardto



A SAD STORY, PT 2 35

say where the line is between the good that we do because
we choose to do good and the good that we do because
God stops us from doing wrong.

But, returning to my story, even this trip to the house of
prostitutes did not open my eyes to how my friend was
changing me. It was some time later that | was able to see
that.

But one other thing about this friend that happened at
this time: Many of the arguments that | had with my wife
started with stories that this friend told me. He said things
to make me think my wife was cheating on me. | have not
been able to forgive myself for the ways that | hurt my wife
by acting on stories from this friend. Only a Hindu wife
would put up with the things | did. If you believe wrongly
that a servantis cheating on you, the servant will throw up
his job. If you do the same with a son, he will leave his
father's house. A friend will stop being your friend. Buta
wife puts up with it all. If a Hindu wife thinks her husband
is cheating, she will keep quiet. But if he thinks she is
cheating and he says so, her name is destroyed forever.
Where can she go? A Hindu wife cannot go to court
against her husband. There is no way out. So | cannot
forget or forgive myself for pushing my wife into a corner
such as that.

| was only able to become free of the fear that my wife
would cheat on me when | learned to understand ahimsa,
or "not hurting others". I then was able to see why itis
important to control our feelings for sex if we want to be
close to God. The wife should not be a thing that we own,
but she should be our friend and our helper, equaltousin
all of her feelings, and free to choose her own way. When
I think of those dark days of fear, | am filled with hate for
my cruel and foolish actions, and | become angry at how
blind | was in following my friend.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 7

1. What happened the first time Gandhi tried to eat meat?

2. True orfalse: Gandhidid notreturn to eating meat after
that first time.

3. Where did Gandhi's friend take him, that almost ended
in him cheating on his wife?

4. What did Gandhi's friend say to bring more problems
between Gandhi and Kasturbai?

5. Who did Gandhi say should be a friend and helper, and
athing thatisowned?
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8. Robbing
and Forgiveness

I must tell of some other sins around the time when | tried
eating meat. Some go backto before |l was married, or a short
time afterit.

Arelative and | became interested in smoking. We did not
see any good in it and we did not like the smell of the
cigarettes. But we believed that it would be fun to push out
clouds of smoke from our mouths. My uncle smoked, and we
wanted to be like him. But we had no money. So we started
by using the little pieces of cigarettes that were left after my
uncle finished smoking them.

We were not always able to get cigarettes this way, and
there was not enough left to make a good cloud of smoke
anyway. So forafew weeks we robbed small coins from the
money for the servant, and we used itto buy Indian cigarettes.
But we still had the problem of where to hide the cigarettes,
and where to go to smoke them secretly.

We were feeling that adults had too many rules for us, and
we wanted to be free of them. We believed that what we were
going through was more than we could take. And so we
started a planto kill ourselves!

But how were we to do it? We needed a poison, and we
learned of a seed that was a good poison. We wentto ajungle
near where we lived, and there we found a few of the seeds.
We believed that night time was the best time for such things,
so we wentto the temple, put oil in the temple lamp, said our
prayers, and then looked for a quiet corner where we could
take our lives.

Butthen we started to think: What if we do notdie quickly?
And whatis the good of killing ourselves? Isn'tit better to be
alive and forced to follow the rules of our parents, thanto be
dead?
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We had come this far, so we ate two or three of the
seeds as a sign of our feelings. We did not think it was
safe to take more. We decided to go to another temple
to get over the effects of the seeds, and to stop thinking
aboutkilling ourselves.

The effect of all this was that we both said goodbye to
smoking and to robbing coins from the servant to buy
cigarettes. Now, as an adult, | think of smoking as a
stupid, dirty, and dangerous thing to do. I cannot under-
stand why so many people in all parts of the world do it.
| find it hard to breathe when travelling in a train full of
people who are smoking.

| was twelve or thirteen years old, or even less when |
robbed the coins from the servant. But when | was
fifteen, | did something much more serious. My older
brother, the meat eating one, owed some money to
someone, and he did not have the money to pay. He had
a piece of gold that went around his arm. My father gave
itto him. It was easy to cut a small piece out of this and
to sell it for enough to pay the money. So | did this to help
my brother.

But I could not carry the guilty feeling that came with
doing it. | promised myself that | would never rob
anything again. And | decided to tell the truth to my
father. | was too afraid to talk to him myself. It was not
that | was afraid of him hitting me. | cannotremember him
ever hitting any of us. But | was afraid of the pain that |
would bring to him by my action. Atthe same time, | felt
that | must tell him, evenif it was going to hurt him to hear
the truth about his son. | could not be free of the guilt
without telling the truth.

| decided to put my confession in writing, to give it to
my father, and to ask him to forgive me. In the letter | told
the truth about what | had done, and | asked him to punish
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me forit. Atthe end of the letter | asked him not to punish
himself for my sin. | promised, too, that | would never rob
again inthe future.

| was shaking as | handed the letter to my father. He
was sick at the time, and he was in his bed. His bed was
justalong board. | handed him the letter and waited.

He satupinbedtoreadit. Afterreadingit, pearldrops
moved down his face, making the paper wet as his tears
droppedonit. He closed his eyes to think for a minute,
and then he ripped up the letter. He put his head back
down on the board. | could see my father was in much
pain over my actions, and | cried with him.

Those pearl drops of love washed the sin out of my
heart. Only one who has received love like that can know
what | am talking about. As the song says:

Only one who has been hit by the arrows of love
can know what strength it has.

Atthe time | could only see that this was the love of a
father for his son. But | know today that this was perfect
ahimsa (changing others by not hitting back) in action.
When we can have ahimsa like this for everyone, it will
change all thatittouches. Thereis no end to whatitcan
do.

Forgiving like this was not easy for my father. | had
been thinking that he would be angry, say hard things,
and hit his head. But he was so very quiet aboutit! And
| believe it was because | was honest in what | said to
him. Being very honest about our sins, when joined with
adeep promise (to the one who should receive it) that we
will not do the sin again, is the perfect way to turn away
from sin. I know that what | said made my father feel very
safe about me not doing it again, and it made him love me
more than | can measure.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 8

1. Why had Gandhi and a friend robbed coins from the
servants' money when he was about twelve years old?

2. What did Gandhi do when he was fifteen, that made him
feel very guilty?

3. How did Gandhi go about telling his father that he had
cut something out of the piece of gold?

4. What was it in Gandhi's spirit that he believed had
helped his father not to be angry about him selling the gold
piece?
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9. My Father's Death

| am now up to the time when | was fifteen years old. My
father, as | have said, was very sick in bed. My mother, an
old servant, and | were looking after him.

It was my job to change his bandages, give him his
medicine, and mix drugs when they were needed to make
up the medicine. Each night | rubbed his legs, going to
bed only when he asked me to do so, or after he was
asleep. l was happy to do this for him. | do not think | fell
down on the job even once. My time, when | was not
eating or sleeping, was mostly filled with school work and
with nursing my father. The only time that | went for my
night time walk was when he said | could or when he was
feeling well.

Atthis same time, my wife was carrying our first baby.
I now see that | did two things that were very wrong at that
time. Forone thing, | did not hold myself back from mating
with her, as | should have been doing as a student; and for
another thing, | let my desire for sex pull me away from my
love for my parents. Each night, when my hands were
rubbing my father's legs, my mind was in the bedroom with
my wife. Andthat was happening atatime when she was
carrying a baby, atime when our religion, science, and my
own heart were all telling me that sex was wrong. | was
always happy to finish rubbing my father's legs, because
| knew I would be free to go straight to the bedroom with
my wife.

My father had been growing worse each day. He was
losing his will to live, and becoming weaker and weaker.
He was asked to use a bed pan as a toilet, but, weak as he
was, he never did this. He forced his body away from the
bed to the outside toilet because of the strong rules of our
caste about such things.
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Itisimportantto be clean. Butlagree with science thata
person can go to the toiletin a bed without it making them dirty,
if they use the right containers and if they wash after they are
finished. I did notthink of this at the time, because | was only
filled with love for my father for trying so hard to follow the rules
of ourreligion.

Butthe last nightcame. My uncle was there atthetime. The
two brothers were very close to each other. My uncle would sit
near the bed the whole day and sleep by his side at night. We
did not know that this was to be my father's last night.

ltwas 10:300r 11:00 p.m. and | was rubbing my father's legs
when my uncle said that he would take over for me. | was
happy for himto do this, and went straight to my bedroom. My
wife, poor thing, was sleeping; but it did not stop me from
waking her.

In five or six minutes a servant came to the door, saying,
"Getup. Yourfatherisverysick." |knew he was very sick, but
these words had a far more serious meaning at this time.

"What do you mean?" | asked.

"Your Fatheris no more."

Itwas over! I felt very guilty. If | had not been wanting to be
with my wife, | would have been there with my father in his last
few minutes. If had been rubbing his legs, he would have died
inmy arms. Instead, it was my uncle who had this important
place in my father's death. It was rightthat he should be there
because he was so good about staying with my father at all
times.

My guilt was in wanting sex at a time when my father was
dying. Itis adirty mark on my life that | can never forget. After
many years of believing so strongly that | must love my
parents, | let my need for sex come inthe way at the last. | tried
tobe agood husband, but my need for sex took away from that
too. It was alongtime before | was able to be free from that
need.
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In closing, | must say that the little baby that my wife had
lived only three or four days. What more could | think would
come of my actions? All married people should learn from
what happened to me.

QUESTIONS ON PART 9

1. When Gandhi was fiftreen, he would rub his sick father's
legs each night. He was always happy when he was finished.
Why?

2. Whatdid Gandhi's father do to follow a Hindu rule when he
was very sick, that made Gandhi love him more?

3. Who was with Gandhi's father when he died?

4. Whatwas it about his father's death that made Gandhifeel
guilty, and that he said was "a dirty mark" on his life, that he
could never forget?

5. What happened to Gandhi and Kasturbai's first baby, that
he believed was God's way of punishing him?
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10. Looks at Religion

From the time | was five or six until | was fifteen, | was
in school most of the time. In school | learned everything
butreligion. | am using the word "religion" in the widest
possible way here, to even take in things like learning to
understand myself. It would not have been hard for the
teacherstoteach some religion, but they did not. Yetthat
did not stop me from learning about religion from other
people.

From my family | learned something about our part of
the Hindu religion. | did not like going to the special
meetings that were part of our faith, because | had heard
that some people there were using the meeting place for
sex, and this turned me off.

| learned more about faith from our family nurse, who
was very close to me. Forone thing, she heard that | was
afraid of spirits of the dead, and she said that when |
started to feel afraid, | should say "Ramanama" over and
over again. Tothisday, | find that saying "Ramanama"is
good medicine for me.

About the same time, a relative helped my second
brother and me to learn Ram Raksha. We would say it
together each morning for as long as we were in
Porbandar. When we moved to Rajkot, we dropped it. |
did not have much faith in it, but | had said it mostly
because | was proud that | could say it well.

What had the deepest effect on me was hearing the
Ramayana read when | was with my father. It was said
of the man who read it to us that he had been healed of
a serious skin sickness by saying "Ramanama" over and
over and by putting leaves from a temple idol on his body.
They said his faith had healed him. 1 do not know if this
istrue, but we believed the story at the time. | do know
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that he was completely well when he was reading for my
father. His voice was beautiful, and he would sing some
of the lines before stopping to tell us the meaning. | must
have been thirteen at the time and | remember being
carried along with him as he would talk about the truths
of the Ramayana. That was the start of my deep love for
this book. Today, I believe that the Ramayana is the best
book in all the world about worshipping God.

A few months later we moved to Rajkot and we stopped
hearing these readings from the Ramayana. Two days a
month there was a reading from the Bhagavad Gita. |
went to listen a few times, but the person doing the
reading was flat and boring. | have, over the years,
learned to love the book more. | heard Pandit Malaviya
read itwhen | was fasting for twenty-one days, and | was
sad that | had not heard it from such a man when | was
young. Learning to read and hear good books when a
person is young can put down roots that will live through
all of life.

What | most learned in Rajkot was to see good in all
religions. My parents would go to different temples, and
take or send us children there. Jain priests would often
come to see my father, and even eat our food. They
would talk to my father about religion, and about other
things too. My father had Muslim and Zoroastrian friends,
who would talk to him about their faith, and he would
listen to them with humble interest. Because | was his
nurse, | was often able to listenin. All of this helped me
to see good in many different religions.

Atthattime, the onereligion | could not see goodin was
Christianity. | had good reasons for not liking it. Christian
missionaries would stand on a corner near the high school
and shout against the Hindu religion and against our
gods. | stopped only once to listen, and that was enough.
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About the same time | heard of an important Hindu who had
become a Christian. It was the talk of the town that following
his baptism with water to show he was a Christian, he started
eating the meat of cows and drinking alcohol; and he changed
to wearing clothes from Europe, even to the point of wearing a
hat! | could not believe that a religion with such teachings
should be called areligion atall. When | learned that this man
was starting to talk against the religion of his parents, against
his country, and even against the ways of our people apart from
ourreligion, itgave me a strong feeling against Christianity.

My interestin religions did not come from a living faith in
God. I happened at this time to come across Manusmriti in my
father'sbooks. The story in it of God making the earth was not
easy formeto believe. The truthis, it made me lean toward
notbelieving in God.

I have told the story about my meat eating. Atthattime |
believed too thatit was good to kill snakes, insects, and other
animals like them. | remember that | believed | was doing
good when | killed insects.

But one good thing that | believed at that time was that
people should try to do good, and that truth is the way to all
thatis good. My love for truth was growing, and with it my
understanding of all that truth covers.

Then there were some Gujarati lines that became very
important to me. They were the start of my interest in
returning good for evil. From that time on, | started many
experiments with doing this. Here are the lines:

For a bowl of water, give all that one can eat.

For a word of kindness, bend down and kiss one's feet.

For the smallest coin, pay back with all your wealth.

And if your life is saved, give all that is your self.

To show that truth is what you most believe,

Give back ten times more than what you do receive.

But better still by far, forget what you have had;

What you would do for good, do just as much for bad.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 10

1. Where did Gandhilearn to say "Ramanama" over and over
any time when he was afraid?

2. What did Gandhi think was the bestbook in all the world
about worshipping God?

3. Why was it hard for Gandhi to feel interestin the Bhagavad
Gitawhen he was young?

4. What was the mostimportant thing Gandhilearned about
religion when he was staying in Rajkot as a boy?

5. What was the one religion Gandhi could see no good in
when he was a boy?

6. What was the last line of the poem that started Gandhi's
interestin returning good for evil?
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11. Planning for Britain

| finished high school in 1887, when | was eighteen
yearsold. The tests were at Ahmedabad, and | travelled
there alone. It was my first trip to Ahmedabad from Rajkot.

My family wanted me to go on with my studies at
Bhavnagar, so | moved there. But | was finding it very
difficult. By the first break in studies, | was feeling like
giving up. My father had a very smart and good friend in
a man named Mavji Devi. He was a close friend of the
family even after my father died; and he came to see us
when | returned from Bhavnagar for the school break. He
said to my mother and my older brother, "Times are
changing. If any of the boys are to move up in the world
as their father did, they will need to go to the best schools.
My son Kevelram is studying law in Britain, and he says it
is easy to learnthere. | think you should send Mohandas
to Britain this very year. Kevelram has many friends, and
he will help Mohandas. Mohandas should do well there."

He turned to me and said, "Wouldn't you like to study in
Britain more than here?" | could think of nothing better at the
time. Things were not going well at all at Bhavnagar and |
jumped at what he was saying. | asked if | could study
medicine.

My brother answered: "Father never liked it. He was
thinking of you when he said that people from our caste
should have nothing to do with cutting up dead bodies. Father
always wanted you to study law."

Mavji added to that, "I do not agree with your father's
religious reasons for being against studying medicine; but if
you want to do anything with the government, itis better to
study law. Ontop of that, itis the only way that you can make
enough money to help your mother and your family. The
times are changing and itis becoming harder to make a living.
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The best thing for you is to study law." Turning to my mother
he said, "Now | must leave. Please think about what | have
said. When Ireturn, | would like to hear of plans for Britain.
Tellmeif I can help youinany way."

He went away and | started to dream about travelling to
Britain.

My oldest brother was worried. How could he find the
money needed to send me? And was it safe for me to live so
far away at my age.

My mother was worried too. She did not want me to be
away from her. So she tried to put me off by saying, "Uncle
isthe oldest personin ourfamily. You should ask him first. If
he agrees that you should go, then | will think about it."

My older brother had a plan that could help with the costs
of such atrip. He said to my mother, "Father worked for the
government of Porbandar. Animportant official there thinks
very highly of Uncle. If Uncle asks for government help to
send Mohandas to Britain, that man will not turn him down."

| liked all of this. I have said before that | was a very weak
person, andinthose days it was a five-day trip by ox-cart to
Porbandar, where my uncle lived; but my fears about such a
difficult trip left when | thought about going to Britain. | went
part of the way by ox-cart, and part of the way by camel. ltwas
my firstride on a camel!

| arrived in Porbandar, kissed my uncle, and told him of our
plan. My uncle was not enthusiastic about me going to
Britain. "When | see Indians who have studied in Britain," he
said, "they do not seem any different from people in Europe.
They have no rules about the food that they eat. They never
stop smoking. They dress as the English people do. Thisis
notthe way of our family. 1 do nothave many yearsto live, and
now you want me to agree at this time in my life for one of our
family to go to Britain?"

Then he added, "But I do not want to stand in your way.



50 MY EXPERIMENTS WITH TRUTH

What your mother thinks is mostimportant. If you can talk
her into agreeing with you, then I will not stop you. My
prayers will go with you."

"I could ask for nothing more," | said. "Now | must try to
win my mother over. But can you ask for help from your
friend in the government?"

My Uncle would not agree to that. He said that | must
ask for myself. I cannot say why he did not ask for me, but
| think it is because he did not want to be a part of
something that he believed could easily destroy my love
for my family, my religion, and my country.

| was able only to see my uncle's friend for a few
seconds at his house, as he was walking up the steps, and
all he said was for me to study in India for three years first,
and then he would think about helping me go to Britain.
That door was closed in my face.

But I knew there were other ways. | could sell my wife's
jewelry. My oldest brother could help. He was always
generous, and he loved me as a son.

| returned to Rajkot and asked Mavji Devi what to do.
He encouraged us to borrow money from the bank if we
needed it. | said we could sell my wife's jewelry. My
brother said he would help.

But my mother was still againstit. She had been asking
around and people were telling her that young men lose
their faith when they are in Britain. They eat meat and they
drink alcohol.

"What about these things?" she asked me.

"Please believe me," | said. "I would not lie to you. |
promise that | will nottouch any of those things. If Iwasin
danger, do you think Mavji Devi would encourage me to go?"

"l believe you here," she said. "But how can | go on
believing you if you are so far fromme? | am very confused.
I don't know whatto do. | will ask Becharji Swami."
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Becharji Swami was a Jain priest. He too was a close
friend of the family, and he came up with away to help me. He
talked my mother into letting him lead me in making three very
holy promises to her: notto touch wine, not to touch women,
and not to touch meat. When | had finished doing this, my
mother agreed for me to go to Britain.

My high school had a big meeting to send me on my way.
Itwas very special for one of their students to travel to another
country to study and they wanted to make a big day of it. |
wrote a few words to read out at the meeting, but | was almost
too shy toread them. | remember my whole body shaking and
feeling faint as | was standing to read those words.

With my family all behind me, | left with my brother for
Mumbai. This was my first trip from Rajkot to Mumbai. But
there were more problems to be faced after we arrived there.

QUESTIONS ON PART 11
1. What did Gandhi want to study in Britain?

2. Whattwo reasons did his father's friend give for studying
law?

3. Who did Gandhi's mother say he must ask first, before she
would agree to him going to Britain to study?

4. What argument did his uncle have against Indians sutdying
in Britain?

5. How did a Jain priest help Gandhi to go to Britain?



52

12. Outcaste

I was very happy as | headed with my brother for Mumbai.
By that time, my wife had a baby that was only afew months
oldto look after. |left her behind in Rajkot.

When we arrived in Mumbai, we learned that the Indian
OceanisveryroughindJune and July. Friends said that, as
this was my first trip on a ship, | should wait until November,
when the weather would be safer. Atthe same time news
came in about a ship going downin a storm. This worried my
brother, and so he decided that | should wait. He left me to
wait until November with our friends in Mumbai, and he
returned to his job in Rajkot.

As | was waiting in Mumbai, my caste people learned of
my plans, and they called a meeting. No one from our caste
had ever been to Britain, and they believed | should be
stopped. | wastold to come to the meeting. Idon'tknow how
ithappened, butwhen | wentto the meeting, I had a stronger
feeling of confidence than | had ever had before.

The leader of our caste was an old friend of my father's
and he said to me:

"The people of our caste believe itis wrong for you to go
to Britain. We understand that no one can live there without
breaking the rules of our religion. You will be forced to eat
anddrink as they do."

My answer was, "ltis not against the rules of our religion
to goto Britain. lam going there to study. | have made avery
holy promise to my mother that | will not touch the three
things that you fear most. | am sure that the promise will
protect me."

"But we are saying that you cannotkeep your promise,"
said the leader. "You know that | was a friend of your
father's. Out of love for your father you should listen to what
I am saying."
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"I know you are a friend of my father's," | said. "And I look
up toyou as one whois olderthan | am. Butlcannotchange
my plans to go to Britain. Another very close friend of my
father's, who is from the highest caste in the Hindu religion,
saysthat he can see no problem with me going to Britain. And
my mother and brother have agreed for me to go."

"Will you go against what we in your caste have said for you
todo?"

"I cannot change," | said. "l don'tthink itis the job of the
caste to tellme whatto doin athing like this."

This made the leader very angry. He shouted a bad word
atme. I did not move. Sohe moved. He said to all the people
at the meeting, "This boy will be to us as an outcaste from
today. If anyone helps him or goes to see him off, they will be
forcedto pay forit."

What he said did not have any effect on me. And | was
very happy to hear later that my brother too was not moved
by it.

Butitdid make me wantto leave quickly, before my brother
changed hismind. Then | heard that an Indian court worker
had been asked to come to Britain to be received as alawyer.
He was leaving for Britain on September 4. My friends agreed
that it would be good to have an Indian friend to travel with,
and my brother said | could go.

But my brother had left money for my travels with relatives
in Mumbai. They said they could not go against the caste
rule, which they would be doing if they gave me the money.
Soinstead, a friend agreed to give me some of his money if
my brother would pay him back after the relatives returned my
brother's money to him.

With this money | was able to get a bed in the same cabin
with the court worker, Sjt. Tryambakrai Mazmudar. He told
my friends not to worry about me, that he would look after me;
and we sailed from Mumbai on September 4, 1887.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 12

1. Why did Gandhi need to wait until November before sailing
for Britain?

2. Who believed that Gandhi should be stopped from going
to Britian?

3. What was their reason for believing that it was wrong for
Gandhito go to Britain?

4. Whatdid the leader of the caste do when Gandhi would not
obey him and agree to stay in India?

5. Why did Gandhi's brother agree to let him leave in
September, and not wait until November?
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13. In London at Last

I was not sick on the trip, but it was far from easy for me.
| was too shy to talk to people. Apart from my travelling
friend, all the other people in our part of the ship were
English. They talked too quickly for me to understand
them well. 1did not know how to use knives and forks, and
| was too shy to ask which dishes did not have meat in
them. So Il did not eat atthe table with the others. Ilived
for most of the trip on lollies and fruit from my own
suitcases.

A kind English man travelling on the ship with me
showed aninterestin me, and tried to talk with me. He was
olderthan |was. He asked about what | was eating, where
| was going, why | was so shy, and other things. He
encouraged me to eat with the other travellers, and laughed
atmy plansto be avegetarianin London. In afriendly way
he said | would be forced to change my beliefs. "It's so
cold in Britain thatitis not possible to live there without
eating meat."

"But | have heard that people can live there without
eating meat," | said.

"Don't believe them," he said. "l don't know of any
vegetarians who live there. Please understand thatlam
not asking you to drink alcohol, as | do. But for your own
good I think you should eat meat. You cannot live without
it."

"I thank you for your interest, but | have made a holy
promise to my mother not to touch meat. Because of that
| cannot even think of breaking it. If | find that it is not
possible to live in Britain without eating meat, | will be
happier to return to India than to break my promise."
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In India, a friend had said that | should get papers from
people in Britain from time to time, saying that | was not
eating meat, to prove to my mother that | was keeping my
promise. This English friend happily gave me such a
paper, and for a time | believed this paper was very
important. But | later learned that people would sign
papers to say | was not eating meat even if I was. Knowing
this, made such a paper of little worth. If people could not
believe my word, such a paper from people who would
gladly lie for me would make little difference.

On the boat | had been wearing a black suit because |
wanted to have my best white suit to wear when we arrived
in London. Ithink it was a Saturday when we landed. The
othertravellers left their suitcases for the ship's workers to
bring to them on Monday, so | did the same. It was near
the end of September and | found when I left the ship that
English people do not wear white clothes in the winter. |
had no way to change to dark clothes before Monday, so
| was very embarrassed for the next two days about being
the only person wearing white.

Someone on the ship said that the Victoria Hotel was a
good place to stay in London, so Sjt. Mazmudar and | went
there. I had the names of four people in London who could
help me. One of them was Doctor P. J. Mehta. | leftword
with him as soon as we had landed about where | would be,
and he called at the hotel at about eight that night. He was
very friendly and smiled kindly at the way | was dressed.
As we were talking, | saw his top hat on the table, and it
interested me. | started to rub the haironitthe wrong way.
An angry look from Doctor Mehta told me that | had
broken another English rule. With a good spirit he started
teaching me some of the many rules | needed to learn to
be able to understand the ways of the English people.
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"They do nottouch things if they do not own them," he
said. "They do not ask questions as we do when we first
meet people. They talk quietly. They do not use the word
'sir' when talking with each other. Only servants, stu-
dents, and workers use that word, and they do it when
talking to someone who is above them." He taught me
many more things along these lines.

Doctor Mehta said that it would be too expensive to
stay in a hotel, and that | should live with a family. We
agreed to talk about this more on Monday.

Sjt. Mazmudar had made friends with a man on the boat
from Italy. Asthis manlivedin London, he said he could
find us a much cheaper room. So we moved, after our
bags had arrived on Monday morning. | was surprised at
what | was asked to pay at the hotel, and that was without
eating much food at all. If | asked for one thing, but could
not eatit, | would ask for another; but | was forced to pay
forthem both. The truth is that for weeks now | had been
living almost completely on the food that | had brought
with me from Mumbai.

Eveninthe newrooms |was nothappy. | could not stop
thinking of my home and my country. | would cry at night
and not be able to sleep when thinking of my mother and
family. | could not talk about my sadness with anyone; and
even if | had, it would not have stopped the sadness.
Everything was strange —the people, their ways, and even
their buildings. 1did not know a thing about all the little
rules that English people must follow. On top of this was
my promise notto eat meat. Even the dishes that did not
have meatinthem were without spices and without taste.
| was between arock and a hard place! | was not happy
with Britain, but | could not return to India. A voice inside
of me said that now that | was there, | would have to stay
forthe whole three years.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 13

1. Why did Gandhi not eat at the tables with others on the
ship?

2. Whatreason did a kind English man on the ship give for
saying that it would not be possible to live in Britain
without eating meat?

3. What was strange about the way Gandhi was dressed
when he arrived in London?

4. An Indian friend in London, Dr. Mehta, said it would be
too expensive for Gandhito stay in a hotel. Where did he
think he should stay?

5. What did Gandhi say was wrong with English food,
even whenitdid not have meatinit?
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14. My Choice

Doctor Mehta came to see me atourrooms on Monday. He
looked around the room and said that it would notdo. "We do
not come to Britain so much for the studies as we come to
learn how to live and act as the English people do," he said.
"To do this, you will need to live with an English family. But
first,  have a friend you can stay with who will teach you some
of what you need to know."

Ithanked him for his interestin me, and | moved in with his
friend a short time later. The friend was very kind, acting
toward me like a brother, as he tried to teach me the English
ways and the English language.

But my food was still a serious problem. | was not happy
with boiled vegetables on their own without even a touch of
salt. The woman cooking for us did not know how to cook for
me. We had porridge for breakfast, which filled me up. But
| was always forced to go hungry atlunch and dinner. My new
friend always encouraged me to eat meat, but | would say that
| had made a promise and leave it at that. | was able to eat
bread and jam and some spinach for lunch and dinner. lwas
agood eater and had a big stomach, but | was too shy to ask
formore thantwo orthree pieces of bread. Itdid notseem like
the right thing to do. Added to this, there was no milk with
lunch ordinner.

Atone point, my friend became angry with me. "If you were
my brother," he said, "l would tell you to leave. Whatis the
good of keeping a promise made to a mother who cannotread
and who has no understanding of what life is like here? No
court of law would say you had to keep such a promise. ltis
stupid to hold to it now that you know better. It willdo you no
good here. And besides, you say that you ate meatin the past
andthatyou likedit. You ate it when you did not need to eat
itthen; so why can'tyou eatitnow when you need it so badly?"
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But I would not change.

Day after day the friend would argue; but my answer
was always the same. The more he argued, the stronger
| was about not changing. Each day | would pray for God
to help me, and he did. Notthat | had an understanding of
God. Butitwas faith that was working in me all the same...
the faith of my good nurse, Rambha.

One day, my friend started reading to me Bentham's
writings about truth being measured only by what works.
| was at the end of arguments. The language was too
difficult for me to understand, so my friend tried to say it in
his own words. | said, "Please, stop! These arguments
are too much for me. | will agree that you are right. |
cannot argue with you. But call me foolish or thick-
headed, because | still will not break my promise to my
mother.

"I know you only tell me these things over and over and
over because you want to make things easier for me. But
I cannot change. A promiseis apromise, anditcannotbe
broken."

My friend looked at me in surprise. He closed the book
and said, "Okay. | will not argue any more." And he did
not. For this | was happy. But he did not stop worrying
about me. He nevertried to get me to smoke or drink as
he did. The truthis that he encouraged me to stay away
from both of these things. His interestin me eating meat
was only because he was afraid that | would become weak
without it, and that | would remember my time in Britain in
a bad light because of it.

| stayed with him for a month before Doctor Mehta found
me a place with a half Indian, half English widow. | told the
woman about my promise not to eat meat and she said that
she would see that | ate well. But there too | was never
able to get enough food. The food was all without taste.
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Each day the woman asked if the food was good enough, but
| was too shy to say anything. | was afraid to ask for more
when | did not have enough. She had two daughters who
would give me one or two more pieces of bread. Butthey did
not know that | would not be full without eating the whole loaf!

But by this time | was starting to walk around on my own.
My studies had not yet started. | had started to read newspa-
pers, which was something | never didin India. Here | learned
to like reading the papers for an hour each day. Afterfinishing
the papers, | would go out for a walk. The widow had said that
there were vegetarian restaurants in London, and | wanted to
findthem. | would walk ten or twelve miles each day, find a
cheap restaurant, and eat my fill of bread in it, but never feel
happy with what | was eating. And then one day | found a
vegetarian restaurant. | was like a child getting a toy it had
always wanted most. Atthe door were some books that the
restaurantwas selling. | saw one with arguments in it against
eating meat. I boughtitandtookit with me to the table. There
I had my first real meal from the time | had left India. God had
come to help me!

| read the vegetarian book from cover to cover, and
agreed with it very much. From the day | read that book,
| made it my choice to be a vegetarian. | was happy now
about the promise that | had earlier made to my mother.
Before that | had not been eating meat only because | had
made a promise and could not break it. Butin my heart |
had wanted to eat meat and had wanted all Indians to eat
meat so that we could be as strong as the English. | had
been looking forward to the day when | would be free of the
promise, and when | could openly eat meat and encourage
other Indians to do the same. But now all that had
changed. It was now my choice to be a vegetarian, and
from that day on, | was to do what | could to encourage
others to be vegetarians too.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 14

1. Gandhi moved in with a friend of Dr. Mehta. But after
a time with him, the friend became angry with Gandhi.
Why?

2. What was Gandhi's last argument to his friend for not
eating meat?

3. True orfalse: When Gandhi was clear that he was not
going to break his promise for any reason, his friend
stopped arguing with him over eating meat.

4. What would Gandhi be looking for each time he went
out for a walk around London?

5. How did a book that he read at the vegetarian restau-
rant change Gandhi?
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15. Playing the Part
of an English Man

My faith in vegetarian teaching grew from that day. The
vegetarian book made me hungry to read other books
about food. One of these, by Howard Williams, argued
that all of the top philosophers and prophets, from the time
of Pythagoras and Jesus, were vegetarians. Another
book that | liked was Doctor Anna Kingsford's The Perfect
Way in What We Eat. Writings by Doctor Allinson argued
that you could heal sicknesses by eating the right foods.
He encouraged all sick people to become vegetarians.

All of this reading had the effect that | started doing
experiments with what | ate. Atfirstlwasinterestedinit
as a way to be healthy. But later my interest was in
controlling what | ate as a way to be more spiritual. It
became animportant part of my life.

But atthe same time, my friend had not stopped worry-
ing about me. Hisinterestin me made me think that being
avegetarian would make me very much out of place in a
country like Britain. He was afraid that | would waste my
life on foolish experiments with food, forget my studies,
and become someone for others to laugh at. So he made
one lasttry at changing me.

He asked me to go with him to see a play on the stage.
Before the play, he said we could have a meal at a very
nice restaurant. | think my friend believed that | would be
moved by the size of the restaurant and by all the people
around us, to act like others acted in such a place. The
meal started with soup. | did not want to make my friend
angry by asking him, so | gave a sign for the waiter to
come over. My friend saw it and asked what | was doing.



64 MY EXPERIMENTS WITH TRUTH

| said weakly that | was going to ask if the soup was a
vegetable soup. "You are too stupid to know how to act
around nice people!" he said angrily. "If you cannot be
quiet about meat, then it would be better for you to leave.
Go to some other restaurant to eat and wait for me
outside." | was happy with this plan and left to find a
vegetarian restaurant that | knew was close by. Butitwas
closed, and | went without food that night. We went
together to the play, but nothing was said about what had
happened inthe restaurant.

That was our last argument about such things. We
stayed friends. | could understand that he had been trying
to help me, and his actions only made me think more
highly of him.

| could not change my choice about what to eat; but |
could change my actions in other ways so that | would not
embarrass my friend so much in future. | started to work
on making myself as much like the best English man that
| could be.

I changed from wearing Indian clothes to wearing Eng-
lish clothes. | wasted money on an expensive suit, and |
asked my good and generous brother to send me a gold
watch chain to wear with it. |learned how to tie my own tie.
We did not use a mirror in India much at all. But here |
wasted ten minutes each day studying myself in front of
one. | worked on my tie, my hair, my hat, and each
movement of my hands and body.

| worked on other things too. | heard thatitis important
tolearn how to dance, how to talk English perfectly, and
how to talkin French. French was not only the language
in France, but it was the language of business in all of
Europe, and | wanted to travel in Europe before returning
to India.
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| paid £3 to learn how to dance, but after six classes over
three weeks, | was no better forit. | could not follow the piano,
and because of this, | was not able to keep time. But this did
not stop me from trying to be something that | was not. lam
like the manin the story who wanted to live by himself. But
he had a cat to keep out the rats. Then he needed a cow to
give milk for the cat, and a servant to look after the cow, and
soon.

| decided to learn how to play the violin, and paid another
£3 foraviolin and a little more for classes to learn how to play
it.

I paid a third teacher to teach me how to use perfect English.

But something was not right about all of this, and a short
time after | started, | decided that | had been stupid to even
try to be like the English people. It wasn'tlike | was going to
live my whole life in Britain. So why learn perfect English?
And how would dancing make others think well of me? If|
really wanted to learn the violin, | could do that after | returned
to India. I had come here to study, and that is what | should
be doing. If my honesty and hard work made people think well
of me, then that would make me happy. Butifitdid not make
people think well of me, then | should learn to live my life
without people thinking well of me.

| said much the same in letters to my English teacher and
to my dancing teacher, asking that my classes be stopped. |
talked to my violin teacher, asking if | could sell back the
violin. She was very friendly and encouraged me in my plan
to stop trying to make people think well of me by these
studies.

This whole time of trying to be English lasted only about
three months. | did not stop trying to dresslike the English for
years after that; but for the most part, | was happy to return
to just being a student.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 15

1. What was Gandhi's first reason for being interested in
being avegetarian?

2. Why did Gandhichoose to be the best "English man" that
he could be?

3. Gandhi paid three teachers to help him be a good English
man. What did they teach?

4. Inthe end, what two things did Gandhi think were the best
ways to make people think well of him?

5. Gandhi stopped all three classes, but at this time he did not
stop doing one other thing to be like the English people. What
was that?
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16. Changes

Do not think that my experiments with dancing and the like
marked a time of selfish spending on myself. Even when
buying things like a violin, | watched closely how much | was
spending. | made alist of everything, from the cost of taking
a bus to the cost of a newspaper or a stamp. Each night
before going to bed | would see that | had the right sums down
forallthatlused. The effect of thisis that when | later had jobs
where | needed to handle big sums of money for the govern-
ment, or for other people, | was able to control the spending
enough to have more than enough leftin every movement
that | was the leader of. Young people should learn from this.
If you keep a list of all that comes into and goes out of your
pocket, you will be a winnerin the end.

A look at my spending showed a need to cut down on
things. | decided to cut my spending in half. | studied my
records to see how bestto doit. Because | was living with a
family,  needed to pay for my room and meals each week. |
could not change that. But when living with a family, itis right
to take some of them out to eat from time to time, or to go with
them to outings or to other entertainment. This cost me more
money, not only for food and entertainment, but also for the
cost of getting there. Ifthe person was awoman, the rule was
thatthe man paid for both. | could not take money off the price
of meals that I missed with the family, even when | did not eat
there. So there was only one way to save on all of these
things, and that was to move out and live on my own.

| decided to move into two rooms of my own (one for
sleeping and one as alivingroom). The rooms were close
enough to my work that | would not have to pay for buses or
trains. By walking eightto ten miles aday | was able to stay
almost free of sicknesses when | was in Britain. And I finished
up with a strong body for it too.
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I was able to save a lot of money by making these changes.
But | studied how | used my time too. My law classes were
not difficult, so | had time that | could use for other studies. If
| were to study at Cambridge or Oxford University, it would be
too expensive, and | would have to stay in Britain longer than
I had planned. But a friend said that | should try to take a high
school test in London. It would not cost much at all, but |
would learn much by doing it. This sounded good to me. |
joined a class and started studying. Every six months there
was atest. The nextone was five months away. Along with
my other studies it seemed impossible to be ready in time.
But all my enthusiasm for becoming an English man was now
channelled into making myself the best possible student. |
measure every minute. When it came time for the test, |
passed all but Latin, and | was forced to take that part of the
testagain. |was sad about not passing Latin, but | did notlose
heart. | had started to like it, and | believed it would be good
for me to take the French test again too. Ontop of this, | could
do another science study.

As | started planning for the second test, | tried to control
my life even more. | did not feel that the way | had been living
was right when my family was giving up so much for me to be
there. | was very sad when thinking about all that my older
brother had done to help me. | saw students who were living
onfarlessthan|was spending. One stayedin avery cheap
room and lived only on hot chocolate and bread. | could not
live as hard a life as he was living, but | could live in one room
and not two; and | could cook some of my meals at home.
Thatway | could save even more money. | read books with
more teaching on how to live onless. It only took me twenty
minutes to make my own porridge and to boil water for hot
chocolate for breakfast. 1 would eat out for lunch, and have
bread and hot chocolate for dinner. The more poor in spirit
that | became, the easier it was for me to study too; and |
passed my next testbecause of it.
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Do notthink that my life was a sad one. The opposite was
true. These changes made my physical life fall more inline
with my spiritual life. Anditwas more in keeping with how my
family lived in India. My life was more whole, because it was
closertothe truth; and this filled my spirit with happiness too.

QUESTIONS ON PART 16

1. How did Gandhi save on the cost of food and entertain-
ment that came with living with a family?

2. How did he save on the cost of buses and trains?
3. Forwhat did Gandhi study, on top of his law studies?

4. What was the only part of the high school test that he did
not pass?

5. What did Gandhilive on for breakfast and dinner, to save
more money?
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17. Food Experiments

As | had been working on making myself better, the list
of things that | needed to change had started to grow.
After working on how | used my money and how | used my
time, I turned to study what | was eating. The books | read
used arguments from religion, science, and the good use
of money to argue against eating meat.

Religious arguments said people should not use their
strength and smartness to hurt animals. We should pro-
tectthem, because thatis part of our job here on earth.
They said that the real reason for eating should be to stay
alive, and not because the food has a good taste.

Some of the writers had been able to cut out milk and
eggs from what they ate too. They argued from science
that man was not made to eat food that was cooked, and
we were not made to drink milk. After taking milk from our
mothers, they said we should (as soon as we have teeth)
startto eat solid food. They were against all spices too,
because they believed spices were not healthy.

The books showed that eating vegetables is also the
cheapestway tolive.

All of these arguments had an effect on me. | started
reading a leaflet that was printed each week by a group of
English vegetarians. |joined the group, wentto their meet-
ings, and became one of the leaders. | later started up
another group closer to where | lived. It lasted only a few
months, but fromit | learned a lot about how to lead any group.

It was from my time with these other vegetarians that |
started my experiments with food.

First, | stopped using the sweets and spices that | had
brought with me from India. My thoughts were movingin
a different direction now, and | soon found that | had a
liking for boiled spinach without any spices on it, some-
thing that I had not liked at all when | first started eating it.
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My experiments showed me that what really made food taste
good was notinthe tongue so much as in the mind.

There were inthose days some people who argued thattea
and coffee are bad for you, but that a hot chocolate drink was
not. So | stopped drinking tea and coffee.

It should be said that a big reason for my changes in what
| ate was because | wanted to save money. Inthe vegetarian
restaurants there were two groups of people. One group
would eatthe meals that were the same for everyone. These
meals came with a piece of bread on the side. Another group
would choose only the foods that they liked best from a long
list of dishes, and they would pay for each piece separately.
The second group would end up paying about four times as
much as the first group forameal. So | did most of my eating
with the first group.

I tried a few other experiments along with not eating meat.
Atonetime | tried not to eat bread, pasta, potatoes, or any
food like them. Atanothertime I tried to live only on bread and
fruit. Andthenthere wasatime whenllived foralmosttwo
weeks on cheese, milk, and eggs. | had listened to argu-
ments about eggs being good for you and about eggs not
being meat. | could see that no animalis killed to get eggs,
and | decided to try them for a time.

But | could not get away from the understanding that my
mother had when she asked me to promise not to eat meat.
| knew that she understood meat to mean eggs too. So |
stopped that experiment a short time after | started it. | could
not feel right about eating eggs if my mother believed | had
promised not to eatthem.

When | decided to stop eating eggs, it brought with it new
problems, even when eating in vegetarian restaurants. Many
of their cakes and other foods were made with eggs, and |
was forced to ask about each dish, to be sure that there were
no eggs used in making them.
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The list of foods that | was able to eat grew shorter when
| decided to keep my promise as my mother understood it. |
was forced to stop eating some foods that | liked very much.
Butinthe end | believe that keeping my promise to my mother
added a spiritual spice to what | did eat that was healthier,
longer lasting, and tasted better than the food | missed out on.

All over the world people run into trouble over how they
understand promises. The clearest possible words will not
stop a person from bending them when the promise becomes
too difficult to keep. Rich or poor, beggar or king, people will
alldo this. Their selfish desires blind them to the truth, and
they end up lying to the world around them and to God.

Ithink the best rule isto let the other person say what they
understand the words of the promise to mean. If we do not
use this rule for working out what the words of a promise
mean, we will only end up in arguments and in sin. When you
letthe other person say what the promise means, you do not
need expert lawyers to find the truth. And so, because my
mother's understanding of the word "meat" said that | had
promised notto eat eggs, that became the only true meaning
forme. Butifithad not been for her understanding, my own
understanding would have said that it was okay to eat eggs.

As | have already said, my reasons for not eating meat
grew mostly from my desire to save money. They also grew
from aninterestin my own health. Religious reasons were
notvery important atthattime. They came later, when I was
in South Africa. Butthe seed for all that followed was planted
there in Britain.

A new memberin any religionis always more enthusiastic
than one who has been borninto the religion. Because, in my
mind, | had not believed the vegetarian teachings of my
parents when | wasin India, | had become a new member of
the vegetarian movement only while livingin London; and |
was full of enthusiasm for this new teaching.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 17

1. True orfalse: Religious vegetarian writersin London atthe
time of Gandhi argued that the reason we eat food should not
be because ittastes good.

2. True orfalse: Gandhilearnedto like boiled spinach without
any spices onit.

3. What did Gandhi stop drinking after he became a
vegetarian?

4. Why did Gandhi stop eating eggs?
5. What did Gandhithink was the best rule for understanding
apromise, if we are to stop arguments over the meaning of

the promise?

6. What was Gandhi's strongest reason for not eating meat
when he firstbecame a vegetarian?
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18. Being Shy
Protects Me

The members of the vegetarian movement chose me to
be one of their leaders, and | made a point of going to all
of the leaders meetings. But Il would not say anything at
the meetings.

One of the leaders said to me when we were alone, "You
are confident enough when talking to me, but at the
meetings you say nothing. Why is that?"

Itis not that | had no interest in the meetings. | often
wanted to say something, but it seemed that the other
leaders all knew more than I did. And then when | would
happen to find enough confidence to say something, the
talk would move to something different. This wenton for
alongtime.

Atthe same time, animportant question came up in the
meetings. Our president was a man with very clear rules
about sex. Butone of the other leaders was a leaderin the
birth control movement as well as being a leader in the
vegetarian movement. Our president believed that the
other movement was encouraging people to have sex, and
he did not think that we should have a man in our movement
who believed like that.

The question was interesting for me because | too
believed that the birth control movement was a spiritually
dangerous one; but I knew thatthe manin questionwas a
good and generous man. | did notthink it was right to force
him out of our group just because of his beliefs about birth
control. | believed that | should make a stand for the man
that the president wanted to kick out of our group. But how
was | to do it when | was so shy? | decided to write my
thoughts down on paper, and | put the paper in my pocket,
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to be read out atthe meeting. Aslrememberitnow, | was
not even confident enough to read it out myself, and the
president had to ask someone else to read it for me.

Inthe end, the man was still forced to leave the group,
but | had a good feeling in knowing that | had tried to help
him. | seemtorememberthat | stepped down as a leader
inthe group soon after this.

This problem with being shy continued through my stay
in Britain. Even when | visited people in their homes, |
would not be able to talk if there were more than five or six
peopleinthe room.

Once | was asked to talk at a meeting of vegetarians.
They said | could write out what | was to say, and read it
out at the meeting, so | did this. But when | stood up to
read, | could notdo it. | was shaking all over and | could
not see clearly to read the words.

What | had been going to say was only one page long,
but | was forced to ask a friend toread it for me. I was very
sad and embarrassed by not being able to talk in front of
other people.

I made one last try to talk in front of people, on the night
before | left Britain; but this ended in me looking foolish
too. | had asked my vegetarian friends to a party at a
restaurant that sold meat dishes. | had been thinking that
restaurants that sell meat should also be encouraged to
sell meals made without meat, so that people like ourselves
would have more places to choose from when going out to
eat. |talked the manager of the restaurantinto making a
special meal for me and my friends, and my friends were
very enthusiastic about this new experiment.

At a special meal like this in the West, itis always right
for people to give talks after the meal. When it came my
turn to talk, I felt that | was ready. | had planned a very
short talk that started with a funny story. But when | had
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finished the story, | could not remember another word of
what | had planned to say; so | just thanked my friends for
coming and sat down.

It was not until | went to South Africa that | stopped
being so shy; and even then it never completely went
away. Ithas always beenimpossible for me to give a talk
without planning it out first, and | try not to give a talk at all
if | can.

But | would also say that, apart from the pain of others
laughing at me because of it, being shy has not been a bad
thing for me. The opposite istrue;ithas been a great help.
Because itis difficult for me to talk in front of other people,
| have been forced to think well before | say anything.
There are very few words that | write or say these days that
I have not put serious thoughtinto. Because of this, I do
not need to feel guilty or embarrassed about things | have
said. This has protected me from many problems. Being
quietis animportant spiritual exercise foranyone who is
interested in finding truth. ltis so easy when talking, for
all of us to bend or cover the truth to make ourselves look
better. We all need to stop talking and think at times if we
are to tell only the truth. People who say very little learn
to measure each word and to put more thought into what
they say.

Most people want badly to be heard. Anyone who has
been the leader of a meeting knows there are always
people who want to talk. When the leader says a person
can talk, most people will talk longer than they should.
Some will ask for more time, and others will just take it
without asking. We cannot say that all of this talking is
good forthe world. Most of itis a waste of time. So that
is why | feel that being shy has protected me. It has
protected me from this waste of time, helping me to grow
spiritually and to learn more about truth.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 18

1. What movement did Gandhi feel was spiritually dangerosus
around the time that he joined the vegetarian movement?

2. What did Gandhido to help outa"good and generous" man
who was part of this movement?

3. What was Gandhi forced to do when he was shaking too
much to read out a talk that he had written for a vegetarian
meeting?

4. True orfalse: Because he believed it was the humble thing
to do, Gandhi always tried not to give talks if he could.

5. How did being shy help Gandhito be more honest and to
find the truth?
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19. A Lie that Hurt Me

Forty years ago there were not many Indian studentsin
Britain. Those of us who were married, as | was, would not
say anything aboutit. None of the English students were
married, as the thinking there was that studies should be
finished before young people were married. Inthe good old
days, that had been the way in Indiatoo. Inthose days, the
name for a student had the meaning of one who was in
perfect control of his body. But in these days we have
married children in India, something that the English could
notunderstand. So we Indian students who were marriedin
India would hide the truth when we were in Britain.

Butthere was another reason for hiding the truth. Itleftus
free to be friends with the daughters of the families that we
lived with. Itis notthatthere was anything wrong about our
actions toward these young women. The parents even
encouraged their daughters to be friendly with us. In Britain,
where the young people themselves choose who they will
marry, there need to be times and places where young people
can meet and talk to members of the opposite sex. Butwhen
we young Indian men, who have never had female friends in
India, actinthe same way on arriving in Britain, the effect on
us can be very different. | saw that Indian students covered
the truth so that they could have female friends, and | now
believe that what was okay for English young people was not
at all good for us. But, sad to say, | followed the others in
hiding the truth about myself from the start. | was married and
the father of a son, but I did not tell people.

Hiding the truth like this did not bring me happiness. ltis
only because | was so shy that | was stopped from going into
deeper waters with any of these girls. If I did not talk to them,
they did not talk to me, and they were not interested in going
outwith me. But God wanted me to be free from a lie that was
still hurting me spiritually.
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In my first year in Britain | met a friendly old widow who
became a close friend for the whole time that | was there, and
for many years after that. She would ask me to come for
dinner at her house in London each Sunday. Attimes she
would ask young women to come as well, and she would
encourage me to make friends with them. A youngwoman
who stayed with her was often there for the meal, and the old
woman would often leave us alone together. Atfirst | did not
feel comfortable with the young woman, as | did not know
whatto say. Butintime | learned to laugh and joke with her,
and | started to look forward to our times together.

The old woman became interested in our meetings, and |
started to see that she had her own plans for us. | found
myselfin the middle of something that | could not get out of.
"If lhad told herthat | was marriedin the first place," | said to
myself, "this never would have happened!" Butthen | saw the
simple truth: "Itis never too late to tell the truth. If | do that,
it will save me from more problems like this." With this
thoughtin my mind, | wrote a letter to her that went something
like this:

"From the time we first became friends, you have been kind
tome. You have been like a motherto me. You naturally think
that | should get married one day, and | can see that thisis
your reason for bringing me together with a few young women
that you know.

"But before things gotoo far, | must tell you that | am not the
right personto receive this kindness. | should have told you
when | first started to visit, that | am married. Other Indian
students studying in Britain hide the truth about being married,
and so | did the same. I now see that it was wrong of me to
do so. I must add that | was married when | was still a child,
and I now have a son. It hurts me to think that | have been
hiding this from you for so long. But | am glad that God has
now helped me to tell the truth. Can you forgive me?
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"l did not actin any way that was wrong toward any of the
women that you were good enough to bring to me as friends.
For myselfl knew how | should act as a married man. ltwas
only natural that you should want me to become engaged if
you believed that | was not married. But now I mustlet you
know the truth, to stop things from becoming worse between
us.

"If, on receiving this letter, you feel that | should not visit
you any more, | will understand. | owe you very much for
your kindness toward me and for your help already. But if,
afterreading this, you still want me to be your friend (and |
would try very hard to be a true friend), | will naturally be very
happy, and | would see it as yet another sign of how kind you
are."

| was not able to write a letter like this in a few minutes. |
had to write it over and over to getitright. Butwhen | was
finished it lifted a heavy weight from off my back. The old
woman answered my letter very quickly with words that went
something like this:

"I have your honest letter. The young woman living with
me and myself both were very glad to receive it and we had
a good laugh over it. Itis easy for us to understand and
forgive your action. But we are glad too, that you have filled
usinonthe whole truth. Yes, we stillwant you to come and
visit, and we look forward to you coming on Sunday, when
we can hear more about your wife, and when we can all
laugh together at how embarrassed you must have been by
our actions. Do I really needto tell you that it will not make
the least difference to our love for you now that we know you
are married?"

And this is how | stopped the pain that hiding the truth
bringsto allwho doit. From thattime on I nevertried to hide
the truth about my being married.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 19

1. What were two reasons why Indian students living in
Britain would hide the truth about having wives in India?

2. What happened at times when Gandhi would visit a
friendly old widow at her house in London, that ended up
making a problem for him?

3. Finish this: "ltis never too late to tell -

4. What did Gandhi do to stop the pain that he felt from
hiding the truth about his wife in India?
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20. Religious Friends

Toward the end of my second year in Britain, | came
across two brothers who were Theosophists. They were
reading The Song of Heaven from the Gita, in English, and
they asked me to read it with them in Sanskrit. | was
embarrassed because | had not read it before, eitherin
Sanskritorin my firstlanguage, Gujarati. | agreed to help
them read it in Sanskrit, but | had to tell the truth, that it
was completely new to me. So | started to read the Gita
with them. | can still remember the deep feeling | had
when | read these words from the second part of the book:

"If you spend your time thinking of physical things, they
will pull you toward them like a magnet. Greed grows from
this, and greed is like a fire that will grow bigger as time
goes by. It willbecome so strong that you will do stupid
things to get what you want. The effect of this will be that
you will forget all of the good reasons that you had for
doing things in the past. Your understanding will be
destroyed. You will be left spiritually dead, and without
any true understanding or reason for living."

These words had a deep effect on me. | could see at the
time that this was a very special book; but the feeling has been
growing even stronger in me for many years. | now believe
that it is the best book ever written on how to find Perfect
Truth. It has helped me many times when | was feeling down.

| read the Bhagavad Gita at that time with these two
friends, but | cannot say that | studieditthen. It was some
years later that | started to read the book every day, and
to think deeply about all that it was saying.

The brothers said | should read The Light of Asia by the
same man who did the English words for The Song of
Heaven. When | started that book, | could not stop. Atthe
time | was even more interested in it than | was in the Gita.



RELIGIOUS FRIENDS 83

These friends asked me to join their religion and to
become a Theosophisttoo, but | did not even know much
about my own religion yet, and | did not want to join any
otherreligion. Iread a Theosophist book that encouraged
me to study the Hindu religion more closely. It showed me
that the Hindu religion was much more than belief in magic
andin stories that are not true.

About the same time, | became friends with a good
Christian who also was a vegetarian. | told him about the
Hindu man in Rajkot who had become a Christian and then
started to eat meat and drink alcohol. He was very sad to
hear this. He said, "l do not eat meat and | do not drink
alcohol. Itistrue that many Christians do eat meat and do
drink. Butthese are not things that the Bible teaches us
todo. Pleaseread the Bible for yourself."

| seem toremember that he himself sold Bibles, and |
bought one from him that had maps and other helpsiniit.
| started reading, but the early books (written before Jesus
was born) were very difficult for me. The first book was
okay, but after that | would fall asleep each time | tried to
read it. | pushed on without any real interest or under-
standing, only so that | could say that | had read it. The
Book of Numbers was the most tiring of all of them.

But when | reached the story of Jesus, all of this
changed. His Words on the Mountain (in Matthew 5, 6,
and 7) went straight to my heart. It was as beautiful as the
Gita. The best part was where he said these words: "Do
not hit back at that whichis evil. It someone hits you on
the right cheek, turn and let him hit the other cheek also.
If anyone takes away your coat, let him have you shirt too."

It made me rememberthe lines | had learned in Gujarati,
which started, "For a bowl of water, give all that one can eat."
Ittoo finished by saying that we should do good even to those
who are bad toward us.



84 MY EXPERIMENTS WITH TRUTH

In my young mind, I tried to put together the truth in the
Gita, The Light of Asia, and Jesus' Words on the Mountain.
It seemed to me, from reading all of these, that giving up
all that we hold onto is the highest way to know God.

This reading made me want to know about other religious
teachers. Afriend said | should read a book that had a part
initaboutwhatitisto be aprophet. It said thata prophet
must be brave, and must live a very simple life.

That was as much interest as | had in religion at that
pointin my life. |1 did not have time for much more than my
studies. But | did promise myself that | would find time
later to read more religious books and to learn more about
the religions of the world.

Even without studyingiit, | could not help but know some-
thing of the religion that says there is no God. Every Indian
knew the name of Bradlaugh and his teachings at that time
against God. Iread abookonit, butit had no effect on me.
I had already been across that desert without finding hope in
it. Annie Besant*, who had started out not believing in God,
wrote a book, How | Became a Theosophist. It encouraged
me in my feelings against Bradlaugh's way of seeing things.

It was about this time that Bradlaugh died. | wentto see
him being buried. Afew Christian ministers were there too.
On our way home we were waiting at a train station. One of
Bradlaugh's friends, who did not believe in God, started to
make fun of one of the ministers. "You believe thatthereis a
God, doyou?" he asked.

"l do," said the good man quietly.

"And do you agree that the distance around the earth is
twenty-eightthousand miles?"

*Annie Besant and Charles Bradlaugh were very close
friends for a few years, before Annie changed to become a
Theosophist. D.M.
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"Yes."

"So tell me the size of your God and where he lives!"

"If you want the truth, he lives in the hearts of both of us,"
said the minister.

"Now, now! Don'ttalk to me like | am a child!" said the man
who did not believe in God, with alook at us like he believed
he had said something very smart.

The minister stayed humble and quiet.

Seeing the way this man acted, only made me strongerin
my feelings against the teaching that there is no God.

QUESTIONS ON PART 20

1. Who played an important partin getting Gandhi to read
"The Song of Heaven" (from the Bhagavad Gita) for the first
time?

2. What did the Gita say would make people forget all the
good reasons they had for doing things, and leave them
spiritually dead?

3. Through whatreligion did Gandhi first become interested
in his own (Hindu) religion?

4. What part of the Bible did Gandhi say was as beautiful as
the Gita?

5. From all of his reading, what did Gandhi see as the highest
way to know God?
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21. Strength of the Weak

I had, by this time, started to understand a little about the
Hindu religion, and about some other religions. Butitwas not
enough to keep me from sin. We do not really know what it
is that keeps us from doing wrong at the time when it saves
us. If a person has no religion, he or she will say it just
happened. Ifthe personis abeliever, he or she will say it was
God. They will also believe it was their special understanding
of God that made it possible for God to help them in their
weakest hour. But can we really know thisis true? Who has
not been proud of their spiritual strength, only to find them-
selves humbled in the dirt? Our understanding of God is
nothing when measured beside God himself.

[ firstlearned this in Britain, when | found myselfin a place
where my understanding of religion did not help me at all.
God had helped me at other times, when | was very young,
and | cannot say how he did it; but | was twenty years old by
thistime, and | was a husband and a father.

ltwasin my last yearin Britain (1890). | went with an Indian
friend to a vegetarian meeting happening over two days at
Portsmouth. By accident we paid for a room in a house
owned by awoman who was more or less a prostitute.

That night, after the meeting, my friend and I played cards
with her. When playing games, people often tell jokes. But
my friend and the woman joked about things we should not
have been talking about. | did notknow he knew so many dirty
jokes. Beforelong, ljoinedin. Justas|was aboutto leave
the cards for another game that | should not have even been
thinking of, my friend said in surprise, "I've never seen this
devilinyou before, Mohandas. Away with you!"

God was shouting at me through my friend. | was embar-
rassed by the truth of what he had said, but | secretly thanked
God forusing himin thisway. Remembering my promise to
my mother, I ran from the room like a rabbit from a fox.
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This was the first time any woman had made me want to
cheaton my wife. | was not able to sleep all night, as thoughts
raced through my head. Should | leave the hotel? Should |
leave the town? Whatkind of a place was this? Where would
lend up if | stayed there? | decided to do the safest thing and
notonly leave the hotel, but leave Portsmouth as well. | left
the next day, but my friend stayed on.

There was much about the way God works that | did not
know then, but | had arough understanding that, through my
friend's words, God had saved me. He has always been the
one to save me when | have been in spiritual danger.

I have a better understanding of God's grace today, but still
| feelthat | do not know the full meaning of it. As|continue
with God | am growing in my understanding of his grace.
When there is no other hope, no other friend, and nothing to
turn to, help arrives in some secret way from some secret
place thatis God. Prayer and worship are not empty actions.
They are more real than eating, drinking, sitting, or walking.
It would not be too much to say that prayer alone is real and
these other actions are the ones that are not real.

The prayer | am talking about here is not beautiful words
passing over cold lips. Real prayer comes from the heart. If
we empty our hearts of all but love, and keep a humble spirit
in all that we do, prayer moves from our hearts to God like
music. Such prayer does not need words. Itjust happens,
without any work on our part. Real prayer like this will always
wash our hearts clean. Butreal prayer happens only when
we know how weak we are and how strong God is.*

*Many Christians say that Gandhi did not understand God's
grace . But here he says religion cannot save us in the most
spiritually difficult times; only the grace of God can save us.
He says, too, that the kind of prayer that brings this grace is
not a "work" for which we could be proud. This s just what the
Christian church has always taught. D. M.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 21

1. True orfalse: Gandhibelieved that aright understanding
of God would protect people from sin.

2. How did God wake Gandhi up to how wrong he was
when he was being foolish with a woman when playing a
game with her?

3. What did Gandhi do the next day after almost sinning
with the woman he was playing cards with?

4. Finish this: "When there is no other hope, no other
friend, and nothing to turn to, help arrives in some secret
way from some secret place thatis ___."

5. Gandhisaid that real prayer just happens, without any
work on our part, and it washes our hearts clean. But it
only happens when we know two things. What are they?
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22. Narayan Hemchandra

About this time, Narayan Hemchandra came to Britain.
| had heard of this Indian writer, and | met him at a friend's
house. He did not know English. He wore loose pants that
were too big for him, a rough, dirty, brown coat like
Zoroastrians wear, a soft knitted hat, and along beard. He
was a short, thin man. His round face was badly marked
from a sickness that he had had when he was younger. His
hand was always playing with his beard. Such a strange
looking man was sure to be talked about by the people
around him.

" have heard much about you," | said to him. "l have
read some of your writings too. | would be very pleased if
you would visit me at my place."

Narayan had arough voice. With a smile on his face, he
said, "Yes, where do you stay?"

I told him, and we learned that we were neighbours. He
lived very close to me.

"I want to learn English. Will you teach me?" he asked.

"I will be happy to do all that | can to teach you. I can
come to your place if you like."

"Oh, no. I willcome to you," he said. "l will bring writing
paper with me." We agreed on a day to start his English
classes and soon we were close friends.

Narayan did not know the first thing about the rules of
language. To him "apple" was an action, and "swim" was
athing. | laughed over and over about such things as we
studied together. But he did not let such things rob him of
his great confidence. To him, my educationin the rules of
language was nothing, and eing uneducated in the same
rules was not at all important to him.

With his head up high he would say, "I've never been to
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school like you. Idon't need such things to say what I need
to say. Do you know Bengali? | do. I've travelled in
Bengal. And I've putthe words of Tagore into Gujarati. It
is my plan to put other great writings of the world into
Gujaratitoo. When | change abook from one language to
another, | do not study the words. | catch the spirit of what
is being said, and thatis what | use when writing the new
book. Inthe future others may do it better; fornow | am
happy with what I have been able to do without knowing
the rules of language. | know Marathi, Hindi, Bengali, and
now | am learning English. Do you think | will stop there?
No. | will go to France and Germany to learn their
languages, so | can use the writings of those countries
too." On and on he would talk, without stopping. There
was no end to his enthusiasm for learning languages and
for visiting other countries.

"And will you go to Americatoo?" | asked.

"Oh, yes! How can | return to India without visiting the
New World?"

"But where will you find the money to do it?"

"Why do | need money? | do not put on airs as you do.
I need only the smallest measure of food and the fewest
clothes to getby. Whatlittle | get from my books and my
friendsis enough. | always travel third class. On my way
to America | will sleep on the floor of the ship."

Narayan was in a special class of his own in the humble
way that he lived and the honest way that he talked. He
had no pride at all, apart from a little too much faith in how
good a writer he was!

We would spend time together each day. There were
many ways that we were the same in our thoughts and
actions. We were both vegetarians, so we would often eat
together. This was when I was living on very little money
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and cooking my own lunch. At times | would go to his
room, and at other times he would come to mine. | cooked
English food, but he would only eat Indian food. He could
not get by without dhal. | would make a soup of carrots and
other vegetables and he would feel sad that | must eat
such food. Iremember atime when he found some mung
beans. He cooked them and brought them to my room,
and | ate them with enthusiasm. From this, we started
taking food from one room to the other. | would take my
best dishes to him and he would bring his to me.

Atthis time there was much talk about Cardinal Manning,
who had helped some workers who were in danger of
losing their jobs. Narayan wanted to meet Cardinal
Manning.

"But heis avery important man. How can you think that
you would be able to meet him?" | asked.

"I will get you to write to him in my name. Tell him that
| am a writer and | want to meet him. Tell him that | must
take you with me because my English is not very good."

I tried it and it worked! A few days later we received a
card from Cardinal Manning giving us a time and place to
meet with him. | put on my best suit for the interview; but
Narayan was dressed the same as ever, in hisrough coat
and over-sized pants. | made fun of him, but he laughed
it off, saying:

"Yourich educated people all live in fear. But great men
like the Cardinal never look at what people are wearing.
They think only of a person's heart."

After shaking hands with the Cardinal, Narayan said a
few words in Gujarati and | changed the words to English
for the Cardinal. He said, "l do not want to take up your
time. I have heard alotabout you, and | wanted to come and
thank you for what you have done to help the workers here.
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In my travels | have tried to meet the great people of the
world, and thatis why | have taken your time today."

The Cardinal answered: "l am glad that you have come.
I hope your visitto London goes well and that you will meet
many people from here. God bless you."

With this the Cardinal stood up and said goodbye.

There was another time when Narayan came to my
place in a shirt and dhoti. The new house owner had not
met him before, and she answered his knock at the door.
She came running to me in fear.

"Some wild young man wants to see you," she said.

| went to the door and was surprised to see Narayan
dressed as he was. But he smiled as he always did and did
not show any sign of knowing how crazy he looked.

"Didn't children make fun of you on your way here?" |
asked.

"There were some children following after me," he said.
"But they were quiet, and | had no problem with them
walking behind me."

After a few monthsin London, Narayan wentto France.
He learned French and started changing French books
into Gujarati. | knew enough French to go through and
make some changes for him when he was finished. From
this | could see that he truly did not change the books word
for word. But he did have the spirit of what they were
saying.

Andinthe end he was able to visit America too. It was
very difficult to get a ticket to travel out on the floor of the
ship, but he did it. When he was in America, he went out
wearing only a shirt and a dhoti one day, as he had done
in London. A policeman took himto court for the way he
was dressed, but | seem to remember that the judge let
him off without punishing him.



NARAYAN HEMCHANDRA 93
QUESTIONS ON PART 22

1. What did Narayan Hemchandra want Gandhi to teach
him?

2. Finish this saying from Henchandra: "When | change
abook from one language to another, | do not study the
words. |l catchthe __ of whatis being said."

3. Why did Hemchandra not need much money to travel
as he did?

4. What two spiritual qualities put Hemchandrain a class
of hisown?

5. What reason did Hemchandra give for not wearing
special clothes when meeting Cardinal Manning?

6. What did Hemchandra wear in London, and again in
America, that made people think he was crazy and made
children laugh at him?
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23. The Great Show

There was a Great Show in Paris in 1890, and | had read
about it in the newspapers. | had been wanting to see
Paris, so this was a perfect time to go. There was much
to see, but most interest was in the Eiffel Tower. It was
almost athousand feet high. Many people had believed
that it was not possible to make such a tall thing out of
metal stand up safely.

| found aroomin avegetarian restaurantin Paris and
stayed there for the week | was there. | planned each day,
so as to use very little money. | did most of my travelling
on foot, with the help of a map. Inthis way | was able to
see most of the places of interest.

All l remember of the Show was that it was big and that
there were many things to see. | remember the Eiffel
Tower well because | went up ittwo or three times. There
was arestaurantinitand | wasted a lot of money to have
lunchinit, just so | could say that | had had my lunch so
farupinthe air.

Butthe old churches of Paris are what | remember most.
They were so great and so full of peace that | could not
forgetthem. The way that Notre Dame was built, and all
of the beautiful statues and other things inside it staysin
my mind too. | had the feeling that people who could
spend so much money on such a beautiful building must
have a lot of love for God.

Youread much about the clothes and night life of Paris,
but the churches are separate from all this. One can
forgetthe noise and business of the outside world when
inside a church. People seemed to change as they went
in. They would slow down and become more holy. Allthe
kneeling and praying that they do there must be more than
empty acts. Those humble people kneeling in front of a
statue of Mary must be worshipping more than the statue.
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They must have real love for God. | had the feeling then,
and | have it now, that their love foridols did not take away
from God, but that it added to the praise that God should
receive.

But | should say something about the Eiffel Tower.
There were people who did not like it, just as there were
people who praisedit. | rememberthat Tolstoy was the
one who wrote most strongly againstit. He said that the
Eiffel Tower showed how foolish people are, and not (as
they think) how smartthey are. He said thatthere is no art
about the Eiffel Tower. There is no way that it can be
argued that it made the Great Show more beautiful. The
reason so many people came to see it was just that it was
avery bigtoy. Foolish children always like toys, and the
Tower proved to the world that most people are just foolish
children at heart, who will waste their time on things that
have no good use. And as far as | know, thatis about all
that the Eiffel Tower is good for to this day.

QUESTIONS ON PART 23

1. Atthe Great Show in Paris in 1890, what did people show
mostinterestin?

2. What did Gandhi remember most from the Great Show?

3. Whatthings did people do in Paris that made Gandhi think
thatthey must have a lot of love for God?

4. Who did Gandhiremember writing against the Eiffel Tower
at the time of the Great Show?
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24. 'Called' — but then What?

I have not said anything up to now about the real reason
why I wentto Britain. | wentto be "called to the bar" (that s,
tobecome alawyer). | will say something about that now.

There are two things that you must do before you can be
called to the bar. You must pass your tests, and you must
"keep terms". The three years of study are broken up into
twelve terms. To keep terms means that each term you must
go to at least six dinners with other students and some
judges. Itwas notimportant that | eat, but | had to be there
and to stay for a measured length of time. The cost of the
meal was not much for most people, as it covered the cost of
wine as well as the food.

Those of us from India who know nothing of Western
"progress", are always surprised to hear that people would
pay more money for alcohol to go with their meals than they
would pay for the meal itself. When | first heard this | was
very surprised. | could not believe that people would waste
so much money on alcohol. After eating the food | started to
understand. The only food | could eat atthese dinners were
bread, boiled potatoes and cabbage, and | did not like any of
them. By the time | had learned to like them, | had enough
confidence to ask for other food.

The judges always had better food than the law students.
A Zoroastrian student who was also a vegetarian, and | asked
if we could have the vegetarian dishes that the judges were
served, and the judges agreed. Afterthat we started to get
fruitand other vegetables from their table too.

Students sat at tables of four, and each table had two
bottles of wine. Because | did not touch the drink, the other
students always wanted me to sit at their table with them, so
there would be more drink for them. Each term had one
special night when special wines were served, and those
were the nights when everyone most wanted to be my friend.
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| was not able to see then, and | cannot see now, what
these dinners had to do with being alawyer. There had been
atime when there were only a few students, and they used
the time to talk with the judges and learn things that would
help them when they finished their studies. In those days
students and others would give talks to go with the dinners
too. Much could be learned from giving the talks and from
listening to them. Butthese were things of the past by the
time |l was a student. We did not even sit with the judges, and
there were no special talks. The dinners had lost all of their
meaning; but because the English do not like to change, they
still have their dinners, without knowing why they do it.

The other part of becoming a lawyer was to pass the tests.
For me the studies were easier than the dinners. Everyone
knew the tests were of little use to anyone. We had one test
in Roman Law and one in English Law. Each was broken up
into four smaller tests over the year. There were books to go
with each test, but most students did not even read them. |
know of some who passed the Roman Law tests by studying
foronly two or three weeks, and some were able to pass the
English Law tests by studying for only two or three months.
The questions were easy and the teachers were generous.
Of a hundred students sitting for the Roman Law test, ninety-
five or more would pass. Seventy-five or more would pass the
English Law tests. There is no way that anyone could think
of them as being difficult.

Noone, thatis, butme! | made them difficult by trying to read
allthe books. Itdid not seemright notto, after paying so much
to buy them! I even decided to read the Roman Laws in Latin.
The Latin I had learned in my London high school studies made
this possible. Allthis reading helped me later in South Africa,
where they follow Roman Law much more closely.

| passed my tests, and was called to the bar on 10 June,
1891. | joined the High Courton 11 June;and on 12 June |
sailed for home.
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But for all of my studies, 1 did not feel confident as a lawyer.
There was no end to my fears.

QUESTIONS ON PART 24
1. What was the real reason that Gandhi went to Britain?
2. What must alaw student do to "keep terms"?

3. Why did the other students always want Gandhi to sit at
their table for the dinners?

4. What did Gandhi say he found to be easier than the
dinners?
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25. My Feeling of Fear

It was easy for me to become a lawyer; but it was difficult
forme tobe alawyer. | had read the laws, but | did not know
how to use themin a court. Here is one to show what | mean:
One of the general teachings of the law is that we should use
the things we own in a way that will not hurt others. To be sure,
itisavery good saying; but how could | use this to help the
person | was working for as alawyer? | had read about how
this was used by other lawyers in a court of law, but the
readings gave me no confidence to use it myself. It was like
this with so much that | had learned.

Whatis more, | was on my way back to India, and I did not
know a thing about Indian law. | had no understanding of
Hindu or Muslim law. 1did not even know how to do the paper
work for a court action. |was completely lost. | had heard of
agreatIndian lawyer, Pherozeshah Mehta. They said that his
voice was like that of alion when he talked in court. But how
could he have learned to do that by studying in the schools
where | had studied? | knew that it was out of the question for
me to ever be equal to him. My biggest worry was that | was
afraid | would not even be able to feed myself and my family
with what ability | had as a lawyer.

These feelings of fear and worry had been a problem when
| was in Britain. | had told some friends of my fears. One
friend said | should ask for help from a great Indian teacher
atour school. | had a letter that a friend in India had written
to him for me, but I had notused itto meet him at first, because
I did not believe it was right for me to use his time. |looked
up to him as agreatman. When he was to give a talk, | would
go and listen from a corner of the room, and leave full of
enthusiasm from the things that he had said. He started a
group for the students and | went to its meetings so that |
could come to know him better. | was glad to see how much
interest he had in the students, and how much they loved him.
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After some time | had worked up enough confidence to
give him the letter that | had been holding for so long. He
welcomed me, and said that | should feel free to come and
see him any time that | had a need.

But when my friend said that | should ask him for help
with my fears, | did not feel it was important enough to take
the man's time. Then someone encouraged me to ask for
help from another teacher, who loved Indian students too.
Thistime | decided to go. The man had helped many other
students, and | will not forget my interview with him.

He welcomed me as a friend, and he laughed away my
worries. "Do you think we all must be Pherozeshah
Mehtas?" he asked. "Such people are very difficult to find.
Restinthe truth that it does not take any special ability to
be as good as most lawyers. Honesty and hard work are
all that it will take for you to make a living from law. Most
of what you will do as a lawyer will not be difficult at all.

Then he wenton, "So tell me something about the books
thatyouread."

When | listed the few books | had read up to that time,
| could see by the look on his face that he was thinking that
maybe he had puttoo much confidence in me. Butitwas
only fora shorttime. Soon his face lighted up with a big
smile and he said, "l see what your problem is: You have
not read enough about things outside of your studies. You
do not have an understanding of real life. You do noteven
know the history of your own country. A lawyer should
know people, and how they think. You should be able to
understand people by studying their faces. And every
Indian should know about the history of India. | know that
these are not covered in your law studies; but these are
things that you need to know."

He listed some books that he believed | needed to read,
and two of them were about judging the spirit of a person
by studying the lines on their face.
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| was very happy about his interestin me. Thatinitself gave
me confidence when | was with him. Butas soon as | left him,
my worries returned. The nextday | bought one of the books
about understanding people by studying their faces. | found
the book more difficult to understand than my law books and
almostasboring. I studied whatit said, but found that | could
notuseittoreally understand people in the world around me.

Sowhat the man said for me to do did not help me; but still,
his kindness was a great help. His smiling, open face stayed
inmy mind, and | believed what he said about me not needing
the ability of Mehta to become a good lawyer. If honesty and
hard work were enough, then | could feel encouraged, for
these were two things that | did have.

I did not have time to read books about the history of India
when I was in Britain, but | did read them later, in South Africa.

So it was with this little touch of confidence, and a whole lot
of fear, that | landed in Mumbai.

A powerful wind was blowing when we landed, making the
oceanveryrough; sowe were forced to take a smaller boat
from the ship to the jetty.

QUESTIONS ON PART 25

1. What had Gandhi not studied in Britain, that he needed
to know to be a lawyer in India?

2. Why did Gandhi not ask the Indian teacher for help with
his fears about being a lawyer?

3. What question did a teacher ask that showed him what
he believed was the reason for Gandhi's weak confidence?

5. What two things did Gandhi have that the teacher said
he needed mostto be a good lawyer?
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Part 2.
Getting Started
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1. Raychandbhai

| said the ocean was rough in Mumbai when | landed. It
had been rough for much of the last part of our trip. Almost
all of the other travellers were sick. | alone was in perfect
shape. | liked standing out on the floor of the ship and
watching the waves break over the ship. At breakfasteach
morning there were only one or two people besides myself
eating their porridge, and we would put the bowl on our
knees to stop the porridge from landing there.

The storm outside was, to me, a sign of another storm
inside of me. But|do not think | was worried about either one.
| justknew that there was much that would have to be faced
when | landed. There was the trouble with the people from my
caste. There was the problem of my fears about starting work
as alawyerthat | have justwritten of. Andthenthere were my
thoughts of how to make things betterin India. Now that my
education was finished, it was time to start making changes,
and | was thinking about how | should go aboutit. Butthere
was even more than that waiting for me in Mumbai.

My older brother came to meet me when | arrived. He had
met Doctor Mehta, who was back in India by this time. Doctor
Mehta had said that | could stay at his house; so we went
straight there from the ship. The tie between Doctor Mehta
and myself continued on from Britain to India, and our two
families became very close friends over the years.

| had been looking forward to seeing my mother when |
returned, and hugging her to my breast. But what | did not
know was that she had died while | was in Britain. My
brother had not sent me word of her death because he did
not want me to go through such sadness while away from
my family. But it was still not easy for me to take the news.
It was worse than what | had felt when my father had died.
Most of my hopes about what | would do on returning
seemed to explode on hearing the news.
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Butlrememberthat | did not give myself up to any strong
show of emotion. | was even able to hold back the tears, and
I wenton living like nothing had happened.

I met some of Doctor Mehta's friends and relatives; but the
one that | want to write of here is the poet Raychand, who
married the daughter of Doctor Mehta's older brother. He was
not more than twenty-five years old at that time, but from my
first meeting with him | knew that he was a great man.

He also had an Indian name that means "one who can
remember a hundred things atthe same time". Doctor Mehta
encouraged me to see how much Raychand could remember.
| said as many words as | could remember in the different
languages of Europe, and then | asked the poet to say the
words back. He was able to say them all just as | had said
them to him. How I would have liked to be able to remember
things like that!

But I later learned that he had other qualities that | wanted
even more. They were his wide understanding of the holy
writings, his honesty, and his burning desire to be like God. |
saw later that this last quality was what he lived for. The
following lines from Muktanand were always on his lips and
were written deeply on his heart:

| will think of myself as blessed only when | see God in
every action that | do each day; for he is the thread that holds
up my life.

Raychandbhai's business was in jewelry, and he handled
very big sums of money. He was an expert in pearls and
diamonds. No business problem was too difficult for him. But
none of these was the great interest of his life. The great
interest of his life was his desire to see God face to face.

With all that was on his desk, there was always some
religious book, and there was always the book that he wrote
ineach day. As soon as any piece of business was finished,
he would open one book or the other.
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Many of his writings that people know of today came from
that book that he puttogether in the middle of his business
life. It was clearto me thatany person who could go straight
from a difficult business meeting to write about the secret
things of the spirit, as he did, was notreally a business man
at all, but one whose thoughts were locked on God and Truth
atalltimes. | saw him following God like this not one or two
times, but many times. I never saw himlose his peace in the
middle of all that was happening around him.

There was no selfish reason for him to be my friend, and yet
we were the closest of friends. | was only a young lawyer
without a job, but each time we met, he would bring me into
some serious religious thought that he was having. Atthe
time | was only feeling my way in the dark spiritually. It could
notbe said that | had a serious interestinreligious things. But
when Raychandbhai started to talk, my interest jumped.

| have now met many religious leaders and teachers
from around the world; but | must say that none of them
have moved me the way that Raychandbhai's words did.
They went straight to my heart. He was as smart as he
was sincere, and deep down | had the feeling that he
would never willingly lead me in the wrong way, that he
would always tell me the truth about what he was thinking.
Sowhen | was going through a difficult time spiritually, he
was the one | would turn to.

But even with this feeling of love and faith in him, | could not
make him my spiritual master. To this day, | have no master.
I believe in the Hindu teaching about how importantitis to
have a master if we are to grow spiritually. | think there is
much truth in the teaching that we cannot learn without a
master. But we should find the best possible master. Inlittle
thingsitis notimportant that ateacher be perfect, but | feel
thatin spiritual things only One who is perfectshould be our
Master. With such a master, we will never stop growing.
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People get teachers that are equal to their hunger for
spiritual things. Eternal movementtoward being perfectis
itsown reward. Allelseisinthe hands of God.

| could not make Raychandbhai my master, but we will
see how he was, at many times, my helper, pointing me in
the right direction. There are three living people who have
had the most effect on my life. Raychandbhai did it face
to face; Tolstoy did it through his book, The Kingdom of
GodisInside You; and Ruskin did it through his Up to this
Last. But | will say more of these later.

QUESTIONS ON PART 1

1. What were the three problems that Gandhi knew he
needed to face when he landed back in India?

2. What sad news did Gandhireceive when he returned to
India?

3. What three qualities did Raychand have that Gandhi
wanted to have?

4. What quality did Gandhi believe that a spiritual master
should have?

5. What three living people had the most effect on
Gandhi?



107

2. Starting My Life

My older brother had high hopes for me. He had a
strong desire for wealth and for a good name for the family
through me. He had a big heart too, and was more
generous than he should have been at times. This,
together with his easy-going spirit, made many friends for
him. He had been thinking that | would find a lot of jobs
working for these friends of hisin court. Believing that |
was going to be atop lawyer and that | was going to bring
in alot of money for the family, he had been spending too
much money. But he had done all that he could to prepare
for me to start my business, and now he believed that it
was up to me to make good.

As to the problems with our caste, the people in the
caste were of two minds about me. One group had no
problem with letting me return as a member. Butthe other
was serious about keeping me out. To please the friendly
group, my brother asked me to go through a special
washingin a holy river, and then to give a special dinner
for the members of our caste after we arrived in Rajkot. |
did not want to do this, but because of my brother's love for
me and my love for him, | did what he had asked, taking his
will to be law. But for me, the argument about me beingin
or out of the caste was finished after doing that.

I never tried to change the thinking of the group that did
not want me back as a member. | did notfeel anger toward
any of the leaders. Some of them did not like me, but | did
all that I could not to hurt their feelings. | believedin the
casterules about outcastes. By these rules, none of my
relatives were to eat with me, and I would not so much as
drink water attheir houses. They were prepared to cheat
onthe rule for me, but | did not like to do anything in secret
that | was not willing to do openly.
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Because | followed the rules, I never had problems with
othersinthe caste. Surprisingly, the opposite has beentrue.
Most of the people in the group that still thinks of me as an
outcaste have been loving and generous toward me as a
person. They have even helped me in my work without asking
forme to do anything to help the caste inreturn. I believe that
all of this comes from not fighting against what they decided.
If lhad tried to force my way back into the caste, it would have
made many more problems, with people hating me and
hating one another over it.

My wife and | still had problems when | returned. Even my
stay in Britain had not stopped me from wanting to own her.
| continued to see evil in every little thing, and because of this,
all the good that | wanted for her did not happen. | had
decided that she should learn to read and write, and that |
should help herin her studies. But my desires often camein
the way, and the plan was never finished. Once | even sent
her away, to stay with her parents. | received her back only
after | had made her very sad. It was some time later that |
saw the foolishness of my actions.

I had thought that change for India should start with the
education of our children. My brother had children, and my
own child was now a boy of almost four. | wanted to teach
these little ones physical exercises, and to make them strong,
while at the same time leading them in other ways. My
brother agreed with my plan and | was more or less able to do
what | had planned. | very much liked being with the children.
Playing and joking with children is something that | have liked
doing, to this day. Because of it, | feel that | would have been
agoodteacher of children.

| could see a clear need for changes to the way my
people ate. Tea and coffee were already in the house when
I returned. My brother wanted to keep some English ways
for me on my return, so the family had started to use
dishes and other things that were more English than Indian.
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My "changes" only ended up making us more English. |
started us eating porridge, and drinking hot chocolate. The
plan was for the chocolate to take the place of tea and coffee,
but, in truth, it was only added to them. The others were
already wearing shoes, and | completed the change by
wearing English clothes.

All of these changes cost us more money. Each day we
were adding new things that we did not need. It was like tying
awhite elephant to our door. But how were we to pay for all
ofthis? If I had tried to start work as a lawyer in Rajkot it would
have been ajoke. 1 did not know as much about Indian law
as the uneducated law workers that the people there were
already using, and yet | would be asking ten times as much
formy help. No one would be stupid enough to pay me. And
evenif there was someone stupid enough to pay it, it would
not have been right for me to take their money.

Friends said that | should go to Mumbai to study Indian law
andto getallittle work in the courts there. | agreed, and went.

In Mumbai, | started by getting a servant. Ravishankar was
from the priest caste and he was as bad a cook as I was. | did
not think of him as a servant, but as an equal with me.

He would pour water over himself, but never wash. His
dhotiwas dirty all the time, as was his holy thread, and he had
no understanding of the holy writings. But how was | to get
abetter cook?

"You do not know much about cooking, but as a member of
the priest caste you must know something about worship and
the holy writings," | said to him one day.

"Worship?" he said. "A shovelis our worship. Thatisthe
kind of priest that | am. If you do not keep me on as your
servant, | will be forced to return to the land."

So I became his teacher. | had more than enough time for it
atthis point. | started to do half of the cooking. I bought a stove
and tried some of what | had learned in Britain of vegetarian
dishes. We worked togetherin the kitchen and we ate together.
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I had no problem with eating with servants, and Ravishankar
had no problem with eating with an outcaste, and so we went
on happily together. The one problem | did have was that
Ravishankar never stopped being dirty in the way he lived
andinthe way that he cooked!

But | did not have enough money to stay in Mumbai for
more than four or five months. No money was comingin, at
the same time that more and more money was going out.

And this is how | started my working life. | found work as
alawyerto be abad job—much show and little understanding.
And | felt very bad about what | was doing.

QUESTIONS ON PART 2

1. True or false: Gandhi tried to return to his caste after
returning to India.

2. Where did Gandhi want to startin changing India?

3. What changes came to Gandhi's family that made them
more English than Indian?

4. Where did Gandhi go to learn about Indian laws?
5. Who did Gandhi teach in Mumbai?

6. Of whatjob was Gandhitalking when he said "much show
and little understanding".
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3. My First Job

While | was in Mumbai, | started studying Indian law at the
same time that | did experiments with vegetarian cooking. My
brother, for his part, was trying his best to get someone to pay
me to act as a lawyer for them.

The study of Indian law was boring. A friend would tell me
stories about great lawyers like Pherozeshah and Badruddin,
and these stories would only rob me of the little confidence
that | had.

"It often happens," my friend would say, "that a new lawyer
must wait up to seven years before he is able to start his own
business. You will be doing very well if you are able to work
onyourowninthree years'time."

| was not happy to have a board outside the house saying
that | was a lawyer when the truth was that | still did not
understand the law. My interestin Indian law was growing,
but | still did not have the confidence to argue in court. | felt
afraid and shy, like a woman must feel on her wedding night!

Aboutthis time I received my first job, a very small one. |
was told to pay money to a man who brought the woman to
me, but | did not feel this was right. |1 should not have to pay
someone else to bring business to me.

"But even the best lawyers, who make three or four
thousand rupees a month pay people to get jobs for them!" |
was told.

"Idon'tneedtodoastheydo," lanswered. "I'll be happy with
three hundred a month. My father did not get more than that."

"Buttimes are changing. It costs moretolive now. And this
is how everyone does business."

| would not give in. | gave the man no money, and the
woman gave me the job all the same. | asked for thirty
rupees, because the job did notlook like it would take more
thanone dayin averylow court.
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Onmyfirstdayincourt | had to ask questions of aman who
had said things againstthe woman. | stood up, but my heart
dropped into my shoes. My head was going around and
around, and | felt that the court was doing the same thing. |
could think of no questions to ask. The judge must have
laughed, and the other court workers must have liked the
entertainment; but | could not see athing. | sat down and said
that | could not do the job. The woman was forced to pay a
different lawyer fifty rupees to finish the job for me. I'm sure
he would have found itto be child's play.

I left the court without waiting to see how the woman went.
| was too embarrassed, and decided not to return until | had
enough confidence to do what needed to be done. 1did not
return to court work until | went to South Africa. Itis not that
| was too honest to go to court forthem. There really was no
one stupid enough to ask me to work for them in the first
place!

But 1 did do one other job in Mumbai before leaving. A poor
Muslim needed a special letter written to the government,
because land had been taken from him in Porbandar. He
asked me, as the good son of a good father, to help him. 1did
not feel that his arguments were good ones, but | agreed to
help him for free. When | had finished the letter, | read it out
to some friends and they were happy with it. That lifted my
confidence that | was at least able to say what needed to be
said on paper; anditis true that | was able to do that.

| could find a lot of business by writing free letters for
people; butitwould not pay what we owed. So Ithought about
taking a job as a teacher. My English was very good, and |
would have loved to teach English at a high school. | came
across ajob inthe newspaper that paid seventy-five rupees a
month to teach English one hour a day ata very good school.
I put my name in for the job and was called in for an interview.
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I wentin high spirits, but when it was learned that | had not
studied English at a university in India, they turned me down.

"But | passed the high school English tests in London
itself," I said. "And | passed Latin as well."

"True, but we want someone who has finished university
studies in English."

What could I do? There was no work, and my brother was
becoming worried. We both decided that there was no point
in me staying longer in Mumbai. | was to return to Rajkot,
where | could make a little money by writing letters and filling
in papers for people. Atleastit would putan end to the added
costs of me living in Mumbai. | agreed with the plan, and |
closed my business in Mumbai after a stay of only six months.

When | was in Mumbai, | had been going to the High Court
each day tolisten, in the hope that | would learn something
from it. But | did not understand enough about what was
going on to learn much fromit. Often | could not follow what
was happening and | would fall asleep. There were others
who would do the same thing, and | was less embarrassed
when | looked around to see them. After a time | stopped
feeling embarrassed aboutit atall, and | started to think of it
as very smartto sleepin the High Court!

Ifthere are other lawyers living in Mumbai, who do not have
enough work, I will tell them of something | did to save money
while there. | almost never travelled by coach ortram. | made
itaruletowalk to and fromthe High Court. From where | lived
itwas a forty-five minute walk. | had become used to the heat
of the sun by then, and the walk saved me the cost of travel.
Ontop of that, while many of my friends became sick when |
was there, | do notremember being sick myself at any time.
Even when | started to work as a lawyer, | continued to walk
to and from work, and it has helped me to stay healthy.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 3

1. True orfalse: Gandhihadto pay a man to bring him his first
job as alawyer.

2. How did Gandhi's first job as a lawyer finish up?

3. Where was Gandhi living when he next returned to work
inacourtas alawyer?

4. Gandhitried to find ajob doing different work. What job
did he think he would have loved doing?

5. What did Gandhi often do when he was at the High Court,
that embarrassed him at first?

6. What did Gandhi do to save on travel costs when he was
living in Mumbai?
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4. The First Eye-Opener

| felt bad about leaving Mumbai, but | was soon able to
make a little money in Rajkot filling in papers for people.
I made about three hundred rupees a month this way. But
I have to thank others for this business more than my own
ability. The man my brother worked with would send
people to meifthe job they needed done was an easy one.

To tell the truth, in Rajkot | did not follow the rule | had
made for myself while in Mumbai, about not paying anyone
to give me work. | was told that it was different in Rajkot.
In Mumbai we had been asked to pay people who did
nothing more than send people to us. Here, my brother, or
someone from his company, would tell me more about the
job before giving itto me, and | was to give them something
inreturn for their help. My brother had another argument
forwhich I had no answer. He said that he would naturally
give all the work he could to me, and because my money
was his money and his money was my money, it made no
difference if | did not give him money for the work he was
sending my way. Butitwas notright thatthe man he was
working with did not receive something for it, as he would
if the jobs were sentto a different lawyer. 1 gave into this
argument, and feltthat if | was to work as a lawyer at all,
I would be forced, at times like this, to break the rule | had
made for myself. Thatis how | argued with myself, but to
say it more clearly, itis how | lied to myself. | should add
that 1 do notremember ever paying anyone to send work
to me after that time with my brother in Rajkot.

By filling in papers for people, | was soon able to make
both ends meet. Butlreceived my first eye-opener about
life in the real world around this time. | had heard stories
about the English officers in India, but up to this time | had
never been face to face with one in India.
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My brother had a problem with the government about
something he had said to a leader in the past, and it was
hanging over his head. The English court officer who was to
decide whatto do aboutit did not like my brother. | had met
this officer when he was in Britain, and he had been very
friendly with me atthattime. My brother thought that | should
go to this officer and putin a good word for him, so that the
officer would not be so hard on him. I did not feel good about
trying to use the good feelings between this officer and myself
to change his thinking toward my brother. | argued that, if my
brother really did something wrong, then it was not right for
me to try to change things. And if he did nothing wrong, then
he should be confident of that, and go through the steps that
were needed to clear himself. My brother was not happy with
this. "You don'tknow what life is like here," he said. "Being
right or wrong does not count. All that counts is who you
know. Itis notrightto hold back from putting in a good word
foryour own brother to an officer who is a friend of yours."

| disagreed, but | went to see the officer anyway. | knew
itwas wrong to try to change the thinking of a court officer
in this way, but | asked for an interview and was able to get
one. Heremembered me from Britain, but from the start
| could feel a difference in his spirit. An officer away from
his job in Britain is not the same as one on the job in India.
He remembered me, but that in itself seemed to make him
less friendly here. It was like his first thought was, "You
must be going to use our friendly meetings in Britain to get
something selfish from me now."

All the same, | started to talk about my brother.

"Your brotheris atrouble-maker," he said. "l do not want
totalkto you aboutit. If he has something to say, let him say
it himself."

Maybe what he said was true, but when we are being self-
ish we are often blind to the truth. So | went on with my story.
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The officer stood up and said, "You must go now."

"But please hear me out," | said. That made him more
angry. He called a servant and told him to show me to the
door. I was still talking when the servant came in, placed his
hands on my shoulders, and put me out of the room.

| left the building feeling very angry with my old friend.
When | was outside, | wrote a short letter and sent it to him by
hand. It went something like this, "Your actions have made
me very angry. You have used your servant to physically hurt
me. If you do nothing to fix this problem between us, | will be
forced to take court action againstyou."

His answer came straight back through another one of his
servants: "What you did was wrong. | asked you to leave and
you would not go. | had no choice but to tell my servant to
show you to the door. Even after he asked you to leave, you
did notgo. You made him use just enough force to get you
out. Feelfree totake any action against me that you choose."

With his letter in my pocket, | came home and told my
brother what had happened. He feltbad about it, but did not
know how to make me feel better. He asked his friends for
help, because | did not know how an Indian would go about
taking action against an English court officer. It happened
that Sir Pherozeshah Mehta had come down to Rajkot from
Mumbai around this time for some other business. | sentmy
papers to him, asking him what | could do.

The word | received back through another worker was this:
"Tell Gandhithat this is the way English court officers often
acttoward Indian lawyers. Gandhithinks he is still in Britain.
He is too hot-blooded. He doesn't know English officers. If
he wants to work here without problems, he will rip up the
letter and forget what happened. He'll win nothing by taking
action, and could easily destroy his future instead. Tell him
he has much to learn about life."

The truth was like poison, but | was forced to drink it.
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| turned the other cheek, and | learned from it. | said to
myself, "Never again will | think of myself so highly, and
never again will I try to use a friend in this way." And from
thattime, I have never been guilty of breaking that promise.
This eye-opener changed the whole direction of my life.

Itistrue that | was wronginthe first place for going to the
officer. But his anger had been far too strong for what | did.
He did not need to physically kick me out of the room. | was
not there more than five minutes. But he was too proud to
give me even that much time. He could have asked me kindly
to go, but power had made him crazy. Later | learned that he
was like this with many of his visitors. The smallestthing was
enough to make him explode.

Most of my work was going to be in his court, and there
was nothing | could do to make him my friend again. |
would not say nice things to him just to get around his proud
spirit. Having said | would take action against him, | felt it
was now difficult enough just to be quiet and say nothing.

Atthe same time, | was starting to learn something about
the small minded power interests of the country. Little fights
between one leader and another were everywhere. Leaders
could not hold power without the help of servants, who were
their eyes and ears. These servants would tell the leaders
who were their friends and who were their enemies, who to
help and who notto help. Inthis way, the servants often had
more power (and more money from those who wanted to be
onthe list of "friends") than the leaders themselves.

Living in a place like this was like breathing in air that was
filled with poison. How could | keep it from destroying me, or
from making me like the others?

| was very sad, and my brother could see it. We both
thought a good job might free me from all of this cheating
and in-fighting. But without joining in the secret fights and
selfish plans of different leaders, | would never be able to
move up from being a lawyer to being a judge or a minister.
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And my fight with the English officer was in the way of my even
being able to work as alawyer.

I had some business to do in Porbandar for some farmers
and for the Indian prince for that part of the country. The
officer | had to see was an Indian, but | found him to be worse
thanthe English officerin Rajkot. He had ability, but his ability
was not being usedto help the poor farmers. There seemed
to be almost no interestin the needs of the people. But what
could I do aboutit? The best|could have done was to turn
to the English officers over the Indian officer for help. But all
they would have said would be, "We will not become a part of
thisargument." There were no rules to say what the English
officers should or should not do, and anything they might
choose to do became the "law". Thatwas all there was toit.

[ feltlike I had been pushedto the end of what | could take.

Then acompany from Porbandar wrote to my brother the
following letter: "We are a big company doing business in
South Africa. We have an argument before the court there
that has been going on for a long time. We have lawyers
working for us there, but if your brother could go from here, he
would be able to talk to these lawyers for us better than we
could talk ourselves. He would be able to help us and to help
himselftoo. He could see a new part of the world and make
new friends there."

My brother talked to me about it. It was not clear if they
wanted me to talk in court or if | only needed to talk to the
lawyers who were to do the talking in court. But | was
interested.

| talked to one of the heads of the company.

"ltwon't be a difficultjob," he said. "We have many friends
there from Europe, and you can talk to them for us. Many of
the lettersto us are in English, and you can help us in that too.
We will pay for your food and room and everything else that
you will need while you are there."
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"How long do you want me to stay there, and how much
will you be paying me?" | asked.

"Not more than ayear. And we will pay for your ticket
there and back, all of the costs while you are there, and
give you £105 on top of that."

| was clearly not being paid as alawyer. | was little more
than a servant of the company at that price. But | wanted
to leave India, and it would be interesting to see a new
country. | could at least give the whole £105 to my brother
to be used for the family in India. | agreed without any
argument, to what they had promised, and | started to
prepare myself to go to South Africa.

QUESTIONS ON PART 4

1. Did Gandhiever break his own rule about not paying
anyone to send work to him?

2. What were the two arguments that Gandhi's brother
gave for asking him to putin a good word for him with the
English court officer?

3. How did the meeting with the English court officer finish
up?

4. In Britain, a lawyer would not be physically forced out
of an office over a little thing. Who told Gandhi that
English court officers often acted differently toward Indian
lawyers?

5. If he wanted to be a lawyer, he would need to work in
the same court where the court officer did not like him.
What happened to help Gandhi get away from this problem?
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5. The Trip to South Africa

It was not as difficult for me to leave my family to go to
South Africa as ithad been when | left for Britain. My mother
was now no more. | now knew more about travel and about
the ways of other countries, and the trip from Rajkot to
Mumbai at the start of my trip was no longer a strange trip.

But I still had the pain of leaving my wife. Another baby
had been born to us after my return from Britain, so you
could notyet say that our love was free from sex. Butitwas
slowly becoming more perfect. From the time | returned
from Europe, we had not lived together much, and we both
felt a need to be together more if for nothing more than to
continue with the teaching that | had started with Kasturbai,
poor asitwas. Butthe pull of South Africa was enough to
make me willing to go through the pain of being away from
Kasturbai. "We will be back together againinayear," | said
to her, to make her feel better, before | left Rajkot for
Mumbai.

| was to buy afirst class ticket on a ship to South Africa
through a company in Mumbai. Butwhen | arrived, they said
there were no cabins left on the ship. If I did notfind aroom
on the ship,  would be on my own again in Mumbai, waiting
for the next ship.

The company said that they would give me a ticket to
travel and sleep outin the open on the floor of the ship, but
in those days | was too proud for that. A lawyer does not
travel like that! | could not believe what the company was
telling me, so | asked if | could go on the ship and ask around
for myself. They agreed and | went onto the ship, where |
met the first officer. He said that animportant government
leader from Africa was travelling on the ship, and that was
why it was so full.

"Canyou possibly squeeze me in somewhere?" | asked.
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The first officer studied me from head to toe before
saying, "Thereis justone way. Thereis abedin mycabin
thatdonotuse. I willletyou use that." | thanked him and
bought my ticket. In April, 1893, | left Mumbai full of
enthusiasm to see what was ahead for me in South Africa.

The first stop, after thirteen days, was in Lamu.

I had become good friends with the Captain of the ship by
this time. He liked to play chess, but he was new to the
game. If he was to win, he would have to find a player who
knew less about the game than he did. | was the perfect
person forthe job. | had heard alot about the game, but had
never tried my hand atit. l understood that it was a very good
way to exercise the brain, so | was happy to let the Captain
teach me. Iwas agood student, and I lost every game. That
made the captain even more enthusiastic to teach me. |
liked the game, but | did not continue playing it after leaving
the ship, and | never learned more than how to move the
pieces.

The ship was to stop in Lamu for only three or four hours,
but | wanted to see what the people were like. Some of us
wentin asmall boatto the beach, but the captain said that
we should planto return early, because it was often hard to
get from a small boat back onto the ship when the waters
were rough.

It was a small place. | was happy to see Indian workers
there, and | talked with them for a time. | also studied the
people of Africa and the way they lived. That was very
interesting.

| had met some of the poorer people who had been
sleeping out on the floor of the ship, and they had left the
ship with me because they wanted to cook a meal for
themselves, something they could not do on the ship. After
they had had a quiet meal, we all started back toward the
ship in a small boat.
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There were too many of us for the boat, and it was riding
very low in the water. The water was sorough that we were
not able to hold the boat to the ladder hanging down the side
of the ship. Each time we would touch the ladder, the boat
would move away again.

The first whistle sounded, to say that it was time for the ship
toleave. lwasworried. The Captain could see our problem
from up above, and he stopped the ship for five minutes to
wait forus. There was another smaller boat near us, and for
tenrupees, it agreed to take me to the ship. By this time the
ladder had been pulled up, and | was pulled up by a rope.
When | was safely on the ship, it pulled away, leaving the
other people behind. I now saw how important the Captain's
words had been about returning early!

From Lamu we wentto Mombasa and then Zanzibar. We
were to wait eight or ten days in Zanzibar before changing to
adifferent ship.

The Captain liked me very much, but that worked against
me when we landed in Zanzibar. He asked a friend and
myselfto come with him for an outing. 1did notknow where
he planned to go, and the Captain did not know how stupid |
was, so | agreed to go with him. We ended up in the rooms
of some Black prostitutes. Heaven only knows what the poor
woman must have thought of me; for | was not able to say a
word and | just stood there in her room, saying nothing. When
the Captain called for me, | came out of the room as | was
when | wentin. He could see that | had done nothing.

Atfirstl was very much embarrassed to let him know that
I had done nothing. Butas | thought more aboutit, | could see
that it was nothing to be embarrassed about. | should have
been more embarrassed for having been so weak as to have
agreedto gointothe woman'sroomin the first place. | have
thanked God since, that seeing the woman had not moved me
inthe least.
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So this was the third time that | had faced the same test.
How many other young men have faced the same test and
done the wrong thing only because they were afraid of
what their friends would think of them. Again, | could not
say that | did anything special to save myself. If | had been
strong enough notto go into the room in the first place,
then I might have been able to say that | took a stand for
what was right. But again, all of the praise goes to God for
saving me. This made my faith in God stronger, and |
learned something about the false feeling of guilt that we
get when we worry about what our friends will think of us.

In what was left of my time in Zanzibar | walked around
alotandlooked at what | could see. | was surprised at how
big the trees were and how big their fruit was as well.

Afterleaving Zanzibar, we stopped at Mozambique, and
then, toward the end of May, we arrived in South Africa.

QUESTIONS ON PART 5

1. True or false: Gandhibelieved that sex was a part of
perfect love.

2. Whose cabin did Gandhi travel in on his trip to South
Africa?

3. What did Gandhilearn from the captain of the ship on
his way to South Africa?

4. What happened to the poor people who had left the boat
with Gandhifor a short visitto Lamu?

5. Where did the boat captain take Gandhiin Zanzibar?
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6. Some Happenings

Abdulla Sheth, the brother of the man | was working forin
India, met me when we landed in Durban. As our ship was
comingin, and as friends and relatives were coming on to
meet the people travelling on the ship with me, | could see
that people acted in a different way toward Indians than
what they did toward other people on the ship. It hurt me to
see people acting toward Abdulla Sheth like they were
better than him. Abdulla did not have a problem with it,
because he had learned to live with it. As for myself, people
looked at me with a special interest because | was wearing
aturban, something that other Indians did not wear there.

| was taken to my room, which was beside Abdulla's room.
He did not understand why | was there, and | did not really
know either. He read the papers that his brother had sent with
me; but they only confused him. He believed his brother had
sent him a white elephant. Because, apart from my turban, |
dressed like people from Europe, he believed that my tastes
were too expensive. He did not have any work to give me at
thattime. The court action was happening in Pretoria, many
miles away. There was no point in sending me there too
quickly. He did not yet know how much faith he should have
in me, or how much ability I had. If he sent me to Pretoria, he
could not be there to watch me. The people we were fighting
inthe courts lived there, and they might try to find ways to win
me over to their side if he were not there to watch me.

Butif | was not going to help in the court action, what
was | todo? Abdulla already had servants who could do
the other work better than me. He knew how to control
them. Butif | did something wrong, would he be able to
punish me for something that was not my job in the first
place? So with no work for me to do, Abdulla was forced
to house and feed me in return for nothing.
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Abdulla was not well educated, but he had learned
much from life. He was very smart, and he knew it. He had
learned just enough English to get by when talking with
people. And with what little English he knew, he was able
to do business with bank managers and rich business men
from Europe, as well as being able to tell his lawyers the
important points to argue in court. Indians thought very
highly of him. He had one of the biggest (if not the biggest)
Indian businesses in South Africa. But he had one bad
quality — he found it difficult to put faith in people.

He was proud of his religion and loved to talk about the
teachings of Islam. He did not know Arabic, but he had agood
general understanding of the writings of Islam. Abdulla
always had a good story to tell to make his teachings easier
toremember. |learned much about Islam from my time with
him. Later, when we were much closer, we had long talks
aboutreligious things.

Two or three days after | arrived, Abdulla took me to the
Durban court, where we met a few different people. Inthe
court, | satbeside Abdulla's Durban lawyer. The judge looked
at me for some time before telling me to take off my turban.
I would not do as he said, and | left the court before | would
take it off.

So here, too, it looked like there would be things to fight
about.

Abdulla later told me why some Indians had to take off their
turbans and others did not. He said that if they were dressed
as Muslims, it was okay to wear a turban. But other Indians
were forced to take their turbans off when in court.

| will take time here to clear up why there was a difference
between one turban and another. In my firsttwo or three days
in Durban, I had come to see that there were different groups
of Indians. One group was made up of Muslims, who were
business men. These people liked to callthemselves "Arabs".
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Then there were the Hindu and Zoroastrian office workers.
Zoroastrian office workers liked to call themselves "Per-
sians". Hindu office workers could become part of the
"Arab" group if they chose. If they did not, then they were
a separate group from the other two (as Hindus). These
three groups of educated Indians often made friends of
one another.

But the biggest group of Indians were those who did
humble physical work with their hands. The other three
groups of Indian office workers did not make friends of
Indians in that group. The English name for these
uneducated Indians is "coolies", and because most of the
Indians in South Africa were in this class, all Indians
received the name "coolies" at times, or "samis".

"Sami"is a word that comes after many Tamil names.
What it really means is "master"; but when the white
people used that name, they would do so in a cruel way,
thinking that they were putting us down, and showing that
they were better than us by using it. A smartIndian could
confuse the people who called him sami by saying, "ltis
kind of you to call me sami, but you should understand that
the word means 'master', and | am not really your master."
This would make the English angry, because the last thing
they wanted to do was to think of Indians as masters!

Solwascalled a"coolie lawyer" and the Indian business
men were called "coolie business men". In this way, the
word "coolie" stopped meaning an Indian who does humble
work with his hands, and started meaning any Indian. The
Muslim business men did not like this, and they would say,
"lam notacoolie. laman Arab," or"l am a business man."
And some of the better English people would stop calling
them coolies. Inthis way they started to think of Muslim
business men as being in a class of their own. But we
Hindus could not honestly say that we were Arabs.
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My turban was importantin the light of all this. Forcing
one Indian to take off his turban, at the same time that
other Indians (thatis, Muslim business men) were free to
wear their turbans, was a way of saying that the Indian in
question was from a lower class, one that could and
should be putdown. Itlooked like the best thing for me to
do was to drop the turban and buy an English hat, so that
I would not have to humble myself in court each day by
taking my turban off.

But Abdulla did not see itthat way. He liked the thought
of an Indian lawyer wearing a turban. He said, "If you give
in, it will make it harder on any other Indian who wears a
turban. Youlook goodin aturban. If youwear an English
hat, you will look like a waiter."

Abdulla showed his smartness, his love for his country,
and a little touch of narrow thinking in saying this. He was
smart enough to understand what was going on; he loved
his country enough to think about how the action of taking
off my turban would hurt other Indians; and he was narrow
enough in his thinking to look down his nose on Indian
waiters.

There were three groups of worker Indians (or "coolies").
There were Hindus, Muslims, and Christians. The last
group were those who had come over as agreement
workers and then changed their religion to become
Christians. Evenin 1893 there were a lot of them. They
would dress like the English, and most of them would get
special jobs working as waiters in hotels. What Abdulla
was saying about me wearing a hat was a way of putting
down the Indians in this class. Even today many Indians
look down on Indians who work as waiters in hotels.

But on the whole, | liked what Abdulla said. | wrote to the
newspapers about what had happened inthe court, and | said
that all Indians should be able to wear their turbans in court.
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There was a lot said aboutitinthe papers, and they said
| was a "visitor who is not welcome here". Sojustafew
days after | had arrived in South Africa, people were
already talking about me. Some agreed with me, but
others disagreed strongly with my proud spirit.

My turban stayed with me for most of the time that | lived
in South Africa. We will see later when and why | stopped
wearing any hat at all in South Africa.

QUESTIONS ON PART 6

1. What did Gandhi think were Abdulla's reasons for not
sending him straight to Pretoria?

2. What was the one bad quality that Gandhi saw in Abdulla?

3. What part of his clothes was Gandhi asked to take off when
he was in a courtin South Africa?

4. What were the names for the three different groups of
Indian office workers?

5. What two names were often used in a cruel way for all
Indians?

6. What was different about the religion of most Indians who
worked as waiters in South Africa?

7. What did Gandhi do to make many people in South Africa
think about the rule against Hindu Indians wearing turbans?
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7. My Trip to Pretoria

I met some Christian Indians in my first few days there
in Durban, as well as some Zoroastrian Indians.

And then the company received a letter from their
lawyer in Pretoria, saying that Abdulla should go to Preto-
riaor send someone to help with preparing the arguments
inthe court action. Abdulla asked if | would go. | wanted
to study what the company planned to do first, and he
asked an office worker to help me with what I needed.

As | started to study, | had the feeling that | did not
understand a thing about what was going on. | knew
nothing about book keeping; and that was what the whole
argument was about. How could  understand the different
parts of the argument without understanding the books.
The more Abdulla's office worker tried to teach me, the
more confused | became. He would use words that | could
not find in the dictionary because they are only used by
people working with numbers and sums. So | bought a
book on keeping sums for a company, and | studied it.
That gave me some confidence, and soon | felt that | was
ready to go to Pretoria.

Abdulla was worried that the man we were fighting
against would find some way to read letters between
myself and him; but | promised that | would do all | could
to keep everything secret.

"But | will be trying to talk to the man," | said. "l want to
do all that I can to be friendly with him. He is your relative,
you know, and | will be encouraging him to come to an
agreement with you outside of the court."

| had been in Durban for a week, and Abdulla was
starting to understand that | knew my business. But he
was surprised that | believed | could come to an agree-
ment with the man without going to court.
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"Thereis nothing that | would like better," he said. "Butwe
are relatives, and we know each other very well. Heis notone
toback down easily. If he learns that we are willing to meet
half way, he will think we are afraid of losing, and he will
become even harder; he'll ask for even more. Please think
seriously before you say anything to him."

"Don'tworry about that," said I. "I don't need to talk about
the arguments themselves. | would only talk to him about the
good that can come to both of you by coming to an agreement
outside of the court."

So, afteronly seven or eight days in Durban, | left on the
train. Ihadafirstclassticketto Johannesburg. Most people
pay alittle more and get blankets with their ticket. But out of
pride, and because | wanted to save a little money, | said |
would not pay more for something | did not need. Abdulla did
not think | needed to cut corners in this way. "This is not
India," he said. "Thank God that we have more than enough
money to pay for little things like this."

I thanked him and asked him not to worry about me.

The train arrived in Maritzburg at about 9 p.m. This is
where the blankets were handed out to people. A servant
came to ask me if [ wanted a blanket, and | said that | did not.
Then anothertraveller came and looked me up and down. He
saw my dark skin and he did not like it. Out he went, and he
came back with one or two officials. They were all quiet when
another official came to me and said, "Come along. You must
gotothe third class car."

"But I have afirst class ticket," | said.

"That means nothing," said the man. "I'm telling you that
you must go to the third class car."

"This is where they put me at Durban, and thisis where |
will stay."

"No, youwon't," said the official. "If you don'tleave, | will
call apoliceman to throw you off the train."
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"Go ahead and dowhatyou like. I will notleave here of my
own free will."

The policeman came and pulled and pushed me out of the
train. My bags were put out too, and the train left me there in
Maritzburg. The station master putthe bags in his office, and
I wentto sitin the waitingroom. It was winter and Maritzburg,
beinginthe hills, was very cold. My coatwas in my bag, but
I would not ask forit, because | did not want to humble myself
before the officials. So | sat shakingin the cold all night.

Through the night I thought about what | should do. | could
stand and fight for what was right. | could return to India. Or
| could bury my pride, do my business in Pretoria and then
returnto India. It would be wrong to return to India without
doing what | had been sent there for. Travelling third class
was not so bad initself. The real problem was much deeper
than my little problem. It was in the thinking of the people. |
would make plans to fight the sickness | had come to see in
the country; but I would not worry too much about the pains
that I might go through on the way. So | decided to catch the
train to Pretoria the following night.

Inthe morning | sent atelegram to the Manager of Trains
in Durban, and another one to Abdulla about what had
happened. Abdulla and the Manager had a talk the same
day. The Manager tried to say the officials had done the
rightthing. But he also sent word for no one to stop me from
finishing my trip in first class. Abdulla sent atelegram to
some Indian businessmen in Maritzburg, telling them about
what had happened to me. They came to the station that
day and encouraged me with stories about things they too
had been through. That whole day I listened to how Indians
who want to travel first or even second class in South Africa
face problems with the officials. That night the train arrived,
and this time I made a point of paying for a blanket!

The train went as far as Charlestown.



MY TRIP TO PRETORIA 133
QUESTIONS ON PART 7

1. Gandhineededto buy a book and study it, before he could
understand what was happening in the court action in Pretoria.
What was the book about?

2. What did Gandhi believe he could do about the court
action, that surprised Abdulla?

3. Why was Abdulla afraid to let his relative know that he
wanted to come to an agreement without going to court?

4. Gandhi had a first class train ticket from Durban to
Johannesburg (near Pretoria). What did an official tellhimto
do when the train stopped in Maritzburg?

5. What happened to Gandhi when he did not obey the
official?

6. True or false: Gandhi travelled first class as far as
Charlestown.
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8. More Problems

We arrived at Charlestown the next morning. There was no
line between Johannesburg and Charlestown, so my ticket
covered the cost of a coach for that part of the trip. When |
left Durban, | had planned to take an earlier coach; but my
ticket was good for any day. Besides, Abdulla had sent a
telegram to the coach company in Charlestown to tell them |
would be one day late.

But the official there used the change in plans to say my
ticketwas no good. | stood my ground. There was more than
enough room for me in the coach, but he had other reasons
for trying to stop me. Inthe end he agreed to take me.

People with tickets travel inside the coach, but because |
was a "coolie" and looked like a stranger, the "leader" (as the
white official travelling with the coach was called) did not want
me travelling with the Whites inside the coach.

There were open places to sit on each side of the coach
box. Most of the time the leader would travel on one of these
and his servant on the other. Butthistime he travelled inside,
and he forced me to take his place outside. | knew it was just
anotherway to put me down, but | decided to pocketit. | could
not have forced my way inside, and if  had argued, the coach
would have left without me. | would have lost another day,
and heaven only knows what would have happened the
followingday. So, angry as | was, | sat quietly outside as the
coach left Charlestown.

Atabout 3 p.m. we stopped, and the leader decided that he
was going to come out to smoke and to breathe the open air.
He took a piece of dirty cloth from the driver, put it on the foot
board, and said to me, "Sami, you siton this. I'll sithere now."
It was more than | could take.

With fear in my heart about what it would lead to, | said,
"You put me here in the first place. | should be sitting inside.
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But | put up with that. Now you want to sit outside and
smoke, so you tell me to sit at your feet. | won'tdo it. If
you want to sit here, then | will sitinside."

As | was saying this, the man came down heavily on me,
hitting me on the sides of my head. He took hold of my
arms and tried to pull me down from where | was sitting,
but | was hanging onto the metal border of the coach box,
and | was not goingtoletgo evenifl ended up breaking
my wrists by doing it. The people inside could see what
was happening. The man was shouting dirty words at me,
pulling at me and hitting me, and | was doing nothing. He
was strong and | was weak. Some of the travellers were
moved to protect me. "Stop hitting him!" they shouted.
"He has done nothing wrong. He'sright, you know. If he
can't stay there, let him come and sit with us."

"No way!" said the leader. But he had been embar-
rassed enough, and he stopped hitting me.

He let go of my arm, shouted at me a little more, and
then asked the servant who had been sitting at the other
side of the coach box to sit on the foot board so that he
could sit where the servant had been sitting.

With a blow of the whistle, the coach started up. My heart
was hitting against my ribs, and | was starting to fear that |
would notlive out the trip. The leader would look at me angrily
every now and then. We were to stop for the night in
Standerton. He pointed his finger at me and said, "When we
arrive in Standerton | will show you what | can do." | said
nothing and prayed that God would help me.

| breathed more easily when we arrived in Standerton and
| saw some friendly Indian faces waiting for me. Abdulla had
sent atelegram to these people, asking them to meet me and
to take me to a friend's shop. | told them about what had
happened and they too had stories to tell about hard times
thatthey had been through.
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| wrote a letter to the Standerton coach company official,
telling him all that had happened and about the man's promise
to hurt me. lasked himto travel with us on the next leg of the
trip, to see that there were no problems; and | asked him to
let me sitinside with the other travellers when we left the next
morning. The official told me that | would be travellingina
different coach the following day and it would have a different
leader. He said that | would be able to travel inside. | was
happy enough with this, and no more action was taken.

I had a nice trip the next day and arrived in Johannes-
burg safely that night.

Abdulla had sent atelegram to friends in Johannesburg
too; butitis a big city, and | missed them. | knew where
Abdulla's shop was, but | decided to go to a hotel. | went
to one and asked the manager foraroom. He looked at me
for a few seconds and then said very nicely, "l am afraid
that we do not have aroom. We are full."

So ldecided to gotothe shop after all. Abdulla's friend,
Abdul Gani, was there waiting for me. He gave me a warm
welcome and had a good laugh over the story of what had
happened at the hotel.

"How is it that you thought they would give you a room
in a hotel?" he asked.

"Why not?" | asked in return.

"You will come to know why not after you have stayed
here for afew days," he said. "Only we business men can
live in aland like this, because, for money we will let our
pride be broken." He then went on to tell me more stories
of what Indians must go through in South Africa.

Abdul Gani said, "This country is not for people like you.
You will be leaving for Pretoria tomorrow. Here in the
Transvaal itis even worse for Indians than it was in the
State of Natal [where Durban is]. They never sell first or
second class tickets to Indians here, so you must agree to
travel third class tomorrow."



MORE PROBLEMS 137

"But have you really tried to change things?" | asked.

"We have sent letters; but for the most part we would not
want to travel with the people who go first class anyway."

Thatday | had agood look atthe trainrules. They were not
very clear one way or the other.

| said to Abdul Gani, "l want to go first class. If | cannot,
then | will take a taxi. Itis only thirty-seven miles."

Abdul Gani agreed to help me. We sent a servant with a
letter to the station master. Initlsaid that | was alawyer, and
that | always travelfirst class. | said that | would be coming
to the station, and | wanted a first class ticket to be waiting for
me when | arrived. | had areason for not "asking" for a ticket.
It would have been very easy for him to send back word
through the servant saying that | could not have a ticket for
onereasonoranother. Butif | came to the station in my best
English clothes and talked to him in my best English, it might
help to change his thinking about "coolies" being uneducated.
| went to the station in a coat and tie, put my money on the
counter, and asked for a first class ticket.

"Was that letter from you?" asked the station master.

"Yes,itwas," | said. "l am needed in Pretoria today, and |
would like a ticket."

He smiled. Then, moved with feeling for me, he said, "I'm
not from this part of the world. I'm from Europe. | know how
you must feel, and | do want to give you a ticket. But before
I doit, you must promise that you will notbring me into itif any
of the officials on the train argue with you over the ticket. You
must not take action against the train company, or | could lose
my job. | can see by looking at you that you are an educated
person, and | hope that you have a safe trip."

I thanked him and agreed to do what he had asked.

Abdul Ganiwas happily surprised, but he said, "l don't think
the ticket will make much difference. If the official does not
send you to the third class car, the other travellers will.
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When the train came, | went and satin the first class car,
and the train started. A while later an official came to see
everyone's tickets. He was angry to see me in the first class
car and, with amovement of his finger, he told me to go to the
third class car. | showed him my first class ticket. "l am not
interested in that," he said. "Go to the third class car."

It happened that there was only one other personin that
part of the car, and he disagreed with the official.

"Why are you making problems for him?" he asked. "Can't
you seethathe has afirst classticket? I have no problem with
him travelling here with me." He turned to me and said, "Make
yourself comfortable where you are."

The official said, almost to himself as he turned to walk
away, "If you wantto travel with a coolie, then go ahead." And
he went away.

We arrived in Pretoria at 8 p.m. that night.

QUESTIONS ON PART 8
1. When he left Charlestown, where was Gandhi travelling?

2. What stopped the coach "leader" from hitting Gandhi when
they stopped for arest?

3. How was Gandhi protected when he arrived in Standerton?

4. Whatwas Gandhi not able to getin Johannesburg because
he was an Indian?

5. What happenedin Johannesburg that "happily surprised"
Abdul Gani?

6. How was Gandhi able to stay in the first class car from
Johannesburgto Pretoria?
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9. My First Day in Pretoria

I looked for someone from Abdulla's company of lawyers
to meet me at Pretoria station. Butit was Sunday, and it
had not been easy for them to find someone to send. | was
worried, and | did not know where to go. | was afraid that
no hotel would give me aroom.

| waited for the other travellers to leave the station,
thinking that | could ask for help from the man taking the
tickets if | waited until after he had finished taking tickets.
I would tell him that | needed to find a hotel that would take
me; and if | could not find one, then | would be forced to
sleep there at the station. The truthis that | was afraid that
he would be angry with me too.

When the other travellers had left, | asked my question.
The man was not angry, but he was not able to help me
either. A Black from America, who was standing near
there, heard what | was saying.

"I see thatyou're a stranger here, without any friends," he
said. "If you'll come with me, I'll take you to a small hotel. |
know the owner, who is from America. I'll ask himto help you."

| was afraid that his reasons for helping me might not be
the best, but | thanked him and went with him anyway.

Atthe hotel, he pulled the owner to one side and talked
to him. The owner agreed to give me aroom for one night
if 'would agree to eatdinnerin my room, and not with the
other people staying there.

"It's not that | have anything against your skin colour
myself," he said. "But all the people staying here are Whites,
andif lletyou eat with them, they may get angry and leave."

"Thankyou," | said, "for atleast givingme aroom. | have
been learning quickly how it is here, and | now see how
difficultit could be for you too. I'll gladly eatin my room, and
I'll try to find another room tomorrow."
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When | wasin my room | had time to think, as | waited for
my dinner. There were not many people in the hotel, so I did
not think it would be long before the waiter would come with
my meal. Butinstead, the owner himself came to my room.
He said, "l was feeling guilty about making you eat here, so
| talked to the others who are staying here, and asked if it
would be okay with them for you to eat with them. They all
said that they had no problem with that, and they are happy
foryouto stay on heretoo. So please come and eat with us,
and feel free to stay with us as long as you like."

I thanked him again, and then went and had a very good
dinner with the others.

The next morning | wentto see Abdulla's top lawyer. His
name was Mr. A. W. Baker. He was very friendly, as
Abdulla had said he would be. He told me that | was not
needed to work as alawyer, because they already had the
bestlawyers working for them.

"What we need you for," he said, "is to act as a go-
between, between us and Mr. Abdulla. It will be much
easier for us tounderstand what he wants if you can tell us
in English."

Mr. Baker went on: "l waited to see you before finding
you a room. White people here have very bad feelings
about people with dark skin, so it's not easy to find rooms
for someone from India. But | know a poor woman who
needs the money. Her husband makes bread and cakes.
I think she will take you in. Come, letus go to her place."

We went to her house, and Mr. Baker talked to the
woman alone. She agreed to take me in.

Mr. Baker, besides being a lawyer, was a part-time
preacher. He is still alive today, and now spends all of his
time doing Christian work. He stopped working as a
lawyer to do that. He has a lot of money now and he often
writes to me. In his letters he always says the same things.
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He puts forward many different arguments to prove to me that
Christianity is a very good (if not the best) religion; and he
argues thatitis impossible to find peace with God without
believing that Jesus is the only Son of God and the one
personto save everyone on earth.

In my first interview with Mr. Baker he learned of my
religious beliefs. I saidto him, "l am a HIndu by birth. But |
do notknow much about my religion, and I know less of other
religions. The truthisthat|do not know where | am, or what
I believe. I plan to make a serious study of my own religion
and, as faras | can, of otherreligions too."

Mr. Baker was glad to hear this and said, "l am one of the
leaders of the South Africa General Mission. | have builta
church with my own money, and | preach there each week. |
do nothave feelings against people with dark skin, and | have
a prayer meeting with the people I work with at 1 p.m. each
day. lwould be happy to have you come. You will be able to
meet my friends, and | think you will like them. I'll give you
some religious books to read too, but the best book of all is
the Bible, which | think you should read.

| thanked Mr. Baker and agreed to come to his prayer
meetings as | was able.

"So | will see you here tomorrow at one, and we can go
togetherto pray," added Mr. Baker before saying goodbye.

I did not have time to think about all of this just then. | had
to go and pay for my hotel room, and then | had to move into
the bread-maker's house. The woman was very kind. She
cooked a vegetarian lunch for me, and in a shorttime | was
feeling very much at home with her family.

After lunch, | wentto see a friend of Abdulla's, to give him
a letter from Abdulla. From him | learned more about the
problems facing Indians in South Africa. He asked me to stay
with him. Ithanked him and told himthat | already had a room.
He encouraged me to ask him if | needed anything.
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By this time it was dark. I returned to the house, had my
dinner, and went to my room, to think about all that was
happening. | sentword to Abdullato tell him thatthere was
no work for me to do at this time.

I was thinking about Mr. Baker. What was the reason for his
interestinme? What could | learn from his religious friends?
How far should | go in studying Christianity? How could |
learn more about the Hindu religion? And how could |
understand Christianity without first knowing my own religion?
| could come up with only one answer: | mustdo my bestto
study all that | could, and to follow God's leading in my
meetings with Mr. Baker's group. But I should not think of
joining another religion without first understanding my own.

And | was thinking like this as | fell asleep.

QUESTIONS ON PART 9
1. Who helped Gandhi at Pretoria Station?

2. Why did the hotel owner change his mind and ask Gandhi
to eat with the Whites who were staying at the hotel?

3. What did Abdulla's top lawyer do on top of working as a
lawyer?

4. What did Gandhisay in his first interview with Mr. Baker
that he was glad to hear?

5. What was the meeting that Mr. Baker asked Gandhi to
come tothe nextday?

6. True orfalse: Gandhidecided that he would do his best
tofollow God's leading in his meetings with Mr. Baker's group.
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10. Christians

The following day at 1 p.m. | went to Mr. Baker's prayer
meeting. There I mettwo older women (Miss Harris and Miss
Gabb), ayoung man from the "Friends" Church (Mr. Coates),
and some other people. We all kneeled to pray. The prayers
were all asking God for things, with each person listing what
he or she wanted. Most wanted a day of peace, and for God
to open the doors of our hearts.

A prayerwas added for me: "Lord, show the way to our new
brother. Give himthe peace that we have. May the Jesus who
has saved us save himtoo. We askitin Jesus'name." There
was no singing or other music at these meetings. After praying
for something special each day, we would each go our own
way to eat. The prayers did not take more than five minutes.

Miss Harris and Miss Gabb lived together, and they asked
for me to come to their house fortea at4 p.m. each Sunday.

| would write in a book each day what | was learning of
spiritual things. | would give this to Mr. Coates at our Sunday
meetings, and talk to him about the books | had read that
week. The women would talk about sweet things that had
happened tothem and the peace that they had found.

Mr. Coates was a true and honest young man. We would
often go for walks together, and he took me to meet other
Christian friends. As we came closerto each other, he started
to give me more books that he believed | should read, until my
shelf was full of them. In good faith | agreed to read them all,
and as | finished each, we would talk about it.

| do not remember all the names of the books | read that
year. Parts of some | could notunderstand at all. |liked some
things and did not like others. One book tried to prove the
religion of the Bible, but it had no effect on me. One
encouraged people to be good, but it was only written for
those who were already Christians. There was one very deep
book, that you needed to read three or four times before you
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could understanditwell. Ittried to make people who did not
believe in God believe in him. The arguments for God were
not needed by me, as | already believed in him. Arguments
initto say that Jesus was the only Son of God and the only
one who could talk to God for us did not move me.

But Mr. Coates was notone to give up easily. He liked me
very much. He saw around my neck a prayer necklace and
he believed that it had something to do with Hindu magic.
This gave him great pain. "This necklace is bad for you," he
said. "Let me break it."

"No, you must not. My mother gave itto me."

"Butdo you believe init?" he asked.

"I don'tthink anything bad will happenif | don't wear it, if
that's what you mean. But, withoutagood reason, | won't give
up a necklace that my mother put around my neck in the belief
thatitwould protect me. Whenitbreaksintime, I'lldrop itand
not buy anotherone. Butl see noreasonto breakitnow."

Mr. Coates could not see the point of my argument,
because he could see nothing good in my religion. He wanted
only to save me from all the evil that | could not see. He
wanted me to believe that the good in other religions could not
save anyone... that being saved was impossible without
joining the Christian religion... that Christianity was the Truth...
that my sins could never be washed away without me praying
to Jesus... and that all of my good works were a waste of
time.*

*The Bible does say Jesus is the only one who can save us,
because he was the only Son of God. But Gandhi and the
people he talked to were confusing Jesus with the Christian
religion. The Bible says the death of Jesus paid for God's
forgiveness for all those who have faith in God. Their religion
was not important. Gandhi had faith in God. That is all he
needed. He did not need to have faith in the Christian religion
for the blood of Jesus to save him. D. M.
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Through Mr. Coates | read many new books, and | met
many new people... people that he believed were very good
Christians.

Many of these people were good people. | had the feeling
that most of them really wanted to do what God wanted. But
one of his friends from the Plymouth Brothers gave me an
argumentthat | was not at all prepared for. Here itis:

"You don't understand what is so beautiful about our
religion. Itseems you spend all your time thinking about what
isrightorwrong. You keep trying to change your ways. You
keep trying to fix up things that you have done wrong. How
can all of this make you right with God? You can never find
peace thatway.

"We are all sinners. Butlook atthe answer that our religion
gives us. We Christians see it as a waste of time trying to
change or fix up what we have done wrong. We too want to
be right with God. Butif we can't stop sinning, the only way
isto put all our sins onto Jesus. He's the only perfect Son of
God. He saysif people will believe in him they'll have eternal
life. Sothat's how God's grace works. By justbelieving that
Jesus will fix everything, we don't need to worry about our
sins. We must sin;itisimpossible notto. That's why Jesus
diedfor our sins. The only way to perfect peaceisto let Jesus
do allthe work. Think how you will be trying all your life to be
perfect, while we already have God's promise of peace."

There was no way | could believe such an argument. My
answer:

"If this is what all Christians teach, then | am not interested
init. My interestis notin hiding from being punished for my
sins. |wantto be free from sinitself. More than that, | do not
even wanttothink about doing wrong. Until that happens, |
am happy to spend my life fighting against sin."

The Plymouth Brother finished off by saying, "l tell you,
trying to be good is a waste of time. Think again about what
I have said."
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Andthe man proved to be as good as his word; for he would
knowingly do things that were wrong, and he showed by his
actions that he had no feeling of guilt about any of it.

But I knew before meeting him that not all Christians agreed
with this reasoning about God's grace. Mr. Coates himself
walked in the fear of God. He was a sincere man and he
believed that a person could be without sin. The two women
also followed this teaching. Some of the Christian books that
I read were filled with teachings that encouraged people to try
toobey God. So when Mr. Coates became worried that this
Plymouth Brother would turn me against Christianity, | was
able to tell him that it would not change my thinking at all.

The most difficult problem | had was with something
else. It had to do with the Bible and the way that most
Christians understood it.

QUESTIONS ON PART 10

1. Who did Gandhi meet at the prayer meetings that he
said was "a true and honest young man"?

2. Whatreason did Gandhi give for Mr. Coates wanting to
destroy his Hindu prayer necklace?

3. What did the Plymouth Brother tell Gandhi was a waste
of time?

4. Did Gandhi show much interest in what the Plymouth
Brother had to say about being a Christian?

5. Why did the Plymouth Brother not turn Gandhi against
Christianity ?
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11. Touching other Indians

Before writing more about Christians, | must report on
other things that were happening at that time.

Sheth Tyeb Haji Khan Muhammad played the part in
Pretoriathat Abdulladid in Durban. No Indian movement
could start without him. | met him in my first week in
Pretoria, and told him that | planned to getin touch with
every Indianin Pretoria. | said that | wanted to study the
life of Indians living there, and asked for his help in my
work. He gladly agreed to help.

My first step was to call a meeting of all the Indians
living there, and to give them a picture of the problems that
they each faced. Most of the people who came to the
meeting were Muslim business men. There were only a
few Hindus, because not many Hindus lived there.

It may be said that this was my first real talk in front of
other people. | prepared well for the talk. It was about
truth and business. | had always heard that business
people sayitis not possible to tell the truth when you are
in business. I did not agree when | heard it, and | do not
agree now. | still have friends who are in business and
who argue that they cannot tell the truth. They say that
business is about real life and truth is only for religion.
Religion, they say, will not work in business. In business
you can only tell as much of the truth as helps you, and the
whole truth will never do.

In my talk | strongly argued against this belief. | tried to
wake the business men up to the need for them to do what
is right. | said that the need was greater in a different
country, because all of India was being measured by their
actions.
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| had found that our people were very dirty when
measured against the English people around them, and |
talked tothem about the need to change this. | said, too,
that it was very important for us to forget about our
religious and language differences.

In the end, | asked for them to start up a group that
would be able to talk to government officials about what
was happening to Indians living in Pretoria. | promised to
give them all the time that | could. | could see that | was
getting through to them.

After | talked, they talked. Some agreed to help me, and
| was encouraged.

| could see that very few knew English. Because |
believed that the English language would be a big help to
themin that country, | encouraged all who had the time to
learn it. | told them that it was possible to learn a new
language even when a personisold, and | told stories of
people who had done so.

| said that | would teach a class in English if someone
would start it; or if only a few people wanted to learn, |
would teach them one by one.

They did not start a class, but three young men said they
would try to learn English if | would come to them to teach
them. Two were Muslims. One of these worked in an
office, and the other cut hair for aliving. The third man was
aHinduwho owned a small shop. |agreedtocome atany
time they liked.

| was very confident about my ability to teach. My
students might become tired, but I did not. At times |
would arrive to teach them, and they would still be
working. But | would simply wait. They did not want to
learn English well. They wanted only to know enough to
help them in their businesses. Butin about eight months
two of them knew enough to write simple business letters.
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I think their English was enough to make a big difference
in how much money they could make. The man who was
cutting hair only wanted to learn enough English to talk to
the people whose hair he was cutting.

| was happy with the effect of the meeting. The people
decided to hold meetings, as faras | canremember, once
aweek, ormaybe it was once a month. Atthese meetings
I was able to meet, and learn about the problems of, every
Indian living in Pretoria. This gave me the confidence to
go to the English government official in Pretoria on the
part of these people. He was interested in helping them,
but he could not do much to change the thinking of the
people of the country. He did agree to help in any way that
he was able.

Then I wentto the top officials for the trains in that state,
and told them that, even under their own rules, they could
not say that it was right to stop Indians from travelling in
firstor second class. I received a letter from them saying
that first and second class tickets would, in future, be sold
to Indians if they were well dressed. This was not good
enough. They leftitup to each station master to decide
who was "well dressed".

The top English official in Pretoria also showed me
some interesting papers about the way people were acting
toward Indians there. Tyeb Sheth had papers that were a
help in this way too.

In short, my stay in Pretoria helped me to make a deep
study into whatitis like for Indians living in that part of South
Africa—intheir businesses, in government, and with their
neighbours. I did not know how important this study would be
for me in the future, for | believed that | would be returning
home by the end of the year, or even earlier if the court
business was finished before the year was out.
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But God had other plans.

QUESTIONS ON PART 11

1. Gandhi called a meeting for all the Indians living in
Pretoria. From what group were most of the Indians at that
meeting?

2. What belief did Gandhi argue strongly againstin his
firsttalk to the Indians living in Pretoria?

3. What did Gandhi agree to teach, because he believed
that Indians living in Pretoria needed to learn it?

4. How many Indians wanted Gandhito teach him?

5. What officials did Gandhi go to, to argue for the Indians
living in Pretoria?

6. Why did Gandhi feel that the letter from the train
officials, saying that Indians could travel first class, was
"not good enough"?
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12. What it Means to be a
'Coolie'

Itwould be out of place to spend too much time here writing
aboutlife for Indians in South Africa. Readers who wantto
know more should read my History of Satyagraha in South
Africa. But | should say a little something about life there.

In the Orange Free State (which is south and west of
Johannesburg), a special law made in 1888, or earlier, took
all power away from Indians. Any Indian who chose to live
there could only work as a waiterin a hotel orin some other
very humble job. Indian businessmen were forced out. They
tried to fight the law, but they were not able to stop it.

A very strong rule had been passed in the Transvaal
(where Pretoria and Johannesburg are) in 1885, that was
changed alittlein 1886. It said that Indians must pay to move
into the state and live there. They could not own land outside
of special places that were marked out for them, and even
thatland could not be fully owned by them. They had no say
in choosing the government. This was all under a special law
for all people from Asia.

All laws against Blacks from Africa were used against
people from Asiatoo. Underthese laws, Indians could not
walk on the footpaths at any time, and they could not go out
of their homes after 9 p.m. without a special ticket. There was
some room to bend this law, because "Arabs" did notneed to
follow it. Butinthe end it was up to the sweet will of the police
to decide if you were an "Arab" or not.

| would often go for walks with Mr. Coates at night. We
would not return much before 10 p.m. Mr. Coates worried
more than | did about the police putting me in prison. Strangely,
he could give a ticket to his servants to be out late, but he
could not give one to me, because | was not his servant. If he
had tried, he would have been breaking the law.
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So Mr. Coates or a friend of his took me to the official State
Lawyer. He could not believe that | needed a ticket to be out
after 9 p.m. Instead of giving me a ticket, he wrote a letter,
saying that | could be out at all hours without police stopping
me. | always carried this letter on myself when | went out. It
isonly an accident that I never had to useiit.

The effect of the rule against walking on footpaths was a
little more serious for me. | often went for a walk down the
road where President Kruger lived. His was a simple house
without a big yard. It was no different from other houses on
the same road. Many of the rich people in Pretoria had much
bigger and much more expensive houses. Only the policemen,
who would always be standing in front of the house, marked
itas being the house of an important official. | almost always
walked on the footpath in front of this house when taking my
walks; and | did so most of the time without any problems.

But from time to time, the policeman whose job it was to
watch the house would be changed. Once one of these men,
without saying a word to me, that is, without even asking me
to leave the footpath, pushed and kicked me into the road. |
could not believe it. Before | could question him for what he
had done, Mr. Coates, who happened to be going by on his
horse, shouted out:

"Gandhi, | have seen everything. | will gladly go to court for
you if you want to take action against this man. | feel very bad
aboutthe way he has so roughly hurtyou."

But | said that there was no need for action. All coloured
people were the same to the man. He did not know me. He
would have acted in the same way toward a Black from his
own country. | said to Mr. Coates, "l have made itarule not
to go to court to help myself alone; so there is no point in
taking action againstthe man."

"Thatis justlike you," said Mr. Coates. "But we mustteach
such people not to act in that way." He then talked to the
policeman, who came to me and asked for forgiveness.
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There was no need for him to ask; | had no hard feelings
against him.

But | never walked on that road again. There would be
other menin the place of this man, and they might actin the
same way. Why should | walk into another kick if | did not
needto. Solchose adifferentdirection for my walks.

What happened to me helped me to feel more strongly for
other Indians living there. After talking with the top English
official, Italked with the Indians themselves about arguments
for and against going to court to test the law against them
walking on footpaths.

Sointhetimethatllivedin Pretoria, | had learned about
how difficult life is for the Indians living there. | had learned
through reading, through listening, and through living it my-
self. I saw that South Africa was no country for a confident
Indian to live in. My mind became full of thoughts about what
could be done to change things there.

But my first job at that time was to help Abdulla with his
court action.

QUESTIONS ON PART 12

1. Which Indians had been forced out of the Orange Free
State under alaw passed there around 18887

2. What did Indians need, to be out after 9 p.m. in Pretoria?
3. What group of Indians did not need this?

4. Why did a policeman push Gandhiroughly to the ground
when he was walking by President Kruger's house?

5. Whatwas Gandhi's reason for not taking action against the
policeman?

6. What were the three ways that Gandhi had learned about
the difficult life of Indians living in South Africa?
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13. Preparing for Court

My year in Pretoria was an important time for me in
many ways. Here is where | started to learn how to work
for the people from my country, and where | was able to
find some measure of my ability to do it. Here too the
religious spiritin me started to come to life. And here was
where | started to learn what it really is to be a lawyer.

I learned many of the things that a new lawyer learns
when he first starts to work for an older lawyer; and with it
I found confidence that | would be able to make a living as
alawyer when | chose to do so. But more important than
those two things, | learned what the secretis to being a
really good lawyer.

Abdulla's court action was not a small one. He was
asking for £40,000 from a relative that he believed had
wronged him. Because the action was over things that
had happened in his business, many of the arguments
were very difficult to understand. Part of it was to do with
agreements, and part was to do with promises to put
agreements into writing. There were many points of law in
this, and there were many things that the two sides did not
agreeon.

Both sides had the best lawyers, and | was in a place
where | was able to study closely the work of them all, and
tolearn fromthem. It was my jobto prepare the arguments
for Abdulla's lawyers, and to go through every little piece
of what had happened. |learned alot by watching to see
which of my arguments and which of the happenings that
| listed were believed to be important enough to keep
when the lawyers finished with what | had prepared. |
learned a lot about how to best go about preparing these
arguments too.
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| was very enthusiastic about this job. | read every paper
I could find that had something to do with it. Abdullawas a
man of great ability himself and he soon had perfect confidence
in me, which made my job much easier. | studied much about
keeping books for a business. My understanding of language
became sharperthrough all of the letters that | had to change
from Gujaratito English.

I have said that | became very interested in religion andin
helping the Indian people at this time, and it is true that |
always gave some of my time to these two interests; but my
first interest was the court action. Reading the law and
looking up old court actions, when needed, had first use of my
time. From this, I believe thatin the end | understood what
was happening even better than the two men who were
arguing with each other. This was because | had taken the
time to study what both sides were saying.

I remember hearing someone say that knowing what really
happened is most of what being a lawyer is all about. |
remember later working for a man who did not seem to be
guilty of anything; but the law still seemed to be against him.
| asked an important lawyer in South Africa for help, and he
agreed thatit did not seem right for the man to be punished.
He said, "Gandhi, | have learned one thing, and itis this: If
we know perfectly what happened, the law will do what is
right. Soyou mustlook more closely at what happened." On
studying again what had happened, | came to understand
things in a new light, and | could see that the law was not
againstthe man atall. | also found an earlier action much like
his, that helped him to win his argumentin court.

When | was preparing Abdulla's arguments, | did not know
how true this was. Knowing what really happened means
knowing the truth. If we stick to the truth, the law will always
come to helpus. Because I made it my job to know what had
happened, | came to see that the law was on Abdulla's side.
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But | also saw that if they were to fight it out in the court, it
would destroy both Abdulla and his relative. There was no
way of knowing how long it would take to finish the action, and
they both were paying top prices for the top lawyers. It was for
the good of both of them that the argument be ended quickly.

| went to Abdulla's relative and encouraged him to bring
someone inthatthey both believed to be honest, and let that
person decide who was right. In this way it could be over
quickly. Ontop of the high prices they both were paying for
theirlawyers, bad feelings between the two men were growing
eachday. Ifeltsick atthe way most lawyers work. Both sides
work on digging up one point of law after anotherin trying to
win, making the argument go on and on. When the argument
is over, even the winning side does not get enough money
from the other side to cover all of the costs. Thisis because
the lawyers themselves ask for more than the price that the
court says the losing side must pay. | could not be a part of
this, and so I believed it was my job to be a friend to both sides
and bring them together outside of the courts. | did everything
| could to encourage it, and in the end Abdulla's relative
agreed. They broughtinamanto listento theirarguments,
and, afterlistening toit all, the man agreed that Abdulla was
in the right.

Butthere was another problem. How was the money to be
paid? Itwas not possible for the losing side to pay the whole
sum at once without his business being destroyed.

It was more difficult for me to bring about an agreement
between the two sides on this than it had been to getthem to
meet outside of court. Butin the end, Abdulla agreed that his
relative could pay the sum a little at a time over a very long
time. Itwas in the bestinterests of both of them, and in the
end, others thought well of them both for coming to such an
agreement.
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There was no end to my happiness at bringing this action
to such a good ending. And thisis where | learned the truth
aboutalawyer's job. Ourjobisto find the best side of each
person and to getinto their hearts. Ourtrue job is to bring
people together and not to force them apart. | believed this
so strongly thatin the twenty years that | worked as a lawyer,
much of my time was used in bringing people together outside
of court. | was able to work out agreements like this for
hundreds of people. As alawyer | did notlose a thing by doing
this. I clearly did notlose any money (because the people |
worked for were happy with what | did, and they told others of
it), and, mostimportant, | did not lose my soul.

QUESTIONS ON PART 13

1. Inwhatthree general ways did Gandhi startto learn when
he was in Pretoria?

2. What was Gandhi's first interest at this time?

3. Inwhat way did Gandhi understand the arguments in the
court betterthan the men who were arguing?

4. Finish this: "Knowing is mostly
what being a lawyeris all about."

5. Finish this: "Ifwe stickto__ , the law will always
cometo helpus."

6. What was it about the way that most lawyers work that
made Gandhifeel sick?

7. What did Gandhilearn that the true job of a lawyer should
be?
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14. Religious Action

[ will now return to what was happening with my Christian
friends.

Mr. Baker was becoming worried about my future. He
took me to a three-day meeting that Protestant Christians
hold every few years to bring new spiritual life to people.
He was hoping that the enthusiasm and sincere faith of the
people there would lead me to put my faith in Christianity.
But his greatest hope was prayer. He had a strong faith in
prayer, believing God had no choice but to listen to deep,
serious prayer. He told stories of people like George
Muller, from Britain, who did not even work for money,
having faith that God would feed him if he asked for such
help.

| listened to Mr. Baker as honestly as | could, promising
that, if | believed God was telling me to, | would join the
Christian religion. I had no problem with making such a
promise, because | had long believed that one should
follow the voice of God in his or her own heart. It would
have been difficult for me to fight God if | had felt sure that
he was telling me to join the Christian religion.

It was not easy for Mr. Baker to take me to the meeting
as his friend, because of my skin colour. Onthe way there,
we had to stop at a hotel on Sunday, because Mr. Baker
and his friends did not believe in travelling on Sunday.
After much arguing, the manager of the station hotel
agreedto let me stay there. But he said that | could not eat
with the others staying at the hotel. Mr. Baker was notone
to give up easily, and he continued to argue that | should
be able to eat there too. He tried not to let me know of the
problems that he was having over this, but | could see that
he was going through a lot for me.
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There were many sincere Christians at the meeting. |
liked their faith, and | could see that many of them were
praying for me. |liked some of their music. It was very
sweet. | could understand the faith of those who were
there, and I could see how it was true for them; but it did
not seem a good reason for me to change my own faith. |
could not possibly believe that theirs was the only way to
God. When | said so to some of these good Christian
friends, they were very surprised and hurt. Butthere was
no way that | could change my feeling about that.

I had other problems. | could not believe Jesus was the
only Son of God, and that only people who believed in him
could have eternal life. If God could have sons, then all of
us were his sons. If Jesus was like God, or God Himself,
then all of us were like God and could be God Himself. |
could see that the death of Jesus might be a picture of
God's love for the world and what it means to forgive; but
I could not believe as strongly as they believed that it paid
the price for everyone's sins for all time. Christianity
teaches that animals do not have a soul. | could not
believe that either.

I believed Jesus was a great man, ateacher from God,
full of love, and ready to die for what he believed; but |
could not say he was the most perfect person ever born.
His death on the cross was a beautiful picture of love for
othersto follow, but I could not see some special miracle
initthat the Christians said was there.

Christian faith in God seems no better than the faith in
God that people from other religions have. Christians
have brought many good changes to the world. But
people from other religions have done the same. | see
nothing special about Christian teachings on such things
as love and truth. When it comes to going through difficult
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times for their faith, | believe Hindus are far ahead of
Christians. So | could not think of Christianity as a perfect
religion, or even as the best religion.”

I told my Christian friends how | felt, but the arguments
they gave in answer to my questions did not seem strong
enough to change my beliefs.

But, if | could not say that Christianity was a perfect
religion, | also could not say that the Hindu religion was
perfect. | was not at all comfortable with some things that
seemed very wrong in Hindu teaching too. The teaching
that we cannot touch a person who is an outcaste or from
avery low caste, ifitis truly part of Hindu teaching, can only
be avery sick part of it, and a part that must be changed.
I cannot understand the reason for all the different castes,
and the different teachings that separate Hindus from each
other. And why do we need to say that our holy writings are
the perfect Word of God? Are they any more perfect than
the holy writings of Muslims and Christians?

As my Christian friends were trying to change me, so
were my Muslim friends. Abdullawas always encouraging
me to study Islam, and he always had something to say
about how beautiful it was.

*Again, Gandhi and his friends seemed to be thinking
more about the Christian religion than about faith in God.
True Christianity (Jesus) teaches that faith in God is all
that is needed. In one of the best loved stories of Jesus,
the "Good Samaritan" had the wrong religion, but it did not
keep him out of heaven. The first disciples did not think of
Jesus as the only Son of God when they first started to
follow him. That faith needed to grow slowly. The Christian
religion asks people to say things from the start that an
honest person (like Gandhi) would only be able to say
after following Jesus the Teacher for some time. D. M.
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| wrote a letters to Raychandbhai and other religious
leadersin India about all of this, and they answered me. |
received some peace from Raychandbhai's letters. He
asked me to wait until | had studied Hindu teaching more
deeply. One line went something like this: "In looking at
the question as honestly as | know how, | still arrive at the
truth that no other religion has the truths of the Hindu
religion, its understanding of the soul, orits love."

| started to read the Koran and other books on Islam,
and | wrote to Christian friends in Britain. One of them put
me in touch with Edward Maitland, who sent me The
Perfect Way, a book that he had helped to write. It argued
against the way that most Christians thought, and | liked
what it was saying. He did not see a need for Christians
to be fighting Hindu teaching and truth. Then lread Leo
Tolstoy's The Kingdom of God is Inside You. It filled me
with enthusiasm for the things of God. The feeling |
received from this book never left me.

All of the books that | had received from Mr. Coates
were nothing beside the thought that wentinto Tolstoy's
book. He was able to free himself from the way that other
Christians thought, and to find real truth and real
understanding of how God sees us.

So my studies of Christianity carried me in a different
direction to what my Christian friends wanted. | continued
to write to Edward Maitland for many years, and to
Raychandbhai until his death. He sent me many books on
Hindu teachings.

| did not go in the direction that my Christian friends
wanted for me, but | owe them very much for waking me up
to my need to think seriously about following God. | will
always remember our times together with warm feelings.
The years that followed had more, not less, of such sweet
and holy times with them.



162 MY EXPERIMENTS WITH TRUTH
QUESTIONS ON PART 14

1. True or false: Gandhi was open tojoining the Christian
religion if he had believed that God was telling him to.

2. What problem did Mr. Baker have on the way to the
Christian meeting with Gandhi?

3. What did Gandhi say that surprised and hurt some of
his Christian friends at the big meeting?

4. In what way did Gandhifeel that Hindus were far ahead
of Christians?

5. What part of Hindu teaching did Gandhi think was a
"very sick" part of the Hindu religion?

6. Were his Christian friends the only ones trying to
change Gandhi?

7. When Gandhi's Hindu teacher heard that he was being
encouraged to change hisreligion, what did he ask Gandhi
todo?

8. Gandhisaid that all of the books that he had received
from Mr. Coates were nothing beside one book. What
book was that?
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15. Man Plans;
God Changes the Plans

Because my business with Abdulla was finished, | had no
need to stayin Pretoria. | returned to Durban to prepare for
my trip home. Abdulla was not one to let me sail without a
send-off. He gave a party for me in Sydenham a short time
before | was to leave.

We plannedto spend the whole day there, so | was reading
anewspaper before the party was to startand | saw a small
piece with the words "Indian Vote" at the top of it. It said the
government was going to make a new law that would stop
Indians from being able to vote in Natal. It was the firsttime
I had heard of the law, and the same was true of the others
who had come for the party.

| asked Abdulla aboutit. He said, "We don't understand
such things. We only know about things that have to do with
our businesses. As you know, we can no longer workin the
Orange Free State. We tried to fight it, but we lost. We are
crippled when it comes to such things, because we have no
education. We only read the papers for the business news
thatis inthem. What can we know of government and the
laws they make? Ourlawyers are all from Europe, and they
have become our eyes and ears."

"But," I said, "there are so many young Indians who have
been born and educated here. They can help you."

"They!" shouted Abdulla sadly. "They're notinterested in
us; and to tell the truth, we are not interested in them. The
young ones are all Christians, and their white preachers
controlthem. The white preachers, inturn, are controlled by
the government."

This opened my eyes. | felt we should think of the young
Indians as Indians. Was this what Christianity was all about?
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Did they stop being Indians because they had become
Christians?

But why was | getting into this? | was on the point of
returning to India. 1 was holding back from saying all that
I was thinking. Instead, | said quietly to Abdulla, "If this law
passes, it will make life even more difficult for us Indians.
Itis the first nail in the box they will use to bury us in. It cuts
atthe roots of who we are."

"Yes, it may," said Abdulla. "I'll tell you how this interest
inthe Indian vote started. Inthe pastwe nevertooktime
to vote. Butone of our best lawyers was trying to get a job
as Lawyer General, and he encouraged us all to vote for
him. We did, and we helped him to win. Before that, we
had not used our votes. But we understand what you are
saying and what the Indian vote can do. So what do you
think we should do now?"

The others were listening closely by this time. One of
them said, "You know what | think we should do? | think
Gandhi should stay here for another month, and together
we should fight this thing."

The othersjoinedin, "Yes! Yes! Abdulla, tell Gandhi to
stay for another month, and we will fight it."

Abdulla was a smart business man. "l have no power
over himnow," he said. "Or to putitanother way, you have
as much power over him as | do. But | agree thattogether
we may be able to talk him into staying. Justremember,
that he is a lawyer, and he must be paid."

It pained me to hear talk of giving me money, and | cut
in:"No, Abdulla! Paying meis out of the question. | cannot
receive money for helping my country. If | am to stay, | will
stay as a servant. As you know, | do not know all these
people. But, Abdulla, if you believe they really will help
me, | will be happy to stay for another month.
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"Butthereis one thing... | willneed money for things like
telegrams and printing, travelling, and help from other lawyers.
Because | do notknow your laws, | will need to buy some law
books and study them. And | cannotdo all that needs to be
done by myself. There must be many others who will help
me."

| heard many voices singing out: "God is great! Money will
come. Tellus how many people you need, and you will have
them. Please stay and we will do our part."

So the party to send me off turned into a meeting to plan our
work. | said that we should eat quickly and return to Durban.
My head was too full of plans for our action. 1 decided to give
itone month, and | started by making a list of Indian voters.

This is how God started my work in South Africa, and how
he planted the seeds for the move to make India free.

QUESTIONS ON PART 15

1. What did Gandhi read about in the newspaper on the
day of the send-off party before he was to leave South
Africa?

2. What was the reason that Abdulla gave for Indians not
thinking of the young educated Indians (who had been
bornin South Africa) as being their brothers?

3. What do you think Abdulla was trying to get the people
to do to show that they wanted Gandhito stay on and help
them fight the new law?

4. How much longer did Gandhi agree to stay on in South
Africa?
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16. Staying on in Natal

Sheth Haji Muhammad was the top leader of the
Indians living in Natal in 1893. Itistrue that Abdulla was
theirleader when it came to business, butin things to do
with government, Haji Muhammad was their leader. So
we called a meeting in Abdulla's house, with Haiji
Muhammad as the President. At the meeting we all
agreed to fight the law against Indians voting.

We needed helpers, and there were a good number of
young Christian Indians at the meeting, who all said they
would help. Many of the business men agreed to do the
same. They were surprised to find themselves becoming
part of a political action, but they were happy about it too.
It was a new part of their lives. In the face of what the
government was planning to do to us, we dropped all that
separated one Indian from another. High and low, small
and great, master and servant, Hindu, Muslim,
Zoroastrian, Christian, and Indians of all languages were
asone. We were all children and servants of our mother
land.

The Law was about to pass its second reading.
Government arguments for the law against Indians voting
said that Indians had said nothing against it, and this
proved that Indians were not interested in voting anyway.

| told the people at the meeting about this. The first
thing we did was to send a telegram to the Leader in the
House where the law was to be made, asking him to stop
all talk about the law until we had time to prepare our
arguments. Other telegrams were sent to other
government leaders. We received word back that the
government would wait for two days for word from us.
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We needed to write up our arguments against the law,
and give these to the newspapers and to the government.
But we wanted hundreds of people to put their names on
the paperstoo. And we had only one nightin which to do
all of this. Those who knew English stayed up the whole
night writing the arguments out over and over by hand.
Business men took the arguments out in their coaches to
find other Indians who would put their names on the
papers, saying that they agreed with us. In no time we
had enough names, and we sent the papers off to the
government and to the papers. The newspapers printed
our arguments and said some nice things about what we
had said. The arguments were read and talked about by
the leaders of the government, butin the end, it did not
stop the law from passing.

We all knew that this would happen, but we Indians
were alive with interest now, and we were working as
one. We knew that it was our job to fight political moves
against us as well as fighting for our businesses.

We decided to send a letter with along list of names on
ittothe governmentin Britain, asking for their help. We
needed more than a day to do that. We made another list
of helpers and each one received a job to do.

| worked hard on what to say in the letter. | studied
everything that | could find that might help me. In the
end, my argument was that it wasrightto let us vote, and
that it was easy to let us vote. | said that we should be
able to vote in Natal just as we had in India; and, because
there were very few of us, it would not cost the state of
Natal much at all to do what was right for us.

Intwo weeks we had ten thousand names on the letter.
It was a big job covering the whole state in such a short
time. It was made more difficult because our workers had
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never done work like this before. We used only the most
educated people on this, because we wanted to be sure
each person who put their name on the letter understood
what it was saying. Towns were far apart from each
other, but our helpers put their whole heartinto the job.
Each one was filled with enthusiasm for what we were
doing. Notone of the business men who helped us asked
for money for his time or even to cover travel costs.
Abdulla's house was a meeting place for all the comings
and goings. A number of friends who were helping me,
and many others, had their meals there. So each person
who joined in was giving much of themselves to make this
movement work.

The letter was sent off to Britain. We printed athousand
of them to give to people in Natal, India, and in Britain.
For the firsttime, ittold the people of India what life was
like for Indians living in Natal. | sentitto all the newspapers
and to other writers that | knew of.

The Times of India, in a leading story about the letter,
stood strongly behind what we were saying. The London
Times did the same, and we started to have some hope
that the law would be dropped.

By this time it was not possible for me to leave Natal.
Indian friends on all sides were asking me to stay on and
help. Itold them what | needed. |did not want to make
aliving from helping the Indian people. | wanted to have
a house and a job of my own. | wanted a nice house with
nice neighbours, and | believed that others would think
better of what | was saying if I were to live as well as other
lawyers. To do this, | needed at least £300 a year. |
decided that | would only stay if Indian business men
agreedto give me that much work as a lawyer each year.
Andthatis what | told them.
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"But we will give you that much without you having to
work as alawyer," they said. "lIf you get work as a lawyer,
you can keep that on top of it."

"No, | could not ask you to pay me just for helping my
country," I said. "My biggest job in this movement will just
be to make you work. How can | ask money for doing
that? Besides, we will need big sums of money for other
things, and | would find it difficult to ask you to give for
those things if | knew that you were already giving to feed
me. Believe me, it will take much more than £300 for
what we need to do."

"But we know you well. We know you would not take
more than you need," they argued. "Do you think we
would ask you to stay and not pay for what you need?"

"Your love for me and your enthusiasm for what we are
doing makes you talk like this now," | said. "But how can
| know that your enthusiasm will continue? And as your
friend and servant, there will be times when | will need to
say hard things to you. God only knows if you will still feel
like paying me after that. The truth is that | must not take
any money for my work for the Indian people. | will be
happy if you will just let me work for you as a lawyer.
Even that may be difficult. For one thing, | am not a white
lawyer. How can | know if the courts will hear my
arguments? Sojust paying me to be your lawyer could
end up costing you. | will think of what you pay me to act
as your lawyer as reward for what | do for you in our
movement."

The effect of all this talk was that about twenty business
men gave me money to act as their lawyer in the year
ahead. On top of this, Abdulla bought furniture for my
house with money that he had planned to give me on my
leaving for India.
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And thatis how | decided to stay on in Natal.
QUESTIONS ON PART 16

1. True orfalse: Some groups of Indians were notinterested
in fighting against the new law to stop Indians from voting.

2. Thelaw was very close to being passed. How long did the
government agree to wait for the Indians to give their
argument?

3. Intwo days the Indians were able to get hundreds of names
of their list of arguments and to give the list of arguments to
the newspapers and the government. Did that stop the law
from passing?

4. Gandhiwrote aletterto the governmentin India against the
new law. How long did it take him and his helpers to get
10,000 names on that letter?

5. What were the names of the newspapersin London and In
India that stood strongly behind the movementto let Indians
vote in South Africa?

6. What would Gandhi not let the people do for him if he was
to stay onin Natal and fight for them?

7. So how did Gandhi make money for his family over the next
year?
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17. Colour Bar

The picture we have for courts is that of a smart woman
with two weights, one for the truth on each side of an
argument. Animportant part of the picture isthat her eyes are
covered. She cannotjudge by looking at the way the person
is dressed or the colour of the person's skin; she can only
judge from the weight of the arguments. Butthe Company of
Lawyers of Natal tried to encourage the top court in that
country to break this mostimportant rule in judging me.

| asked to be able to work as a lawyer in the top court in
Natal. My papers from study in Britain were at the Mumbai
High Court; I had to leave them with that court to get papers
saying | could work as a lawyer there. So | sent my Mumbai
papers to show that | really was a lawyer. | also needed to
send letters from two people saying | was a good person. |
thought that letters from Whites living in South Africa would
be best. Through Abdulla | had mettwo very important White
businessmen, and they agreed to write letters for me. |
needed one other lawyer to write a letter for me, and | could
do no betterthanto get aletter from the Lawyer Genera,l who
had worked for Abdullain the past, and who so many Indians
had voted for. | visited him, and he agreed to help me.

Butthatis when the Company of Lawyers pulled a surprise
move, sending me a letter to say that they were going to fight
against me being able to work in the top court. One reason
they gave was that I did not send the papers from my studies
in Britain (the ones that were with the High Courtin Mumbai).
Butthey said that their other reason was that, when the rules
were made for lawyers working in the top court, no one would
have believed that a person with dark skin would ask to work
there. They said that the wealth of Natal came from Whites,
and so it should be Whites who controlled the work in the top
court. Ifthey were toletme in, then others like me would want
tocome intoo, and the Whites could lose their control.
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The Company of Lawyers had a top lawyer who was going
to argue for them against me. But this lawyer, too, was a
friend of Abdulla's, and he sent me word through Abdulla to
say that | should come and see him. He talked very openly
to me, and asked a few questions about my past.

Then he said: "l have no problem with you. | was only
afraid that you were someone who moves from place to
place to hide from his past. Because we did not have your
papers from Britain, | was even more worried about who
youreally were. People have come here saying they were
lawyers when they were not. And the letters you have sent
to us from two business men were no help because they
know nothing of your past before coming to South Africa."

"But," | said, "thatis true of everyone | know here. Even
Abdulla himself first came to know me when | arrived here."

"Butyou say that he is from the same place as you in India.
If your father was a government leader there, Abdulla must
know of your family. If you get him to write a letter saying this,
I willhave noreasonto argue against you working in the top
court, and I would tell the Company of Lawyers that."

| was angry at what he was saying, but | did not show my
feelings. To myself | was thinking, "If | had sent a letter from
Abdulla, the argument would have been that they needed
letters from Whites. And what difference does it make if my
father wasrich or poor, powerful or weak? How can my family
and birth be used against me?" But | did not say this. What
| said was: "l do not agree with the argument that the
Company of Lawyers needs to know so much about my past;
but I willdo as you have asked, and get a letter from Abdulla
telling you about my family."

| did just that; and the lawyer acting for the Company of
Lawyers said that he was happy with it. Butthe Company of
Lawyers was not. They wentto the top court to fight against
me being able to work there; but the Court did not listen to
them. It could see through their argument. The top judge
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said, "The argument that Mr. Gandhi must show his papers
from Britain is an empty one. If he has said anything thatis
false, and you can show it, he will be punished for it. But until
you can show that he has lied, we must believe what the
papers from the High Courtin Mumbai say. As for his skin
colour, the law says nothing about skin colour for lawyers
working here. | can see noreason for stopping Mr. Gandhi
from working in this court as a lawyer. Mr. Gandhi, you can
now make your promise to follow the rules of this court."

I made the promise, and as soon as | finished making it, the
judge turned to me and said, "You must now take off your
turban, Mr. Gandhi. You must follow the rules of this court if
you want to work here."

I could see that | would not be free to do everything my way.
The turban that | would not take off in the lower courts | now
took off in the top court when the judge told me to. Itis notthat
| agreed with the rule; and | can see good arguments for
fighting againstit. But | wanted to save my strength for bigger
wars. My ability as a fighter would be wasted on a very small
argument over wearing a turban.

Abdulla and other friends did not agree. Givingin made me
look weak to them. They thought | should have stood up to
the judge. largued that "Whenin Rome, one should do as the
Romansdo."

"It would be different," | said, "if | was in India, and the
English were telling me how to dress in my own country; but
as an officer of the court, it would not be smart of me to go
against the dressrules of Natal."

| was able to put to rest most of their arguments, but I do
not think they were perfectly happy with the teaching that
something which is rightin one place may not be rightin
another place. Allthrough my life, | have found that trying
to find the truth often leads me to give in on some points
that | had been holding onto before that time. Inlater life,
I saw that this giving inis a very important part of satyagraha.
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My friends often became angry with me when | would do it,
and at times my life was even in danger because of it. But
truthis like that. Itis as hard as diamond in one place, but soft
as aflowerin another.

The court argument with the Company of Lawyers was
reported by newspapers in South Africa, and through this,
more people learned about me. Most of the newspapers took
my side, and said the Company of Lawyers were just angry
because | was better than them. The newspaper reports, in
some ways, made my work easier.

QUESTIONS ON PART 17

1. What two arguments did the Company of Lawyers have
against Gandhiworking as a lawyer in South Africa?

2. A statue ofawomanis used all over the world to show how
courts should act. How did Gandhi say that the Company of
Lawyers was not acting in that way?

3. Gandhi had letters from important White businessmen to
say that he was a good person. What did the lawyer acting
for the Company of Lawyers say he would need before he
would believe that Gandhi was a good person?

4. What was Gandhi thinking angrily to himself about this?
5. The judge did not agree with the Company of Lawyers, but
what did he tell Gandhi that he must do if he wanted to work

inthe courtas alawyer?

6. What saying about Rome did Gandhi use to tell why he
agreed to take off his turban?

7. What did most of the newspapers say about the action
against Gandhi by the Company of Lawyers?
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18. Natal Indian Congress

Working as a lawyer was not my first job in Natal. My
reason for staying there was to help the Indian people.
Sending the letter to Britain about the Indian vote was not
enoughinitself. We needed to continue other actions if we
were to move the Government in Britain to help us. For such
a movement, we needed leaders and rules. | talked with
Abdulla and other friends about this, and we all agreed that
we needed to start such a group.

I worried a lot about a good name for the group. We did not
want to be seen on one political side or another. The name
"Congress"has abad taste to it for some people in Britain, but
the Congressis the very life of India, and | wanted to make it
the same in Natal. So | put forward the name "Natal Indian
Congress", and on 22 May, the Natal Indian Congress came
into being.

Abdulla's big room was full that day. Everyone liked the
new name. Our list of rules was simple, but the cost of being
amember was high. Only those who paid £3 or more ayear
couldjoin. Thericherclasses were encouraged to give more.
Abdulla was at the top of the list, promising to give £24 a year.
Two other friends agreed to do the same. |thought | should
not be selfish about giving to the work, so | promised £12 a
year. Thiswas alotfor me, but I believed that | could find that
much. Asithappened, God helped me to keep my promise.
From this start on my part, we were able to find many others
who were willing to give £12 ayear as well.

We were each to pay alittle each month, but as the months
wenton, we found that it was difficult to get people to pay what
they had promised at a time when they had been full of
enthusiasm. We could notgo to people who lived away from
Durban and ask them for the money; and even people who
lived in Durban would not pay without us asking them many
times.



176 MY EXPERIMENTS WITH TRUTH

Iltwas my job as leaderto getthe money. Soon my office
helper was working full time just trying to get people to pay
up. He was growing tired of the job. I feltthe only way to fix
itup was for us to ask people to pay the whole year up front.
We called a Group Meeting to ask for this, and everyone
agreed. This made the business side of our work much
easier.

I learned from the start that such work cannot be done on
borrowed money. People will keep most promises, apart
from promises to give money. They are always slow to pay
money thatthey have promised to pay, and the Natal Indians
were no different from anyone else. Butbecause we would
not do anything without the money in our hands, the Natal
Indian Group Meetings never owed money to anyone.

The people working with me showed special enthusiasm
for finding new members. It was interesting work, and they
learned much just from doing it. Many people came forward
with money to help us. It was not easy to tell people living
far away from Durban about what we were doing, but top
business menin many of these places helped usto go there
and tell of our work.

Getting money was not the only thing we had to do. I had
learned thatitis a waste to have too much . We had the job
of using the money well after we had received it.

We had meetings at least once a month, and sometimes
as often as once a week. Most of the people had never
learned how to give short talks that were to the point, so
these meetings were a good way for them to learn, and to
grow in confidence. Many of these people became very
good attalking in meetings, and at saying things that were
a help to the group as a whole.

Knowing that groups like this often use too much money
on little things, | decided not to waste money on printing.
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I had a small machine that | used to printreports and other
papers by hand. Only when the Congress had enough
money and there were too many people to do all the work on
my machine did we pay for real printing. Little ways to cut
corners on spending can be a big help in any group; but
groups often do not think to use them. Thatis why | have
written here what we did to cut printing costs.

People never asked for a written record of the money they
gave us; but we always gave one anyway. Every rupee was
listed, and | think the records of our business in 1894 are still
there today in the books of the Natal Indian Congress. No
group can get along without good money records. Without
them, there will soon be serious problems over where the
money is going. Good records and truth go hand in hand.

A branch of the Congress was for young educated Indians
who had been born in South Africa. They, and a few other
members, started an Indian Learning Group as a part of the
Congress. They paid a small sumto join, and they had their
own meetings: to talk about what they needed; to come in
touch with Indian business men; and to act to help other
Indians. The members metto give talks and read papers to
each othertoo. Andthey started a small reading room.

The third thing the Congress did was to teach. We did this
by sending leaflets to English people in South Africa, Britain,
and India. The leaflets told of the needs of our people in
Natal. | wrote two leaflets that we used for this. One was
about Indian life in Natal; the other was about the law that
stopped Indians from voting there. Ittook me alongtimeto
write these leaflets, but it was worth the time, because they
were very widely read.

From all of this, we started to win many friends in South
Africa. People from all political groups started to feel what we
were feeling. And the Congress helpedto give Indians living
in South Africa a clear line of action that they could follow in
making life better for themselves.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 18

1. What name did Gandhi put forward for the group that he
started in Durban?

2. What problem did Gandhi have with the money that people
promised to pay to be members of the group?

3. Finish this: "People will keep most promises, apart from
promisesto____ "
4. What did many of the people learn from the Congress
meetings, that helped them to grow in confidence?

5. Finish this: "Good records and go handin hand."

6. How did the Congress teach others about the problems
facing Indians living in South Africa?
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19. Balasundaram

What your heart wants most truly, it will have. | have often
seen this to be true in my own life. Work for the poor is
something my heart has always desired, and because of this
desire, my heart has always put me with the poorin one way
oranother.

Young Indians born in South Africa, and Indian office
workers were part of the Natal Indian Congress; but
uneducated workers and agreement workers were not. They
were not able to pay the cost of being a member, so the only
way the Congress could win their love would be by serving
them. An opening came for us to do that at atime when we
believed we were not yetready for it.

I had only been working in my new job for three or four
months, and the Congress was stillababy, when a Tamil man
in very rough clothes, holding his head cloth in his hands, with
two front teeth broken and his mouth bleeding, stood in front
of me shaking and crying. He had been hitmany times by his
master. My visitor's name was Balasundaram. He was
working under an agreement with a White manin Durban—a
man that very many people knew of. His master had become
angry and lost control of himself, hitting Balasundaram very
badly, and breaking two of his teeth.

| sent Balasundaram to get a doctor to list the ways that he
had been hurt by his master. Then | went straightto a judge
with Balasundaram and the paper from the doctor. The judge
was angry atthe man and sent the police to bring him to court.

I did not want the master to be punished. All | wanted
was for Balasundaram to be freed from working for him.
The law for people like Balasundaram, who work under
agreements, was very hard. If a servant left his job
without giving his master time to find a new servant, the
master could take the servant to court to get money from him.
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Butif a servant working under an agreement like we Indians
worked under left his job, he could be put in prison for it.
Servants working under the agreement were the same as
slaves, owned by their masters.

There were only two ways that they could be freed. One
way was to get an important official from the government to
say they could be free, and the other was for the master
himself to say they could be free.

[ first went to the master, saying, "l do not want to take action
againstyouto have you punished. |think you can see thatyou
have been very cruel to him. But | willbe happy if you agree
for Balasundaram to finish his time under the agreement with
adifferent master." The master quickly agreed to this. Then
| talked to the government official, who said he would agree to
Balasundaram leaving if | could find him a new master.

| went looking for a new master. The master had to be
White, as no Indian could have an agreement worker working
forhim. Atthattime | knew very few White people. Imetone
who kindly agreed to take on Balasundaram. | thanked him
for hiskindness. The judge said that the master was guilty,
but he wrote down that he had agreed for Balasundaram to
leave and work for someone else.

Soon every Indian working under the agreement heard
about what we had done for Balasundaram, and they all
thought of me as their friend. | was filled with happiness at
this opening with the poorer Indians. A line of agreement
workers started to pour into my office, and | was able, through
it, to learn more of their good times and of their bad times.

Evenin Chennaipeople heard of Balasundaram. Workers
from different parts of the state who went to Natal on
agreement, came to know of this through other workers there.

Itwas not such a special actionin itself that we did, but just
knowing that there was someone who would take a stand for
them surprised them, and gave them new hope.
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| have said that Balasundaram came to my office with his
head cloth in his hand. There was a special sadness about
this, that showed how badly we had been humbled. | have
already told the story of how | was forced to take off my turban.
Every agreement worker was forced to take off his head cloth
when visiting a White person. It was the same for a hat, a
turban, or a scarf. The humble Indian sign of touching both
hands togetherin prayer when meeting a person was not good
enough. The Whites still wanted them to take off their hats.
Balasundaram believed that he must do that even with me,
because | was a lawyer. It was the firsttime that anyone had
done thisto me, and | was embarrassed by it. | asked himto
tie up his scarf. Atfirsthe was afraid to do it, but he was very
happy when he understood that he really was free to do that.

| have never been able to understand how people can
believe it makes them look good when they force others to go
through humble acts in front of them.

QUESTIONS ON PART 19

1. Why were agreement workers not part of the Natal Indian
Congress?

2. If an agreement worker left a job against the will of the
person he or she was working for what could happento the
worker?

3. What did Balasundaram's master agree to, that made the
judge go easy on him for hurting Balasundaram?

4. What effect did Gandhi's action for Balasundaram have on
other agreement workers.

5. What action do English people do that has the same
meaning as the Indian action of touching your hands together
in prayer when you meet a person?
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20. The £3 Tax

After Balasundaram, | came in touch with many other
Indian agreement workers. What forced me to make a
deeper study of their lot was a movement to put a special
heavy tax on them.

That same year, 1894, the Natal Government tried to
make a yearly tax of £25 on Indian agreement workers.
The plan greatly surprised me. | asked the Congress to
look into it and they quickly decided to fight against the
movement.

But first | must tell the story behind the tax.

Around 1860, Whites living in Natal found a great need
for workers to help them with their sugar-cane farming.
The Blacks living in South Africa were not able to do the
work well, so the Natal Government wrote to the Indian
Government to ask for workers from India.

An agreement was made between the government of
India and the Natal government that workers from India
could come to Natal if they would agree to work on these
farms for five years. Inreturn, at the end of the five years,
they would be free to live in South Africa and even to own
land there. Inthis way the Natal Government hoped that
Indians would make their country richer.

The Indians did more than was asked of them. They not
only helped to grow sugar-cane, but they grew many
vegetables as well. They brought new fruit and vegetables
with them from India, and they found ways to grow the
South Indian vegetables more cheaply. They did not stop
with farming. When their time was up they started
businesses. They boughtland and built houses. Business
men from India followed them, moving to South Africa to
do business.
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The White businessmen were afraid. They had
welcomed some uneducated workers, butthey had done
it without thinking that these same workers might end up
becoming their competition in the business world.

Anger against Indians started from these seeds. But
other things encouraged the anger to grow. We had a
different way of life. We were simple people, happy with
few things. We were not very interested in rules about
health and about keeping things clean. We did not keep
our homes neat. We were slow to spend money to fix
things if they were old or broken. All of these things, plus
our differences inreligion, encouraged the fear and anger
togrow. The anger came outin laws... first the law against
us voting, and now the tax on agreement workers, who did
notreceive much more in their pay than what the tax was
asking them to give to the government.

On top of the laws, people had been doing and saying
other things against us.

The firstargument against the Indian agreement workers
had been that the government should just send them all
back to India. Most people knew that the government of
India would not agree to that. So thatis when the new tax
law was dreamed up. It said that when the five years of
work was up, the Indian workers should be forced to
choose between agreeing to two more years of work,
returning to India, or paying a tax of £25 a year.

Government leaders from Natal went to India to talk to
the government there about the plan. The governmentin
India disagreed with the £25 tax, but agreed to a £3 tax on
each member of an Indian family.

| believed at the time (and still do) that it was wrong to
do that. There was no way that this helped India. Why
should the Indian Government need to make such an
agreementthat could only help the Whites in South Africa?
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By the time an Indian worker finished his work under the
agreement, he would be paying about £12 a year if he had
a wife and two children. Thatis close to what he would
have been paid when working under the agreement. No
other country inthe world had ever made such a cruel tax.

We put together a plan to fight this tax. | believe it was
the Natal Indian Congress that made English officials in
India try so hard to get the tax dropped from £25 to £3 for
each personin the family in the first place; but | cannot
prove this. Eveniftheir action was not an effect of what
we had said, they needed to know that the £3 tax was
wrong too; it was up to us to tell them.

The Congress did not feel adrop from £25 to £3 for each
person was anything to be happy about. We were still sad
that the Indian Government was not completely acting to
protect the interests of Indian agreement workers. It was
twenty years before we were able to get the tax dropped,
and then it was only because the Congress had help from
all Indians in South Africa. The agreement workers
themselves paid highly for the change, with some of them
dying when the government started shooting at them.
Over tenthousand of them went to prison before the tax
was dropped.

But truth was the winner in the end. What we Indians
wentthrough was needed to tell the truth. The truth would
not have been a winner without the brave faith and
continuing work of the Indian people. If the people had
stopped trying, or if the Congress had dropped the fight,
believing that there was no way to change the law, the
hated tax would be there to this day; and it would be an
eternal mark against Indians living in South Africa, and a
mark against the whole of India.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 20

1. Inthe 1860's the government in Natal asked for Indians
to come to South Africato help them grow a plant. What
was it?

2. If Indians helped with the farming for five years, what
would they be able to do at the end of it?

3. What happened after the agreement workers came to
Natal, that made the White businessmen afraid?

4. Gandhisaid thatthe tax on agreement workers was not
what the White businessmen really wanted. What did they
really want? And why were they not able to getit?

5. Did the government in India stop the government in
Natal from taxing the Indian agreement workers there?

6. How long did it take for the Natal Indian Congress to get
the tax dropped?

7. How many agreement workers were putin prison for
fighting against this tax?
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21. Different Religions

My desire to work for the people was because | wanted to
know God. Work for the people became my religion, because
I felt I could only know God through loving and helping others.
For me, loving and helping others was loving and helping
Indians... because they were the ones who came to me
asking for help, and because | had a natural ability for helping
them. | wentto South Africa in the first place for the fun of
travel, to get away from problems in India, and to make
money. Butas | have said, | found myselfinstead looking for
God and looking for God's plan for my life.

Christian friends had started my interestin knowing more
about God, and that interest grew to become a very strong
hunger. My Christian friends would not give up on me, even
if  had not shown an interestin God. When I moved from
Pretoria to Durban, the Durban head of the South Africa
General Mission, Mr. Spencer Walton, found me, and |
became like a member of his family. Mr. Walton's way was
differentto that of many Christians. Atnotime can|lremember
him asking me to make Christianity my religion. But his life
was placed before me as an open book. He let me watch all
his movements. His wife was a quiet, kind woman with much
ability. |liked the spirit of these two people. We knew there
was a serioust difference between us, and arguing would not
take itaway. But even differences can help people spiritually,
ifthere is love, honesty and an open hearttoward those who
are different. | liked Mr. and Mrs. Walton's humble, hard-
working spirit, and we met very often.

They helped to keep my interestin religion alive. | could
not find the time that | had been able to find in Pretoria for
religious studies. But | used well the little time that | had.
| continued to write to Raychandbhai, who was leading
me. Afriend sent me abook by the poet Narmada Shankar.
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I had heard that he lived a very loose and free life, without
a job, and | was filled with interest in the way that his
interestinreligion had changed his life. | read other books
too. Some put out by the Theosophists made my love for
the Hindu religion grow. But it did not make me want to
turn against other religions. Writings by Washington
Irving and by Thomas Carlyle on the prophet Muhammad
made me think more highly of Muhammad.

So Il was growing in my understanding of the different
religions. The study encouraged me to look at myself too,
and started me changing my life to take on what | liked
best of each religion. | started some of the Yoga exercises
of the Hindu religion, as well as | was able to understand
them just from reading the Hindu books, but I did not get
very far. Uptothe present | have not been able to find time
toreturnto them.

| also made a very close study of Tolstoy's books. The
one about the teachings of Jesus, and what we should do
about obeying Jesus, and some of his others, made avery
deep change in me. | started to see more and more the
eternal power of perfect love.

About the same time | came in touch with another
Christian family. They asked me to go to their Methodist
Church each Sunday, and to have a meal with them after
the meeting. | did not like the church. The talks were
boring. The people did not seem to be religious, or at all
serious about serving God. They seemed to be more
interested in the things of the world. Going to church was
just something they did because everyone else was doing
it. Attimes | would fall asleep in the meetings. | was
embarrassed, but my guilt was made lighter when | saw
that my neighbours were doing the same thing. | could not
continue for long like this, so | stopped going to the
meetings.
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My ties with the family came to an end in thisway: The wife
was a good and simple woman, but a little narrow minded. One
day we were talking about Jesus and Buddha. | said, "Buddha's
love was very great. It did not stop with people. Doesn'tit fill
you with love to think of the baby sheep happily riding on his
shoulders? Idon't see this love for animals in the life of Jesus."
This hurt the good woman. | could see that, and | quickly
stopped what | was saying. Thenwe moved to the table to eat.
Her five year old was with us. | am happiest when with
children, and | had long been friends with this boy. | made fun
of the piece of meatin his dish and praised the apple on mine.
The boy liked what | said and he joined me in praising the fruit.

Butthe mother? She was worried by this.

| could see this and again stopped what | was saying,
changing the talk to something else. The next week |
returned, but not without a little fear. I did not think it was right
to stop going for the visits, but the good woman made it easy
for me to stop anyway.

"Mr. Gandhi," she said, "please don't think badly of me, but
I must say that my son has not been helped by your visits. He
no longer feels comfortable eating meat. Each day he asks
for fruit, telling me what you said about fruit being better than
meat. Thisistoo much. If he stops eating meat he'llbecome
sick, or atleast weak. How could I live with that? From now
on, you must nottalk to him. Things you say are notgood for
childrento hear."

"l am sad that | have hurtyou," | said. "l understand your
feelings as a parent, for | too have children. We can easily
end this problem. What | eat will have more effect on the child
than what | say, and if | keep coming, he will see my actions.
The best way to protect him from me is for me to stop coming.
But we can still be friends."

"Thank you," she said. She was clearly happy for me to
stop coming.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 21

1. Gandhi said that he went to South Africa in the first
place to travel, to get away from problems in India, and to
make money. But later, because of his Christian friends
there, he found himself looking for something different.
What was that?

2. Fill in the missing words: "Even differences can help
people spiritually, if there is , , and an open
hearttoward those who are different."

3. Whose writings made Gandhi think more highly of the
prophet Muhammad?

4. Gandhi said that a book by Tolstoy made a very deep
change in him. What was the book about?

5. What did Gandhi say to the Methodist woman that he
could see had hurt her?

6. How had Gandhi's talk to the woman's son made him
disagree with his parents?
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22. House Workers

Starting up a house was becoming easier for me. But my
house in Natal was to be different from the ones | had had in
Mumbaiand London. Thistime |l was to spend on things that
were there just to make me look good. | believed that, as an
Indian lawyer and a leader of the people, | should have a nicer
house. So | found a place in a better part of town. The
furniture was also better than | had owned before. Food was
simple, but because | often had English and Indian friends
over for meals, the cost of the food was still high.

Any home needs a good servant. But I never knew how to
keep anyone as a servant. | had a friend who helped me, a
cook who had become part of the family, and some office
workers who lived and ate with me.

Onthe whole, I think I did a good job of leading the house,
butthere were some sad happenings.

The friend staying with me was very smart. | believed that
he was true to me, butin this | was wrong. He did not like one
office worker who stayed there, and he told stories about him
that | started to believe. The office worker had a problem with
getting angry too quickly, and when he learned that | had
started to believe stories against him, he left and stopped
working for me. | felt bad because I didn't know if | had
wronged him or not. | always felt a little guilty about that.

At about this time, the cook needed to be away for a few
days for somereason. | hadto put another man on for those
few days. |laterlearnedthatthe man | puton was notagood
man at all; but for those few days he was a big helptome. In
the first few days that he was working there, he learned that
things were happening under my roof that should not have
been happening, and he decided to tellme. People knew me
as avery honest personwho believed the best about other
people, so what this man learned was a big surprise for him.
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| would go home forlunch each day at 1p.m. But attwelve
one day, the new cook came running to the office, breathing
heavily. He said, "Please come home now. You will be
surprised at what you will see there."

"Whatis this?" | asked. "You must tell me whatis wrong.
How can | leave work early without knowing why | am doing
it?"

"All l can say is that you will be very hurt if you do not find
out now whatis happening."

| could see that he was serious. So | and one of my workers
went with him. He took us to my friend's room and said, "Open
the door and see for yourself."

Now | could see what he was talking about. | knocked at
the door and there was no answer. | knocked again, hard
enoughto shake the walls. The door opened, and in the room
was a prostitute. | asked herto leave the house and neverto
return.

To my friend | said, "From this minute on, | want nothing
more to do with you. You have tricked me, and made me look
stupid for believing inyou. Is that how you act after | have put
my faith in you?"

Instead of seeing that he was wrong, he said that he would
make me look bad.

"I have nothing to hide," I said. "Do what you like, but you
must leave here... now!"

This made him worse. He would not go. So | said to the
office worker, who was still outside the room, "Please go and
tellthe Police that a person living with me has done something
very wrong. | do not want him to stay in my house, but he will
notgo. | would be very glad if police help could be sent here."

This showed my friend that | was serious. His guilt made
him lose confidence. He agreed that he had been wrong, and
he said he would leave the house if | would not tell the police.
Sothatis what we did.
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This happening taught me animportant truth atan important
time in my life. | had wanted to help the man by making him
my friend. But I could not do that without some change in the
man himself. | knew he had a bad side, but | had closed my
eyestoitbecause | believed that he would be true to me. |
had been hoping to get good fruit from a bad tree. Trying to
help the man had come close to destroying people's faith in
me. | had closed my ears to kind friends who had said | should
not letthe man stay there, because my hopes for the man had
made me blind to the truth about him.

It was only the new cook who had helped me to see the
truth. Iwould not have been able to walk the straight line that
God had planned for me if | had stayed with this friend,
because | would have been always wasting time on him. He
had the ability to keep me in the dark, and to lead me in the
wrong direction.

It was like God used the cook to save me. He was not a
good cook, and he was only to be there for a short time; but
he was the perfect one to open my eyes. | laterlearned that
this had not been the first time that the prostitute had been
brought to my house. She had often come before, but the
other workers had all been afraid to tellme. They all knew of
my blind faith in this friend. The cook had been sent just for
this reason; for he asked me there and then if he could leave.

"I cannot stay here," he said. "You are too easily tricked by
other people. Thisis noplace forme."

[ let him go.

Afterthat | could see that my friend had poisoned my mind
against the office worker who had left me in anger. Itried very
hard to fix things up with the office worker for not having
believed him, but | feel very sad that | never was able to make
him fully happy. Allthatyou may dotofix abreak betweentwo
people will never make the truth of that break go away.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 22

1. Why did an office worker who was living with Gandhi
leave himin anger?

2. What did the new cook show Gandhi about his friend?

3. How was Gandhi able to make his friend move out of the
house?

4. Gandhisaid he had closed his ears to friends who had
said that he should not let the man stay with him. Why had
he closed his earstothem?

5. Why had the other workers not told Gandhi about what
was happening with his friend?
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23. Going Home

By this time | had been in South Africa for three years.
I had come to know the people well and they had come to
know me well. In 1896, | asked them if | could return to
India for six months. | could see that | was going to be a
long time in South Africa. My business as a lawyer was
going well, and the Indian people felt that they still needed
my help. So | decided to go home and bring my wife and
children back to live with me there.

| also believed that | could use my shorttime in India to
educate people there about life for Indians living in South
Africa. The £3 tax was an open sore, and there could be
no peace until we could get it dropped.

About the middle of 1896, | sailed for home in a ship
headed for Calcutta. There were very few people travelling
onthe ship. There were two English officers that [ was in
close touch with. | would play chess with one of them for
one hour each day.

The ship's doctor gave me a book that showed how you
could teach yourself Tamil. | started to study it. From my
time in Natal | had decided that | needed to learn Hindustani
to get closerto Muslim Indians, and Tamil to get closer to
the Indians from Chennai.

The English officer and | found one of the poorer
travellers who agreed to help us both to learn a little
Hindustani. The officer could remember words better than
me. | often found it difficult to work out the Hindustani
letters. I think | worked harder than the officer, but | was
not able to keep up with himin learning.

| did better with Tamil. | had no teacher, but the book
was well written, and | did not feel that | needed much
outside help.
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| had hoped to continue these studies after arriving in
India, but | was not able to. From 1893 on, most of my
reading was done in prisons. | returned to these studies
attimes when |l wasin prisonsin South Africaandin India,
but | was never able to talk in Tamil, and | forget much now
that | learned toread inthe past, because | have notbeen
usingit. Eachtime | see someone from South India, | feel
bad that | have not learned the Tamil language, so that |
could talk with them.

But back to my trip home. The captain of the ship was
a Plymouth Brother, and we became friends. We talked
more about spiritual things than about ships and travel. In
his thinking there was a clear line between faith and being
good. He said thatthe most beautiful thing about the Bible
was thatitwas very simple. Even a child could understand
that anyone who puts their faith in Jesus and his death on
the cross has no more need to worry about their sins.
Their sins would be paid for and they would be saved. This
friend made me think of the Plymouth Brother | had metin
Pretoria. Anyreligionthat made rules about good and evil
was no good for him. My vegetarian food had been what
started this talk. Why should | not eat meat, or better still,
why should | not eat cows? Didn't God make these
animals for us to eat in the same way that he made
vegetables forusto eat? These questions would always
pull us into talk about religion.

He could not change me and | could not change him. |
could not stop believing that religion and doing good are
one and the same thing. And the Captain could not stop
believing that the opposite was true.

After twenty-four days, we came to the end of what had
been a very nice trip. We landed in Calcutta, and from
there | took a train to Mumbai.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 23

1. What were two reasons that Gandhi had for wanting to
return to India for six months?

2. On his trip from Durban to Calcutta, what did Gandhi try
tolearn?

3. From 1893 on, where did Gandhi do most of his
reading?

4. Gandhi became friends with the captain of the ship on
his trip from Durban to Calcutta. What did they mostly talk
about?

5. How were Gandhi and the ship's captain differentin
their thinking about religion and doing good?

6. How did Gandhi travel from Calcutta to Mumbai?
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24. In India

Onthe way to Mumbai, the train stopped at Allahabad for
forty-five minutes. | decided to use the time for a shortdrive
through the town. I needed some medicine, so | stopped at
a shop; but the owner was half asleep and was very slow
about mixing it for me. Because of that, when I returned to the
station, the train was pulling out. The station master had
kindly stopped the train for one minute for me, but when he
could notfind me, he had had my suitcases taken off the train
for me, and let the train go.

| found aroom and decided to start my work for Indians in
South Africarightthere in Allahabad while waiting for another
train. | sent a short letter to the owner of the newspaper,
sayingthat | had missedthe train, and would be leaving on the
next one, the following day. | had heard thatthe paper was
against Indians having too much power. | asked if | could have
aninterview with someone from the newspaper right away,
andthe owner agreed. He listened closely to what | had to say.
He promised to putin his paper anything that | might write, but
added that he could not promise to agree with all that | said,
because it was his job to give a good hearing to both sides.

"Itis enough," | said, "that you should study the question,
andtalk aboutitin your paper. | am not asking for more than
whatisright."

This interview by accident with the newspaper in Allahabad
was the start of a chain of actions that ended in my being
punished in Natal.

When the train came, | did not take time to get off in
Mumbai. | went straight to Rajkot, where | started making
plans for aleaflet about what was happening in South Africa.
Ittook a month to finish, and because it had a green cover,
people called itthe Green Leaflet. Inthatleaflet | tried not to
make things sound too bad, because | knew that from a
distance things can sound worse than they are.
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Ten thousand leaflets were printed, and sent to all the
papers, and to leaders of every political group in India. The
newspaperin Allahabad was the firstto actonit. They putthe
mostimportant pointsin a telegramto a big news company in
Britain, and that company sent a much shorter telegram to
Natal. It was not more than three lines, but it made things
sound much worse than the picture that | had made for people
toreadinIndia, anditdid notuse the words that l used. We
will see later what effect this had in Natal. But atleastin India,
every important paper had something to say about the question
of Indians in South Africa.

Putting the leaflets together was not an easy job. It would
have been expensive too, if  had paid people to doit. But|
had a much simpler plan. |l asked the children who lived near
me to help fortwo or three hours in the morning, when they
had no school. They willingly agreed to do this. | promised
to blessthem and to give them used stamps that | had been
saving from letters | had received. This was the firsttime that
I had used children as helpers, and two of those little friends
still work with me today.

About this time a very bad sickness hit Mumbai, killing
many people there. People were afraid that it would hit Rajkot
too. I believedthat|could be of some help by teaching people
to be clean. | said that | would help the State, and | was put
with a group that was to look into the question. | said that we
should take special interestin cleaning up the toilets, and the
group decided to look at the toilets in every road in town.

The poor people were happy for us to look at their toilets,
and if we told them to make changes, they were happy to do
as we asked. But when we went to the houses of the rich
people, some would not even let us in, much less listen to
what we were asking themto do. Forthe most part we found
the toilets of the rich to be dirtier than the toilets of the poor.
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They were dark, smelled very bad, and were full of dirt and
worms. The changes we asked for were very simple. We
asked them to do things like using buckets for the dung and
not letting waste fall on the floor, or making a hole in the wall
so thatlight and air could come into the toilet, and so that it
would be easier for the toilet workers to take the buckets
away when they were full. Thericher people argued against
putting holes in the wall, and most of the time they did not
follow our rules.

It was also our job to look at the toilets of the outcastes.
Only one member of our group was prepared to go there with
me. The others believed it was too much to even visit
outcastes, much less to look at their toilets. But | found the
visitto be a nice surprise.

It was the first visitin my life to such people. The men and
women were surprised to see us. Then | asked if we could
look at their toilets.

"Toilets? Forus?"they saidin great surprise? "We go out
inthe open. Toilets are for you important people."

"Then will it be okay for us to look at your houses?" | asked.

"You are perfectly welcome to do that, sir. You may lookin
every corner. Butthey are not houses; they are holes."

| went in and was happy to see that the insides were as
clean asthe outsides. Thefloors were clean, as were the few
pans. There was no fear of the sickness starting there.

Inthe rich houses we came across a toilet that | must tell
about. There was a small open channel around the wall of
each room, that water could move through. The men would
stand and use the channel for a toilet at any time. In one
bedroom at the top of the house, the channel was used for
dung too. There was a pipe from that room to the bottom
rooms. The smell of that room was too much for me. | do not
know how people could sleep there.
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We also visited a religious meeting place for Hindus. The
priestthere was a close friend of my family, so he agreed for
us to look at everything and say what we thought needed to
be changed. There was one place, on the far side of a wall,
where people would throw food that they did not use, and
leaves thatthey had used as dishes. All this dirty material
made a hill where many birds would come to eat. The toilets
too were dirty. | did not stay there long enough to know if the
changes we asked for were carried out.

[ felt very said to see a place of worship so dirty. One would
think that people would do their best to be clean in a holy
place. The holy writings taught people to be clean, both
inside and out.

QUESTIONS ON PART 24

1. What happened when Gandhiwas at Allahabad?
2. What did Gandhi do while waiting for a train in Allahabad?

3. Gandhi printed tenthousand "Green Leaflets". Who did he
sendthemto?

4. What did the newspaper in Allahabad do with the leaflet,
that later made problems for Gandhiin Natal?

5. What did Gandhi encourage people to do in Rajkot, to stop
the sickness that was hurting so many people at thattime?

6. True or false: Forthe most part, Gandhi found the toilets
of the rich to be dirtier than the toilets of the poor.
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25. Two Loves

| know few people who have more love for the laws of
Britain than what | had at thattime. | see now that my love
fortruth was atthe root of it. Atevery meetinglwenttoin
Natal, people would sing the holy song of Britain, and |
always felt that | should join in singing it too. My love was
real. | could never act like | had a good quality that | did
not have. There were problems with English control of
countries like India and South Africa, but on the whole |
thought it was okay. Inthose days | believed that control
by Britain was, for the most part, good for the people that
they were over.

| believed that the feeling against Indians in South
Africa was opposite to the true English spirit, and | believed
it was a special problem in that one country alone. | had
as much love as the English themselves for the Queen,
and any time there was a movement to show love for
Britain without showing too much emotion, | would happily
take partin what was happening.

Never in my life did | do this for what | was to receive
fromit. Neverdidltrytodoitinaselfishway. For meit
was something | did because | believed it was right. | did
not think | should be rewarded for it.

When | arrived in India, people were preparing to mark
seventy-five years from the birth of Queen Victoria. | was
asked to join a group that was doing this in Rajkot. |
agreed, but | had the feeling that what we were doing was
mostly just show. People were saying things they didn't
really mean, and | asked myself if it was right to be a part
of itatall. Inthe end | decided to just do my part of the
business and not worry about the others.

One part of the plan was to plant trees. | saw that many
people were doing it only to please the English officials.
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Itried to tell them that they did not need to plant the trees
if they did not believe in what they were doing. It should
be done seriously or not at all. 1 had the feeling that they
were laughing at me for taking it all so seriously. |
remember that | was so serious about the trees that | had
planted that | continued to give them water and to protect
them long after that.

| taught my children to sing the holy song of Britain.
Later | changed my thinking about some of the words. As
my understanding of ahimsa grew, | looked more closely
at all that | said. The linesinthe song that were against
the spirit of ahimsa were these:

Separate her enemies, and make them fall.
Confuse their government and destroy their evil tricks.

| talked to Doctor Booth about this, and he agreed that
itwas notright for a believer in ahimsato sing those lines.
How could we say that the so-called "enemy" was "evil"?
And because they were enemies, did that prove that they
were inthe wrong? All we could ask for from God was that
he do what is right for each of us. Doctor Booth agreed
completely, and for his people he wrote new words for the
holy song. But | will say more of Doctor Booth later.

When | was in Rajkot working on the leaflet about South
Africa, | had to make a very short trip to Mumbai. | wanted
to educate the people by holding open meetings, and
Mumbai was the first place | chose to do this. | talked to
two judges about where to start and they both said that |
should start by talking to Sir Pherozeshah Mehta. The
judges themselves were not free to take partin actions
which might be looked on as political. But they said that
their hearts were with me.

| had already been planning to see Sir Pherozeshah
Mehta, and the words of the two judges helped me to see
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how right my choice was. When | did meet him, | was
preparedto see someone very special. He was called the
"Lion of Mumbai" and other names that showed how highly
people thought of him. Butthe Lion did not use his power
to make me feel weak. He met me as aloving father would
meet his adult son. We metin his office, and some of his
friends and followers were there too. One of these people
was Mr. D. E. Wacha, Sir Pherozeshah's right hand man.
He asked to meet me again.

SirPherozeshah listened closely and then said, "l see that
I must help you. I'llcallameeting here." A day was fixed for
the meeting and he said goodbye, asking me to see him again
one day before the meeting. | wenthome from the interview
filled with happiness.

Like my love for the truth, my other deep love was for
nursing. |liked to nurse both friends and strangers.

While I was in Mumbai, | called on my sister's husband,
who was very sick. He did not have much money, and my
sister was not able to nurse him, so | took him and my sister
back to Rajkot with me. The sickness wenton longer than |
had believed it would. | stayed with him in my room day and
night. I needed to stay awake part of the night to get work
done on the leaflet at the same time that | was nursing him.
Inthe end he died, but | felt better just knowing that | had been
able to nurse him over his last days.

My interest in nursing became such a strong love that |
often would leave my other work and bring not only my wife,
but my whole family into working with me on nursing someone.

Such work can have no meaning if you do notdo it happily.
If you do it because you want others to think well of you, it
makes you a very small person, and it destroys your spirit.
Serving others without being happy to do it will not help the
servant or the one who is served. But all other happiness
goes flat when you put it beside the happiness that comes
from freely choosing to serve others.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 25

1. True or false: Atthistimein his life, Gandhibelieved
that control by Britain was, for the most part, good for the
people thatthey were over.

2. When Gandhi arrived back in India, what special day
were people all over India preparing for?

3. What were the lines from the holy song of Britain that
Gandbhilater believed were against the true spirit of ahimsa?

4. Where did Gandhi want to hold his first open meeting
to educate people about problems in South Africa?

5. Who agreed to call an open meeting for Gandhi in
Mumbai?

5. Besides his love for the truth, what was Gandhi's other
deep love?
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26. The Mumbai Meeting

On the day after my sister's husband died, | had to go to
Mumbai for the meeting. | had not been able to think about
whatto say, much less write it out. | was very tired after days
and nights of nursing, and even my voice was rough. But |
went to Mumbai believing that God would help me.

As Sir Pherozeshah had asked me to do, | went to his office
at5 p.m. onthe day before the meeting.

"Isyourtalk ready, Gandhi?" he asked.

"No sir," | said, shaking with fear. "l think | will just have to
make up the words as | go along."

"That willnotdo in Mumbai," he said. "Newspaper report-
ingis very bad here. If you wantto come across well, you must
write out what you plan to say. | will have it printed by to-
morrow morning to give to the newspapers. Canyoudo that?"

I was not very sure of myself, but | said that | would try.

"Then tell me when we should come for the finished talk."

"Ateleven tonight," | said.

At the meeting the next day | could see how right Sir
Pherozeshah had been. Itwasin avery big building. It was
the first time | had talked to so many people. My voice was
not loud enough to reach more than just a few of the people.
| was shaking as | started to read. Sir Pherozeshah tried to
encourage me by asking me to talk more loudly, and then still
more loudly. | have afeeling that, far from encouraging me,
itmade my voice go lower and lower.

Atlast | gave my papersto afriend who had a strong voice,
butthe people would notlisten to him. They started shouting
"Wacha!" "Wacha!" So Mr. Wacha stood up to read my talk,
with very good effect. The people became perfectly quiet,
and listened to the end, stopping him at times to show their
agreement with what was said. This made me feel very good.
Sir Pherozeshabh liked the talk too, and this made my happi-
ness perfect.
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The meeting moved two important lawyers to say they
would go to South Africa with me when I returned. And ata
later time, another lawyer said he would go with me to help.
But none of these men ever came with me.

Iraninto afriend in Mumbaithat | had metin a vegetarian
restaurant in London years before. He was working on a
dictionary in Gujarati. | did with him as | did with all of my
friends, asking him to come and help me in South Africa. He
not only said that he would not come, but he tried to talk me
out of going myself.

"I cannot help you," he said. "But I must say that | do not
even like you going to South Africa. Isn'tthere enough work
todo hereinyourown country? | am doing what | can for our
language. But this is only one branch of the work that is
needed here. | know that there are problemsin South Africa,
but a man like yourself is needed here. If we can win self-
government for ourselves here, we will, by doing that, help
our people there as well. I know you will not change your plan,
but I must tell you that | will not encourage anyone with your
abilities to throw in his lot with you."

| did not like what he was saying, but it made me think more
highly of the man. | could see how much he loved our country
and our language. What he said brought us closer to each
other. I could understand what he was saying, but far from
giving up my work in South Africa, | became strongerin my
plans. One who loves his country cannot forget any part of
the work that may help his country. For me, the teaching of
the Gita was clear and strong:

"Itis betterto do your own job as well as you can, even if
you are not able to win, than to take jobs that are not your own,
evenifthey seemtobe good. If you die doing your job, there
is nothing wrong with it. But when you look for other roads,
you will finish up lost."
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QUESTIONS ON PART 26

1. Why did Gandhi not have his talk prepared for the big
meeting in Mumbai?

2. Whatreason did Sir Pherozeshah give for Gandhineeding
to put his talk in writing?

3. How did it help Gandhito have his talk written out, when
he wentto give it?

4. True or false: Fromthe meeting in Mumbai, Gandhi was
able to gettwo important lawyers to come to South Africa with
him.

5. What reason did a friend of his give Gandhi for not
returning to South Africa?
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27. Poona and Chennai

Sir Pherozeshah had made my way easy. From Mumbai |
went to Poona. The people there were separated into two
different groups. | wanted the help of both. I met Lokamanya
Tilak, the leader of one group, and he said, "You are right to
want help from all sides. There should be no difference in our
feeling onthe South Africa question. Butyou need a president
for your work here who is not on one side or the other. See
Doctor Bhandarkar. He has notbeen a part of any movement
for some time now. Butthis question could pull him out. See
him, and then come and tell me what he says."

Next | met Gokhale, the leader of the other group. He gave
me a warm welcome. It was our first meeting, but it seemed
like we were old friends. Sir Pherozeshah had been like a
mountain to me, Lokamanya Tilak like the ocean, and Gokhale
like the holy river. Most cannotreach the top of the mountain
or cross the ocean, but we all can wash in the river.

Gokhale looked me over like a school teacher studying a
student who wanted to come to his school. He told me which
people | neededto talk to about the meeting and what | needed
to say tothem. He asked to have alook at my planned talk, and
asked me toreturn and tell him what Doctor Bhandarkar had
tosay. He sent me away very happy. In all my future political
actions, Gokhale had a very special place.

Doctor Bhandarkar received me warmly, like a father. When
I said | wanted a man who was not on one side or the other, he
likedthatatonce. "That'sit! That'sit!" he said enthusiastically.

After hearing me out, he said, "Everyone knows that | do not
like to take partin political things. But | cannot say no to this
one. Yourargumentistoo strong and your work too good for
metoturnyoudown. Tell Tilak and Gokhale that | will be happy
to be president over a meeting that both of their groups agree
tocometo. They canchoose the time."



POONA AND CHENNAI 209

Without a big show, this little group of generous workers
came together for a simple meeting, and sent me away with
more confidence about my work in South Africa.

I nextwentto Chennai. It was wild with enthusiasm. What
we did for Balasundaram had a strong effect on the people who
came to our meeting there. My talk was printed out. For me,
itwas alongtalk, butthe people listened closely to every word.
At the close of the meeting there was a run on the Green
Leaflet. | had a second printing with me of ten thousand
leaflets. They sold very well, but | could see that | did not need
somany. There were not enough people in all of Chennai who
knew English for us to sell that many leaflets.

The greatest help in Chennai came from The Chennai
Standard newspaper. The Hindu also helped us, but The
Standard let us say anything we wanted to say; and | did.

The love that most of the friends I met there showed toward
me was so great that | felt very much at home in Chennai.
Because | did not know Tamil well enough, | was forced to talk
tothemin English, but even this wall did not stop love from
moving between us.

QUESTIONS ON PART 27
1. Who were the leaders of the two political groups in Poona?

2. What did Lokamanya say would be the best way for Gandhi
to win help from both political groups in Poona?

3. What had Gandhi done earlier that made the meeting go so
wellin Chennai?

4. What newspaper in Chennai did Gandhi think had helped
him the most?
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28. "Return Soon"

From Chennai, | went to Calcutta, where | had many
problems. 1did notknow anyone there. I metaman from The
Daily Telegraph. He asked me to come and see him at an
English hotel where he was staying. He did not know that
Indians could not go to the sitting room there, so when he
learned of this, he took me to hisroom. He was sad about the
English rule and asked me to forgive him for not being able to
talk to him in the sitting room.

| wentto see Surendranath Baneriji, the "Idol of Bengal".
When I met him, he had many friends around him. He said:

"I do not think people will take an interestin your work. As
you know, we have many problems here. Butyou justdo your
best. You will need the help of Indian leaders who work with
the English."

He named some men that he thought | should see, but they
were no help. They received me with a cold spirit and said
that if | wanted to have a big meeting in Calcutta, the only
person who could help me was Baner;ji.

My job in Calcutta was becoming more and more difficult.
| wentto some newspapers, butthey gave me something of
arunaround. | waited at one newspaper for an hour and then
when | started to tell my story, the top man said, "Don't you
see thatour hands are full? Thereis no end to the number of
people we have coming here and asking for help. You should
leave. | do not have time to listen to you."

| started to feel angry; butthen | could see that there really
were many visitors who came there asking for help. And most
ofthem knew the man. There | was, a stranger, talking about
aproblemin South Africa that he knew nothing of.

Each person feels his story is serious and important; but for
anewspaper, there are many stories and the paper cannot
write them all. Often people believe the newspaper has more
power thanit has; butthose who work there know better.
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I did not give up. | wentto other newspapers. | wentto the
English-Indian papers too. The Statesman and The
Englishman could see that my story was important. | had long
interviews with them, and they printed them in full. The top
man at The Englishman did all he could to help me. He even
let me see what he had written before he printedit, so | could
make changes if | liked. We became good friends. He
promisedto helpin any way he could, and he carried out his
promise to the letter. We wrote to each other untilhe became
too sick to write.

In my life | have found many such friends almost by
accident. What this man liked in me was that | did not bend
the truth to make my argument look better. He asked many
difficult questions before he would help me out, and he could
see in my answers that | had afeeling for the arguments of the
Whites in South Africa as well as for my own arguments.

I have learned that we will win whatis right for ourselves
most quickly when we will take pains to do whatis right for
those who disagree with us.

Fromthe help | was getting from The Englishman, | started
to think that we could hold a big meeting in Calcutta too. But
then lreceived atelegram from Durban: "The Government
meetsinJanuary. Returnsoon."

| sent a letter to the newspapersin Calcutta saying that |
hadto leave early, and | left for Mumbai. Before leaving, | sent
atelegram to Abdulla's company in Mumbai, asking them to
get me tickets on the first boat to South Africa. Abdulla had
justbought a ship and he said that | and my family could travel
onitforfree. Ithanked him, andin early December, | headed
a second time for South Africa. But this time my wife, my two
sons, and my sister's only son were with me. Another ship
sailed for Durban atthe same time. It was Abdulla's company
that sold tickets for that ship too. There were about eight
hundred people travelling on the two ships, and we were all
headed for South Africa.
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QUESTIONS ON PART 28

1. Gandhiwas not able to get help from the man who could
do the most for him in Calcutta. Who was the man?

2. Gandhi became close friends with the top man at what
newspaper?

3. What did the man from The Englishman like most about
Gandhi?

4. Fill in the missing word: "We will win what is right for
ourselves most quickly when we will take pains to do whatis
right for those who _ ___withus."

5. Whatdid Gandhireceive that put an end to his plans for a
meeting in Calcutta?

Read
"My Experiments With
Truth" Part I

(also in Easy English)
for the second half
of this interesting story.




Below are some words that you will
needto know to read this book:

adultery (n) mating between people
who are not married to each other.
age (n) how old a person orthingis.
ago (adv) inthe past.

ahead (adv) forward.

ahimsa (n) Hindu, Jain, and
Buddhistteaching against hurting
others.

airs (putting on) acting smarter or
more importantthan you are.
alone (adj; adv) with no others.
along (adv; prep) with; beside.
already (adv) before this or that
time; early.

also (adv) too.

anyway (adv) not changing
because of a reason you were
giving that could make a change.
Arab (n) person from Arabia;
Muslim.

Arabic (n) language of the Muslim
holy book.

arrive (v) come to the place where
you were going.

arrow (n) stick weapon with a point
atoneend.

ate (v) did eat.

bandage (n) piece of cloth that you
putaround asore.

Banerji, Sir Surendranath (1848-
1925) Owner of anewspaper, who
started Ripon College in Calcutta,
and was two times president of the
Indian National Congress.
baptism (n) being covered.

bean (n) seed people use for food;
long, thin, green vegetable.

beard (n) hair on the bottom of the
face.

became (v) did become.
bedroom (n) roomwhere a person
sleeps.

beggar (n) person who asks
strongly many times for food or
money.

belief (n) thing you believe.
Bengali (n) language of Bengal, in
eastIndia.

Besant, Annie (1847-1933) Friend
of Charles Bradlaugh, who became
the world leader of atheosophist
groupin Chennai, India, and helped
fightfor Indiato be free from Britain.
besides (adv) added to that.
Bhagavad Gita (n) "Song of the
Holy One", a Hindu holy book.
Bible (n) Christian holy book.
Blacks (n) people with dark skin.
blanket (n) thick cloth to keep a
personwarmin abed.

bleed (v) lose blood from a cut.
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bless (v) make happy; ask God to
help.

blind (adj) not able to see.

blow (v) move or push with wind or
breathing.

boil (v) cookin hot water; change
liquid to gas with heat.

borrow (v) use a thing for a time,
thatis notyours.

bought (v) did buy.

Bradlaugh, Charles (1833-1891)
Free-thinker, who argued against
God and religionin Britain.

brave (adj) confident and strong;
not afraid of pain.

breakfast (n) first meal in the
morning.

break-through (n) important step
that makes what you are trying to
do easier.
brought (v)
did bring.
bucket (n)
round contain-
erforcarrying
water.
Buddha (n)
name for the man who started the
Buddhist religion.

built (v; adj) did build; made.
cabin (n) smallrough house;room
on aship.

call (v; n) shout for a person to
come;use atelephonetotalktoa
person; visit; talking on atelephone.
came (v) did come.

camel (n) animal like a horse, with
athick projection onits back.

Cambridge (n) very old university
in Britain.

captain (n) leader in the army or
on aship.

Cardinal (n) one of seventy top
leaders in the Roman Catholic
Church.

Carlyle, Thomas (1795-1881)
Writer from Britain.

caste (n) one of many Hindu groups
that an Indianis borninto.
century (n) one hundred years.
channel (n; v) line that water or
other things travel in; make a
channelforthingsto move through.
cheat (v) hide the truth to get a
thing you want.

cheek (n) side of the face.
chocolate (n) brown sweet solid
ordrink.

choice (n) whatyou choose.
chose (v) did choose.

cigarette (n) stick of leaves with
paper aroundit, that people smoke.
city (n) big town.

class (n) groupinalistof groups,
with some groups being better or
higherthan others.

coach (n) vehicle that carries many
people; carinatrain;bus.
comfortable (adj) with no pain or
other difficult quality.

complete (v; adj) finish; whole.
confession (n) saying that you
were doing abad action.
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confuse (v) make a person not
able tounderstand.

Congress (n) meeting of people
who make rules for others; Indian
political group, startedin 1885.
continue (v) (of aperson or thing
thatis doing an action) go on doing
an action without stopping.

coolie (n) person from Asiawho is
broughtto another country to work
cheaply.

counter (n) cabinet between the
person working in a shop and the
people who buy from the shop.
curtain (n) cloth that hangs in
front of a window or other thing, to
coverit.

daily (adv) happening each day.
death (n) time or act of dying;
beingdead.

decide (v) choose, oftentodo an
action.

desert (n) very big piece of land
with no water or trees.
desire (v; n) want
strongly; thing you want
strongly.

desk (n) table you use
when writing.

dhal (n) cooked dish of
small seeds.

dhoti (n) cloth a man
wears around his stom-
ach andlegsin India.
diamond (n) very hard expensive
stone, that you can see through.
dictionary (n) book that lists the
wordsinalanguage.

dinner (n) biggest meal of the day.

disciple (n) person who listens to
and follows ateacher.

done (adj; v) finished; was doing.
dream (n;v) story or pictures you
see in your brain when sleeping;
see astory or picturesinyour brain
when sleeping.

easy-going (adj) not easily worried
or made angry by problems or by
the actions of other people.
educate (v) teach,
ofteninaschool.
education (n) learning,
often from a school.
Eiffel Tower (n) very
tall iron tower built in
Parisin 1889.

either (adj; pro) each
oftwo; one or the other of two.
else (adv) more;if not.
embarrass (v) make aperson feel
like they want to hide from others
because of what others will think.
enemy (n) person who hates or
competes againstyou.

engaged (adj) (of a woman and
man) planning to marry each other.
enthusiastically (adv) with
enthusiasm.

eternal (adj) withno end.

even (adv) showing a stronger
thing; too.

ever (adv) at any time.
everywhere (adv) in every place.
evil (adj; n) very bad; very bad or
dangerous thing, often against God.
experiment (n; v) test or other
actionyoudotolearn; do athingto
learn.
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expert (n) person who knows very
much about one thing.
eye-opener (n) surprising thing that
youlearn from.

face (n;v) front of the head; point
the fronttoward.

faint (v; adj) collapse to sleep,
often from being sick; feeling that
you will collapse to sleep; weak.
faith (n) believing athing; religion;
church.

farm (v) work on land to grow plants
oranimals.

fast (v) go without eating foratime.
felt (v) did feel.

footpath (n) place, often beside a
road, where people walk.

forever (adv) for all time.

forget (v) notremember.
forgiveness (n) forgiving.

fork (n) eating tool with points oniit.
found (v) did find.

free (v) take (a person) out of
prison, or from another thing that
was controlling them.

French (n) language of France.
fun (n) thing you do becauseiitis
interesting, and not because you
are serious aboutiit.

make fun of laugh at.

funny (adj) making people laugh.
gave (v) did give.

geometry (n) study of shapes and
sizes, and number rules aboutthem.
Gita (see Bhagavad Gita)

glad (adj) happy.

go-between (n) person who takes
words from one personto another,
oftentryingto bring the two people
together.

God-fearing (adj) serious about
obeying God.

Gokhale, Gopal Krishna (1866-
1915) A teacher in Poona, and
head of aMarathinewspaperthere,
who pushed forfree education and
help to the poor.

goodbye (interj) friendly word to
say when leaving a person.
government (n) leaders of a
country;rules for leading.

grace (n) forgiving love.

great (adj) very good; bigin size or
number;important.

grew (v) did grow.

guilt (n) feeling bad or wrong; being
bad orwrong.

guilty (adj) bad or wrong.
Guijarati (n) language of north west
India.

Haji (n) name for a Muslim who
has been to the holy city of Islam.
hand (v) give with the hand.
head (v) go.

heal (v) fix a sickness or sore.
health (n) how healthy apersonis.
heard (v) did hear.

heart (n) organ that pushes blood
through the body; thinking and
feelings of aperson.

big hearted generous.

(my) heart dropped (I) became
afraid.
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lose heart feel like stopping.
open hearted loving.
wholehearted with enthusiasm.
heaven (n) place where God
lives;the sky.

hello (interj) friendly word to say
when you see a person.

Hindi (n) state language of India.
Hindustani (n) important
language in North India.

holy (adj) from, or for, God;
perfectin spiritual things.
home (n) place where you live.
honest (adj) not hiding the truth.
honesty (n) not hiding the truth.
hope (n; v) believing or wanting
to receive a good thing in the
future; thing you want in the
future; believe or want a good
thing in the future.

hot-blooded (adj) easily showing
angerorlove.

hotel (n) building where people
stop to sleep when they are
travelling.

hunger (n; v) feeling that you
need food or some other thing;
feel that you need food or some
other thing.

hungry (adj) wanting and
needing food or some other thing.
idol (n) thing you love like a god.
impossible (adj) that cannot
happen atany time.

in-fighting (n) arguing between
people inthe same group.
insides (n) all that is inside a
place or thing.

instead (adv) in the place of
another.

interview (v; n) ask a person
questions about himself or herself;
this action.

invisible (adj) that you cannot see.
Irving, Washington (1783-1859)
American writer and lawyer.

Jain (n) personfrom an Indianreli-
gion with a strong beliefin ahimsa.
jam (n) food
from fruit
and sugar,
that people
often put
on bread.
jetty (n)
road pro-
jecting out
from the beach over water.
jewelry (n) pieces of metal and
stone that people wear.

joke (n; v) thing you do or say to
make people laugh; do or say a
thing to make people laugh.
jungle (n) land in a hot country,
with many trees and plants growing
closetogether.

just (adv) withno more.

kettle (n) covered metal container
with a handle on the top, for making
hot water.
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kindness (n) friendly, loving
action.

kingdom (n) country that a king
leads.

kitchen (n) room where
foodis cooked.

kneel (v) putyour knees
downon.

knew (v) did know.
knock (v) hita door with
your hand, to make a
sound for people on the
othersideto hear.
Koran (n) holy book of
the teachings of Islam.
ladder (n) tool with steps,
forgoing up to high places.
lamp (n)
container
with a
lightinit.
last (v) be,
or stay do-
ing fora
time.
Latin (n)
language from Europe in the past.
law (n) important rule.

lawyer (n) person who studies
rules for ajob.

leaflet (n) one of many printed
papers that you give to many
people.

lean (v) go overto one side from
the middle, or from being vertical.
least (n; adj; adv) smallest
thing; smallest; in the smallest
measure.

leather (n)
dry, strong
skin from
animals,
that people
use for cloth
orrope.

let (v) not
stop an
action from
happening,
that you
could stop
from happening.

loaf (n) bread you cook in one
whole piece.

Lokamanya (seeTilak)

Lord (n) God.

lost (v; adj) did lose; (of a person)
not knowing how to getto where
you want to go; (of a thing) in a
place where you cannotfindit.
lot (n) many things or much of;
group of things.

lunch (n) mealin the middle of the
day.

Luther, Martin (1483-1546)
Leader of the movement to break
away from the Catholic Church.
magic (n) actionthat uses secret
spiritual strength
to do things that
others cannotdo.
magnet (n) piece
of metal with a
special ability to
pull other metals
towardit.
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Mahatma (n) name for a very
spiritual person who thinks of God
atalltimes, and who is spiritually
free fromallthatis bad.

manager (n) person who controls
abusiness.

Marathi (n) language of Mumbai,
inwest India.

Mary (n) the mother of Jesus.
master (n) teacher; person who
has people working for him.
Matthew (n) one of four books of
the Bible that tells the story of Jesus.
may (v) (of an action) can happen,
when you do not know if it will.
maybe (adv) that easily can hap-
pen (butyou cannot say thatit will).
meal (n) food that you eat at a
specialtime inthe day.

mean (v) want people to
understand.

meaning (n) whatyou want people
to understand from aword or action.
Mehta, Sir Pherozeshah (1845-
1915) "Father of city government
inMumbai". He started the English
language newspaper, the Mumbai
Chronicle and was president of the
Indian National Congressin 1890.
member (n) personinagroup.
met (v) did meet.

Methodist (n) person froma church
that started with strong rules about
things like not drinking and not
smoking.

might (v) (of an action) could
happen, when you did not know if
itwould.

mile (n) measure of distance (about
as far as you can walk in 15
minutes).

mind (n; v) brain; thinking; protect;
control; obey; notlike; think about.
mine (adj) that | own.

minister (n) leaderin a church or
in a country; person who helps.
miracle (n) very difficult thing, that
needs God to make it happen.
mirror (n) flat glass that shows
pictures of things that are nearit.
Miss (n) name for a girlor woman
whois not married.

miss (v) not hit, catch, meet, find,
orsee athingyou were trying to hit,
catch, meet, find, or see; want to
be with a person orthing you were
within the past.

mission (n) important job to finish;
place or group for Christian
workers.

missionary (n) person who goesto
another countrytotellabout Jesus.
Muhammad (c570-632)) Man who
started the religion of Islam.
mung (n) seed that people eatin
some countries.

natural (adj) happening without
people making ithappen; made by
God and not by people.

necklace (n) string of stones or
otherthings that you wear around
your neck.
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neighbour (n) person living near
you.

never (adv) at no time.

news (n) story or stories about
things that have happened avery
shorttime in the past.

next (adj; adv) closestto;firstafter.
nice (adj) friendly; easy to like.
ninety (adj) 90.

none (pro) notany.

Notre Dame (n) very big old church
in Paris.
nurse (v; n)
help a per-
sonwho is
sick; person
who helps
sick people.
office (n)
room where
people work
with papers;job of aleader.
officer (n) policeman; leaderin a
group, army, town, or country;
government worker who does
important work with papers.
official (n) leader in a town or
country.

once (adv;conj; n) forone time; at
atimeinthe past; after; one time.
only (adj;adv) being allthatisina
group; being not much, and with
nothing more; for no other person.
outing (n) short, happy time of
travellingto a place and returning.
outcaste (n) person in India who
has been forced out of his family

group.

outsides (n) part that is on the
outside of athing or place.
over-sized (adj) bigger than what
itshould be.

owe (v) need to give money or
anotherthing forwhatyou received
inthe past.

own (v; adj) have as yours; of that
person.

ox-cart (n) heavy timber vehicle
that a male cow pulls.

Oxford (n) very old university in
Britian.

paid (v) did pay.

pan (n) metal container.

pandit (n) name for a smart person,
often one who understands much
about Hindu laws.

part-time (adj) (of a job or other
action) not for the whole time that
most people would use for it.
party (n) happy time with friends,
often with food and music.

pass (v) move across, by, in front
of, orthrough; give enough right
answersinatest; (ofalaw) become
alaw by agreement of the leaders
of agroup orcountry.

pasta (n) food made from wheat
paste, that people often eat with
tomatoes and meat.
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peace (n) time without fighting or
noise; friendly spirit between
people.

pearl (n) smooth,

round white stone

from inside an

ocean shellfish.

Persian (n) person from a country
near Arabia.

philosopher (n) person who thinks
deeply, trying to find the truth.

piano (n)
musical instrument with hammers
that hit strings in a big box.

pipe (n) tube that water or other
liquid travels through.

please (v; interj) make a person
happy; humble word to ask for a
thing.

Plymouth Brothers (n) Christian
group that started in the 1830's
with strong teachings about Jesus
returning to earth.

p.m.lettersto show thatthe timeis
afterthe middle of the day.

pocket (n) smallbag thatis part of
some clothes.

poet (n) person who writes words
that show strong emotion and often
rhyme.

poison (n;v) chemical that makes
you sick or kills you if you eat or
drink it; dangerous teaching; kill by
giving adangerous chemical to.
political (adj) about leading
countries, and about arguments
between people who are trying to
lead the country.

porridge (n) soft food from flat
grainthatyou cookin water or milk.
possible (adj) that could be or
happen.

potato (n) round root of a plant,
that many people eat.

power (n) strength; ability; being a
leaderover.

powerful (adj) strong.

praise (v; n) say good things about;
good sayings about.

prayer (n) words you use to pray.
preach (v) teach important things
about God; talk loudly, thinking you
arerightand others are wrong.
prepare (v) cook or make a thing,
touseitinthe future;do an action
that will help you to better do a
future action.

president (n) leader of acompany,
group, school, or country.

priest (n) leaderinareligion.
prince (n) male in the family of a
king; king of a small country;
husband ofaqueen.
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progress (n) forward movement.
promise (v; n) say clearly and
strongly that you will do a thing;
saying that says clearly and
strongly that you will do a thing.
prophet (n) person who says words
from God.

prostitute (n) person who mates
formoney.

Protestants (n) churches that
separated fromthe Roman Catholic
Church.

prove (v) show clearly how a thing
must be true.

Pythagoras (c 580Bc-500BC)
Philosopherfrom Greece.
Queen Victoria (1819-1901)
Queen of Great Britain from 1837-
1901, and Queen of India from
1876-1901.

Ramayana (n) the shorter of two
greatpoems of India. Ithasbeen
writtenin many languages, andis
also acted outin other countries of
Asia, often with dancing and music.
ran (v) did run.

rat (n) animal like a big mouse.
reach (v) move outtotouch ortalk
to; go asfaras.

ready (adj) with all parts right for
doing or using now.

reason (n; v) what makes you
choose to do a thing; ability to think
well; softly argue with; try to
understand.

record (n) writing; paper or other
thing that keeps words, sounds, or
numbers for you to see or hear
later.

relative (n) person from the same
family.

report (v; n) write or tell about;
telling about; things thattells about.
reward (n;v) award; give an award.
rip (v) cutor pull a piece of paper or
other material apart.

Roman (adj; n) of Rome or ltaly;
person from Rome or ltaly.

rupee (n) measure of money in
India and some other countries.
Ruskin, John (1819-1900) Writer
and artist from Britain.

Samaritan (n) follower of areligion
in Israel that was hated by the
Jews atthe time of Christ.

sami (n) master.

Sanskrit (n) very old language of
the holy books of India.

sat (v) did sit.

satyagraha(n) name for Gandhi's
way of changing a country through
love, and by not following a rule,
butdoing it without hurting anyone.
save (v) keep away from danger;
keep for the future; stop a thing
from becoming bad.

saw (v) did see.

scarf (n) piece of cloth you wear
aroundyour neck or head.
science (n) understanding how
things work and happen; serious
study of a special thing that you
canmeasure.

scientist (n) person who studies
much to learn how things work or
happen.
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second (n) short measure of time
(aboutaslong asittakesto say two
words).

seem (v) look or feel like itis true.
seen (v) been seeing.

self (n) the special feelings and
interests of aperson, tothat same
person.

self-government (n) control by the
people of a country over them-
selves, without another country
controllingthem.

selfish (adj) loving yourself more
than other people.

send-off (n) special happy time
with a person before that person
leaves a place.

sent (v) did send; that a person
was sending.

servant (n) person who works for
you, often doing workin your house.
serve (v) work for; help; give food
orotherthingsto.

seventy (adj) 70.

sex (n) being male or female; think-
ing and actions about mating;
mating.

shoulder (n) part of the
body between the arm
andthe neck.
shovel (n) tool
fordigging.

show (v)
use actions
to say athing;
help people to see
orunderstand athing.
shown (v) had been
showing.

sign (n) words or pictures for many
people to read or see; board that
words or pictures are on for all to
see; actions that shows a truth;
action that shows a person has
strength from God.

simple (adj) easy to understand or
do; not smart; not beautiful or
expensive.

sin (n;v) bad action; disobey arule
from God.

sincere (adj) wanting to know the
truth and do the right thing.

sir (n) name for a male teacher,
leader, orimportant person.
slave (n) person that another
person owns.

so (adv; adj; conj) in the way you
were saying; as; very; too; because
ofthis; after that.

so-called (adj) having a name that
isnotatrue name.

sold (v) did sell.

somewhere (adj) in or to some
place.

soon (adv) in a shorttime from now.
soul (n) spiritual or thinking part of
apersonoranimal; person.

soup (n) hotliquid food.

spell (v) say or write the letters of
aword.

spend (v) use (money or time).
spinach (n) vegetable from the
big, dark green leaves
ofaplant.

stamp (n) small piece
of paper you stick on
aletterbeforeyoucan
sendit.
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standard (n) measure thatyou try
tobe equalto.

state (n) country; big part of a
country, with one group of leaders.
statesman (n) leader of a country,
who plans well for the good of the
people and for the future of the
country.

station (n) stopping place for trains
orbuses.

statue (n) art shape, often of a
person.

still (adv) without changing or
stopping.

stood (v) was standing.

storm (n;v) strong wind, rain, snow,
or lightning; move quickly, with
much anger or noise.

see primus art

stove (n) instrument for making
heat, to cook food.

strange (adj) very different from
most other things; that you cannot
understand.

stranger (n) person you do not
know.

studies (n) things that you were
studying.

such (adj) of this way, quality, or
measure; this big; this much.

sugar-cane (n) very tall grass that
people make sugar from.

suit (n) pieces of clothes that you
weartogether.

suitcase (n)
container
with ahandle,
thatyoucarry
clothesin.

sure (adj; adv) confident; that will
clearly happen; strongly.

swami (n) religious or holy manin
India.

sweets (n) sweetfood that you eat
afterameal;lollies.

Tagore, Rabindranath(1861-
1941) Bengalipoet who did much
to bring East and West together
through his writings.

taken (v) had been taking.

Tamil (n) language from South
India, that people use in many parts
of Asiaandinislands inthe Pacific
and Indian Oceans.
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taught (v) did teach.

tax (n;v) money thatyou must pay
to the leaders of a country; make
people pay this money to leaders
of atown or country.

taxi (n) car or small vehicle pulled
by horses that carries people to
places formoney.

tears (n) water fromthe eyes when
apersoniscrying.

telegram (n) words you send over
along distance by electricity.
telegraph (n) way of sending words
by electricity.

term (n) word; time of studyingina
schoolyear.

test (n) questions or actions to find
how good a person orthing is; ask
questions or do actions to find how
good aperson or thingis.

thank (n) tella personthatyou are
happy for akind or good action.
theosophy (n) religion that takes
truth from many religions, with
strong teachings about miracles,
about finding God through prayer,
and secret meanings in holy
writings.

thick-headed (adj) stupid.

third (adj) first after two others.
thought (v; n) did think; thinking;
what you think.

thread (n) very thin string.

ticket (n) small piece of paper to
show thatyou did paytogoin, use,
ortravel on athing; paper showing
your ability to do a special job.

Tilak,Bal Gangadhar (1856-1920)
Called Lokamanya ("lovedleader")
after going to prison in 1897
because he argued for the Indian
peopleto be free from Britain. First
personto encourage Indians notto
buy things from Britain to show
they disagreed with Britain
controlling India. Gandhi called
him "the father of present-day India"
when he died in 1920.
today (n; adv) this day;onthis day;
now, and notin the far past.
toilet (n) room with a hole in the
floorthatdung and liquids from the
body can gointo.

told (v) did tell.

Tolstoy, Leo (1828-1910) Writer
from Russia who believed strongly
in the teachings of Jesus in his
later years. He is believed to be
one of the greatest writers of all
time.

tomorrow (n; adv) the day after
this day; onthe day after this day.
tonight (n; adv) this night; on this
night.

took (v) did take.

tower (n) tall building; tall projecting
part of a building. (see Eiffel)
tram (n) train car that travels on
roads.

trouble (n) thing making you angry,
sad, sore or worried; worry,
sadness or pain; angry or loud
happenings.

trouble-maker (n) person who
encourages arguments between
people.
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turban (n) long
cloth to make a
hat; hat shaped
like this.
uncle (n) brother
of your mother or
father; husband
of your mother or father's sister;
male adult to a child.
understood (v) did understand.
uneducated (adj) not having
beento school.
university (n) school for adults,
where they can learn to be
doctors, teachers, orto do other
jobs that need much learning.
until (prep; conj) up to the time
of.

vegetarian (n; adj) person who
eats no meat: (of food) made
from vegetables.

Victoria (see Queen Victoria)

violin (n) instrument with four
stings that you pull other strings
across.

visit (v; n) go to see a person or
place, often to stay there for a
time; this action.

visitor (n) person or animal that
comesto see aperson or place,
often to stay there for a short
time.

vote (v;n) choose aleader, with
each person counting as one
mark for the person that he or
she chooses; choosing.

waiter (n) man who takes food or
drinks to people sitting attbles in
arestaurant.

wake (v) stop sleeping; make a
person stop sleeping.

Walesa, Lech (1943-) Leader of
workers against communist
control of Poland, who was the
leader of the country after the fall
of communism.

waste (v) use too much; use
without having a good reason to
use it.

wave (n) high part between low
parts on top of moving water.
wedding (n) special time when
two people marry.

weight (n) how heavy a thingis;
heavy thing.

welcome (interj; n; v; adj) word
to say that you are happy when
you meet a person; happy
receiving; receive with
happiness;that you are happy to
receive.

went (v) did go.

Western (adj) of the rich
countries of the world, like
America and Britain.
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which (adj; pro) of what quality;
word asking you to choose; that;
who; what person or thing; what
people or things.

while (conj; n) atthe same time;
shorttime.

whistle (n; v) loud, high sound
from pushing air through a small
hole; tool or toy made to give a
high, loud sound when you
breathe into it; make this sound.
Whites (n) people with light-
coloured skin.

whose (adj) who owns; of what
person.

why (adv) for what reason; for
that reason.

widow (n) woman with no
husband, because her husband
isdead.

willing (adj) happy to agree to or
do athing.

winter (n) coldest time of the
year.

worm (n) thing, often digging,
animal withno bones and no legs.

worship (n; v) actions showing
that you love and want to obey
God; show youwant to love and
obey God;love a person or thing
likeitis God.

worth (adj; n) equal to (often in
money); good enough for; how
good athingis; measure of money
thatis equal toa thing.

written (v) had been writing.
wrong (adj; n;v) bad or notright;
actionthatis bad or notright; do
abad orwrong actionto a person.
wrote (v) did write.

yard (n) piece of land with afence
around it, often around a house.
yet (adv; conj) up to now, or to
that time; in adding; but at the
same time.

yoga (n) Hindu exercises and
teaching to control yourself and
to become one with God.
Zoroastrian (adj) of the religion
that was in some of the countries
between India and Israel before
Muhammad started Islam.
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Southeast Africa

Gandhi's trip from
Durban to Pretoria
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You can show more than one of a thing by adding
s. Ifitendsinx, s, sh, or ch, you must add es:
dogs, foxes, buses, dishes, churches

If one person, animal, or thing is doing the action,
you add s or esto the action word.
digs, fixes, crosses, washes, teaches

When the word ends iny, change the y to i first.
But if there is a vowel (a, e, i, 0, or u) before the Yy,
you do not need to change they.

babies, boys, monkeys, cries, buys, pays

You can show more of some qualities by adding
er, and you can show the most of some qualities by
adding est. For some words you first add another
letter like the last letter of the word you started with.
If the last letterisy change ittoibefore adding the
ending. If the last letteris e do not add anothere.

hard, harder, hardest
big, bigger, biggest
easy, easier, easiest
early, earlier, earliest
blue, bluer, bluest

You can change some actions to make them name
the person or thing thatis doing the action by addinger.
worker, leader, robber, Kkiller, runner, owner

You can change some qualities of things to quali-
ties of actions by adding ly. Ifthe word endsiny, you
changeittoibefore adding the ending.

sadly, easily, angrily, slowly, cruelly



LOOK AT SOME OF OUR OTHER BOOKS

All of these books use the same basic word list,
adding 50-100 new words with each title. All butone
of these books have a small dictionary at the back.
The dictionary includes all new words used in that
book plus many other words from the basic word list.

The King's New Clothes 250 words
The Ugly Little Duck 350 words
Book of Good Sayings 500 words
Storiesthat Teach 600 words
Jungle Book 700 words
Invisible Man 750 words
Robinson Crusoe 800 words
Tom Sawyer 900 words
A Christmas Story 950 words
Walk of Faith 1000 words
Uncle Tom's Cabin 1050 words
Tolstoy's Confession 1100 words

My Experiments with Truth, Pt.1 1150 words
Julius Caesar 1200 words



Chris, you might like to stick another ad in here,
perhaps for the dictionary, with an order form that
people cansendinifthey wantacopy. It'suptoyou,
however. I don't mind if we just leave a blank page
forachange.

Dave



Back cover blurb

The Way to be Great

Here, in his own words, Mohandas Gandhi
tells about his life as a child, a student, a lawyer,
and as a leader of his people.

He does not come across as being very spe-
cial in many of the ways that most people think
of when they talk about a "great" person.

But what readers do see is that from the
earliest part of his life, telling the truth and doing
what he believed was right were very important
to Gandhi. As he grew older, when most people
were learning to cheat on the truth, Gandhi,
instead, became even more honest and even
more serious about learning what was right and
what was wrong.

His wholelifewas onelong "experiment with
truth"”, and his story should encourage anyone
who is trying to do what is right today, in aworld
where truth and love and faith and honesty seem
to be losing the war against all that is evil.

Read his story, and let it change your life.



